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Quality and Equitable Healthcare for all

• Integrity
• Batho Pele principles 
• Impartiality 
• Decisiveness
•	 Efficiency

• Transformation oriented 
•	 Effectiveness
• Respect
• Accountability 
• Responsibility

MISSION

VISION

VALUES

To enhance the quality of health for all by developing 
strategic	policy	frameworks	for	effective	co-ordination	
and guidance of the professions through: 

• Setting healthcare standards for training and 
practise in the professions registered with the 
Council;

• Fostering compliance with standards;
•	 Ensuring	on-going	professional	competence;	and
• Protecting the public through engagement in 

matters involving the rendering of health services.
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT
Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
President, HPCSA

“This is my last year as President of the 
HPCSA; I would like to reflect back on 
the five years since my appointment on 
3 February 2011.”
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As this is my last year as President of the HPCSA; I would 
like	 to	 reflect	 on	 the	 past	 five	 years	 since	my	 appointment	
on 3 February 2011. My journey with the HPCSA has been 
challenging but above all rewarding as most of the goals that 
were set, were achieved.

This	has	been	a	busy	five	year	period;	to	enable	the	Council	
to	deliver	on	its	mandate.	Over	the	past	five	years	the	Council	
resolved to increase its meetings from two to four times a year.

 Section 10(1) (a) of the Health Professions Act, 1974 (Act No. 
56 of 1974) (“the Act”) empowers the Council to establish 
committees as it may deem necessary for its functioning. 
These committees have worked tirelessly to ensure that 
Council delivers on its mandate. The life span of each of these 
committees is linked to the lifespan of Council:

1. BUSINESS PRACTICES COMMITTEE

The objectives of the committee are to consider issues of 
employment of healthcare professionals; consider ownership 
of shares in private hospitals; consider business models and 
sharing of fees; consider perverse incentive issues in the 
health industry and also to interact both with external and 
internal stakeholders to ensure correct interpretation of the 
Council’s broader ethical rules and regulations.

During this period most of the applications received related to 
the employment of practitioners by private entities, followed 
by applications for ownership of shares, mobile practices and 
business models. A total of 198 applications were received 
over this period; averaging at 40 per year with highest being 
48 applications in 2013/14. 

In August 2011, the committee issued a media statement 
advising all corporate entities that have healthcare practitioners 
in their employ to regulate their businesses in compliance 
with the HPCSA’s ethical and regulatory framework. These 
entities were advised to enter into service level contracts with 
Health Practitioners as opposed to contracts of employment. 
This was followed by a further media release in 2014 to 
practitioners employed in private hospitals/clinics to provide 
emergency care, to ensure that their clinical duties are aligned 
to	 the	 specific	 protocols	 for	 which	 special	 permission	 for	
employment has been granted. 

Practitioners were also cautioned that handing over of their 
practice numbers for use by their employers constitutes 
unethical practice and that they are to cease from such 
practice. As already mentioned the Committee has met with 

various	stakeholders	to	discuss	issues	where	possible	conflicts	
with	our	ethical	rules	were	identified.

Like all structures, this committee has had challenges when 
enforcing the ethical rules and has been taken to the Courts. 
Council has defended most of these cases successfully.  

Practitioners are urged to maintain high standards of 
professionalism as legal action will be instituted against any 
registered practitioner who engages in Undesirable Business 
Practices	 with	 the	 particular	motive	 of	 placing	 profit	 before	
patient needs. The committee always hold the view that 
undesirable business practices by a practitioner can potentially 
result in a number of compromises in the delivery of quality 
healthcare to the public in general, ultimately leading to the 
disadvantage of persons in need of health care.

2. HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 

The Committee has an independent role, operating as an 
overseer and a maker of recommendations to Council for 
its	 consideration	 and	 final	 approval.	 The	 Committee	 has	
worked	hard	to	ensure	that	the	staff	at	HPCSA	is	renumerated	
appropriately. 

In 2012, the HPCSA embarked on an Organisational Design 
(OD) project; this was to ensure that the organisational 
structure aligned with the strategic plan of Council. 

In 2014, the recommendations and implementation of the OD 
for the various departments were approved by REMCO and 
Council.

3. THE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee performs its functions in accordance 
with the Companies Act, 61 of 1973 (and the Companies Act, 
71 of 2008). In line with King III the committee is chaired by an 
external member.

During its term, the Committee ensured that the Council’s 
financial	 statements	 were	 audited	 as	 recommended	 by	 the	
King Report on Corporate Governance.

SECTION 1
President’s report
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The	Audit	outcome	for	this	period	reflected	as	follows:

Financial year 
ended

Company Name Audit Outcome

31 March 2011 Gobodo Chartered 
Accountants Inc.

Un-Qualified

31 March 2012 Gobodo Chartered 
Accountants Inc.

Un-Qualified

31 March 2013 O.M.A. Chartered 
Accountants

Qualified	Audit	
Opinion

31 March 2014 O.M.A. Chartered 
Accountants

Un-Qualified

31 March 2015 O.M.A. Chartered 
Accountants

Un-Qualified

4. FINCOM

The	Committee	assists	Council	 to	 fulfil	 its	corporate	finance,	
governance,	 fiscal	 and	 oversight	 responsibilities.	 This	
committee derives its mandate from Section 13 (1) of the Act. 

During	 its	term	of	office	the	committee	has	reviewed	critical	
policies that relate to the functioning of Council namely: Supply 
Chain policy, Investment Policy and Travel and Subsistence 
Policy. These, if not managed properly can be cost drivers for 
the Council.

5. HUMAN RIGHTS, ETHICS AND PROFESSIONAL 

PRACTICE COMMITTEE.

This committee is constituted primarily to promote respect 
for human rights, ethical conduct, professional practice and 
respect for the rights of patients amongst health practitioners 
registered with Council. 

During its term, the Committee developed and reviewed the 
following documents:

• Core Curriculum for teaching Ethics, Human Rights and 
Health Law; 

• Telemedicine Guideline booklet was added to the list of 
Ethical guidelines;

• Booklet for Canvassing of patients has been discontinued;
•	 The	Committee	has	identified	the	need	to	regulate	stem	

as a challenge.

6. HEALTH COMMITTEE

In the year under review, there were 361 practitioners under 
the management of the Health Committee. There has been 
a steady increase in the number of reported new cases;  
56 in 2013/14 and 2014/15 the number increased to 68. 
A total number of 89 cases were discussed in 2014/2015. 
Many cases reported are related to alcohol abuse, physical 
problems, mental illness, substance abuse, drug abuse and 
misuse.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the outgoing 
Council and Board Members for their support and guidance 
during their tenure and ensuring that we continuously uphold 
the HPCSA mandate. I would also like to extend my heartfelt 
thanks	 to	 the	 staff	 of	 the	 HPCSA	 for	 their	 hard	 work	 and	
dedication.

Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
HPCSA President

SECTION 1
President’s report
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REGISTRAR’S REPORT
Dr.	Buyiswa	Mjamba-Matshoba
HPCSA Registrar and Chief Executive Officer

“My sincere appreciation to the 
President for his continued Leadership, 
and the outgoing Council for its 
guidance and support. 
To the management team and 
employees of the HPCSA, I extend my 
gratitude for your endless support.”

SECTION 2
Registrar’s report
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REGISTRAR’S REPORT

It is my pleasure and honour to present to you the 2014/2015 
Annual Report of the Health Professions Council of South 
Africa. The Council continues to uphold the HPCSA mandate 
of Protecting the Public and Guiding the Profession.

In the past year, Council continued with its programme of 
taking the HPCSA to the practitioners and also guiding the 
practitioners.  Roadshows were held in the following areas:

•  Cape Town where approximately 700 practitioners 
attended;

•     Port Elizabeth where approximately 400 practitioners   
attended;

• Tzaneen where 150 practitioners attended; and
• And Thohoyandou by 220 practitioners attended.

The purpose of the roadshows is for the practitioners to 
engage	 on	 a	 face-to-face	 basis	 for	 Council	 to	 ascertain	
challenges experienced by practitioners when dealing with 
Council and also to educate and update them on a number of 
pertinent issues such as:

• Improving the HPCSA’s service and accessibility;
• Education on the Health Committee; 
•  Legal processes and how to avoid litigation, ethical 

guidelines and latest rulings; and
• Continuing Professional Development. 

In	addition	to	these	roadshows;	the	office	of	the	ombudsman	
has	provided	accredited	ethics	presentations	to	the	different	
groups of health professionals registered with the Council and 
these were the focus areas:

• HPCSA Disciplinary Processes;
• Medical Negligence; and
•   Medical Ethics and the South African Law: Uneasy 

Bedfellows.
 
Our website remains an important online gateway for 
stakeholders; registered practitioners, healthcare students, 
international graduates, patients and the public. The website’s 
design and content architecture was reviewed and revamped 
during the reporting period, the new website is easy to 
navigate and is compatible with handheld devices.

The Professional Boards Newsletters which is available both 
electronic and in print remain the preferred communication 
medium from professional boards to practitioners. For easy 
access to all this information practitioners are urged to update 
their email and cellphone numbers with Council so as to 
facilitate electronic communication.  

Off-site	 registrations	 were	 conducted	 in	 various	 areas	 to	
ensure	that	all	newly	qualified	practitioners	were	registered	by	
the	first	of	January	before	starting	their	careers	and	a	total	of	
4031 practitioners were registered at the various universities 
in South Africa. This campaign also assists with reducing the 
traffic	flow	at	the	HPCSA	office.

This year, there was a decrease in the number of registered 
practitioners from 2013/2014. This was a result of 8,194 
practitioners who were suspended from the register due to the 
non-payment	of	 fees.	To	address	 this	HPCSA	has	embarked	
on	 off-site	 renewals	 for	 2015	 to	 encourage	 practitioners	 to	
register.

In the year under review, HPCSA appointed the Ombudsman 
on a permanent basis to deal with all minor cases through 
mediation.	The	office	has	been	very	busy	and	received	almost	
a quarter of the lodged complaints. A total of 635 matters 
were received of which 49% were resolved and 20% were 
referred for preliminary investigation and 31% are still under 
consideration.

In important ruling for HPCSA, the Competition Tribunal of 
South	Africa	recently	dismissed	a	self-referral	complaint	by	the	
CEO of Torga Optical against the HPCSA and its Professional 
Board for Optometry and Dispensing Opticians (ODO) over 
a long standing issue between the parties. The basis of the 
complaint was the Ethical Rules promulgated by the HPCSA 
under the Health Professions Act, as well as the Policy 
Document by one of its Committees the Undesirable Business 
Practices and the Board which restrict corporate investment 
and/or corporate ownership by lay persons. In short persons 
who are registered under HPA to practice optometry cannot 
work for an entity of which none of the directors, shareholders 
or partners are registered professionals.

This was a busy year for the Council as it was busy with the 
nomination	process	for	new	boards	who	will	take	office	from	1	
July	2015	to	30	June	2020

IN MEMORIAM

The	HPCSA	pays	tribute	to	Johannes	Ramashitja	and	Tebogo	
Teme who both passed away in 2014/2015.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere appreciation to the President, for his continued 
leadership and the outgoing Council for its guidance and 
support. To the management team and employees of HPCSA, 
I extend my gratitude for your endless support.

Dr Buyiswa Mjamba – Matshoba
HPCSA Registrar and CEO
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT  
AND RECORDS

Ms. Marthina Venter
Acting Senior Manager

“The Records Department strives to 
ensure an efficient, accurate and safe 
record-keeping of health professionals’ 
information on the database.”

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Continuing Professional Development and Records
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The focus of Continuing Professional Development (CPO) 
department is to audit health professionals with regard to 
their compliance with continuing professional development.  
Health Professionals should maintain and acquire new and 
updated levels of knowledge, skills and ethical attitudes, which 
will	be	of	measurable	benefit	in	professional	practice,	as	well	
as to enhance and promote professional integrity. The ultimate 
beneficiary	will	be	the	patient.

The Enterprise Resource Solution system is not functioning 
optimally	and	 this	makes	 it	difficult	 for	 the	CPD	Department	
to	 keep	 to	 bi-monthly	 audits.	 The	 main	 reasons	 for	 non-
compliance with CPD is due to portfolios not being submitted, 
non-compliance	 with	 the	 ethical	 component,	 practitioners	
not	practising	or	practising	 in	 rural	areas	where	 it	 is	difficult	
to attend CPD activities including failure to notify the Council 
of their change of addresses, as a result, the audit letters are 
returned to Council. 

The	 Records	 Department	 strives	 to	 ensure	 an	 efficient,	
accurate	 and	 safe	 record-keeping	 of	 health	 professionals’	
information on the database.

Approximately 9,000 audit letters were sent out to randomly 
selected practitioners which resulted in a high return of 
compliant portfolios; this demonstrated the practitioner’s 
dedication	 to	 keeping	up-to-date	with	 the	 latest	 technology.		
Action	 has	 been	 taken	 against	 non-compliant	 health	
professionals and their names were suspended from the 
register.		Audit	letters	were	followed-up	with	an	e-mail	and	an	

SMS to inform practitioners of the audit and this turned out to 
be an excellent way to communicate with practitioners as the 
feedback was a resounding success. Practitioners responded 
immediately and the Department received more than 20,000 
e-mails.	 It	 is	 noted	 that	 practitioners	 have	 a	 more	 positive	
attitude towards CPD.

A total of 22,674 change of addresses were captured by the 
records department. There is however a concern on the 
high volume of Return to Sender Documents which may be 
a result of the postal strike. There is also a steady increase 
of	verifications	received	from	the	Educational	Commission	for	
Foreign	Medical	Graduates	(ECFMG)	–	2,101	verifications	were	
captured	 and	 307	 notifications	 were	 received	 from	 Foreign	
Regulatory Authorities informing Council of disciplinary steps 
taken against health professionals who were found guilty of 
misconduct or restrictions imposed on their practices after a 
disciplinary hearing.    

There are only 42,000 Medical Practitioners (MP) hard copy 
files	 awaiting	 quality	 assurance	 before	 sending	 for	 offsite	
storing.	On	completion	of	 this	project	 all	 hard	 copy	files	will	
be electronically available for perusal and will be in line with 
Electronic Document Management. The quality assurance of all 
hard copy documents in the department will also be addressed 
and	 finalised,	 scanned	 and	 submitted	 for	 offsite	 storage.	 All	
health	professionals	will	have	a	complete	electronic	file	with	
Council that will be electronically updated as new information 
is received.

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Continuing Professional Development and Records
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REGISTRATIONS
Ms. Kgomotso Nkoane
Acting Senior Manager

“The division managed to register 
14,005 newly qualified health 
practitioners.”

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Registrations
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

To ensure maintenance of an accurate and reliable register.  

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The	division	managed	to	register	14,005	newly	qualified	health	practitioners	that	are	registered	in	terms	of	section	17	of	the	
Health Professions Act, 1974 (Act No. 56 of 1974 as amended), herewith referred to as the Act.  Amongst the 14,005 practitioners 
registered,	4,031	practitioners	were	registered	at	the	various	universities	in	South	Africa,	where	the	HPCSA	conducted	offsite	
registrations for the period 20 November to 19 December 2014. The HPCSA ensured that graduates are registered and ready 
to	commence	with	their	internship	and	community	service	at	various	public	institutions	without	delays.		The	virtual	offsite	offices	
were set at the following institutions:

• University of the Witwatersrand;
• Sefako Makgatho University;
• University of Limpopo;
• University of the Free State;
• University of the Western Cape;
• Stellenbosch University;
• University of Cape Town;
• Durban University of Technology;
•	 University	of	KwaZulu-Natal;
• Nelson Mandela Academic Hospital in Mthatha;
• Dora Nginza Hospital in Port Elizabeth.

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Registrations
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PROFESSIONAL 
BOARD

REGISTER NAME 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

DOH DENTAL ASSISTANCE 2,034 2,293 2,548 2,989 2,972 3,029

  ORAL HYGIENE 971 984 1 031 1 069 1 110 1 139

 
SUPPLEMANTARY DENTAL 
ASSISTANT

42 19 0 0 0 0

  DENTAL THERAPIST 469 496 525 567 605 617

DENTAL THERAPY AND ORAL HYGIENE TOTAL 3,516 3,792 4,104 4,625 4,687 4,785

DTB DIETETICS 2,075 2,240 2,392 2,575 2,781 2,946

  NUTRITIONIST 49 87 122 151 180 199

DIETETICS TOTAL 2,124 2,327 2,514 2,726 2,961 3,145

EHO FOOD INSPECTOR 11 11 11 11 11 11

  ENVIRONMENTAL 2,751 2,939 3,185 3,258 3,364 3,444

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
ASSISTANTS

0 0 59 61 60 63

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS TOTAL 2,762 2,950 3,255 3,330 3,435 3,518

EMB
AMBULANCE EMERGENCY 
ASSISTANT

6,508 6,934 7,536 7,992 8,507 8,882

  PARAMEDIC 1,316 1,396 1,490 1,573 1,598 1,593

  BASIC AMBULANCE ASSISTANT 45,511 49,771 51,800 53,946 55,617 56,951

  EMERGENCY CARE ASSISTANT 1 0 0 0 0 0

  EMERGENCY CARE PRACTITIONER 89 127 166 222 287 372

  EMERGENCY CARE TECHNICIAN 86 303 397 595 778 942

 
OPERATIONAL EMERGENCY CARE 
ORDERLY

543 547 531 548 548 536

EMERGENCY CARE PERSONNEL TOTAL 54,054 59,078 61,920 64,876 67,335 69,276

MDB ANAESTHETIC ASSISTANT 4 3 3 2 2 2

  BIOMEDICAL ENGINEER 1 1 1 2 2 2

  CLINICAL ASSOCIATE 8 15 88 215 361 474

  DENTIST 5,296 5,387 5,554 5,770 5,817 5,985

  GENETIC COUNSELLOR 22 21 22 22 26 28

GENETIC COUNSELLOR INTER 1 3 9 9 6 6

  HEALTH ASSISTANT 3 3 2 2 1 0

  MEDICAL INTERN 3,419 3,486 3,504 3,156 3,251 2,876

  CLINICAL BIOCHEMIST 16 14 13 12 12 11

  MEDICAL PRACTITIONER 37,599 37,333 38,310 39,618 40,796 41,775

  MEDICAL SCIENTIST 578 605 602 616 635 655

  MEDICAL SCIENTIST INTERN 58 114 136 130 150 161

THE TABLE BELOW OUTLINES THE GROWTH OF THE ACTIVE REGISTRATIONS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2010 

TO 31 MARCH 2015. 

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Registrations
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PROFESSIONAL 
BOARD

REGISTER NAME 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

  MEDICAL PHYSICIST 98 113 120 132 133 137

  MEDICAL PHYSICIST INTERN 7 15 9 8 21 18

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
SCIENTIST

4 4 4 4 3 3

MEDICAL AND DENTAL PROFESSIONS BOARD TOTAL 47,114 47,118 48,377 49,698 51,216 52,133

MTB CYTO-TECHNICIAN 1 1 1 1 1 1

  MEDICAL TECHNICIAN 1,707 2,012 2,430 2,797 3,122 3,347

LABORATORY ASSISTANT 0 78 139 241 297 429

  MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIST 4,483 5,429 5,625 5,794 5,876 6,069

  MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIST INTERN 1 80 245 453 549 475

MEDICAL LABORATORY SCIENTIST 1

 
SUPPLEMENTARY LABORATORY 
SCIENTIST

36 35 32 32 29 24

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
TECHNICIAN

217 308 288 277 259 245

MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY TOTAL 6,445 7,943 8,760 9,595 10,133 10,590

OCP
ASST MED ORTH PROST and 
LEATHERWORKER

9 10 9 10 8 9

  ARTS THERAPIST 39 48 62 66 65 66

 
ORTHOPAEDIC FOOTWEAR 
TECHNICIAN

49 44 57 54 56 55

 
OMEDICAL ORTHOTIST AND 
PROSTHETIST

387 405 419 445 466 484

 
ORTHOPAEDIC TECHNICAL 
ASSISTANT

58 82 87 91 99 94

 
OMEDICAL ORTHOTIST AND 
PROSTHETIST INTERN

22 39 65 90 109 141

  OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST 3,479 3,606 3,816 4,050 4,300 4,548

 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY 
ASSISTANT

423 402 344 234 201 168

 
MEDIUM THERAPISTS (ARTS 
THERAPIST)

3 5 0 0 0 0

 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY 
TECHNICIANS

153 225 354 421 448 445

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
ORTHOTICS / PROSTHETICS

1 2 2 2 2 1

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Registrations
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PROFESSIONAL 
BOARD

REGISTER NAME 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

  MEDICAL PHYSICIST 98 113 120 132 133 137

  MEDICAL PHYSICIST INTERN 7 15 9 8 21 18

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
SCIENTIST

4 4 4 4 3 3

MEDICAL AND DENTAL PROFESSIONS BOARD TOTAL 47,114 47,118 48,377 49,698 51,216 52,133

MTB CYTO-TECHNICIAN 1 1 1 1 1 1

  MEDICAL TECHNICIAN 1,707 2,012 2,430 2,797 3,122 3,347

LABORATORY ASSISTANT 0 78 139 241 297 429

  MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIST 4,483 5,429 5,625 5,794 5,876 6,069

  MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIST INTERN 1 80 245 453 549 475

MEDICAL LABORATORY SCIENTIST 1

 
SUPPLEMENTARY LABORATORY 
SCIENTIST

36 35 32 32 29 24

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
TECHNICIAN

217 308 288 277 259 245

MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY TOTAL 6,445 7,943 8,760 9,595 10,133 10,590

OCP
ASST MED ORTH PROST and 
LEATHERWORKER

9 10 9 10 8 9

  ARTS THERAPIST 39 48 62 66 65 66

 
ORTHOPAEDIC FOOTWEAR 
TECHNICIAN

49 44 57 54 56 55

 
OMEDICAL ORTHOTIST AND 
PROSTHETIST

387 405 419 445 466 484

 
ORTHOPAEDIC TECHNICAL 
ASSISTANT

58 82 87 91 99 94

 
OMEDICAL ORTHOTIST AND 
PROSTHETIST INTERN

22 39 65 90 109 141

  OCCUPATIONAL THERAPIST 3,479 3,606 3,816 4,050 4,300 4,548

 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY 
ASSISTANT

423 402 344 234 201 168

 
MEDIUM THERAPISTS (ARTS 
THERAPIST)

3 5 0 0 0 0

 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY 
TECHNICIANS

153 225 354 421 448 445

 
SUPPLEMENTARY MEDICAL 
ORTHOTICS / PROSTHETICS

1 2 2 2 2 1

PROFESSIONAL 
BOARD

REGISTER NAME 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY AND MEDICAL ORTHOTICS/
PROSTHETICS TOTAL

4,623 4,868 5,215 5,463 5,754 6,011

ODO DISPENSING OPTICIAN 125 134 136 141 151 152

  OPTOMETRIST 3,112 3,163 3,288 3,420 3,528 3,606

  ORTHOPTIST 15 15 14 12 12 13

 
SUPPLEMENTARY OTPICAL 
DISPENSER

5 4 4 4 3 2

  SUPPLEMENTARY OPTOMETRIST 13 11 11 11 11 10

OPTOMETRY AND DISPENSING OPTICIANS TOTAL 3,270 3,327 3,453 3,588 3,705 3,783

PPB BIOKINETICIST 959 1,020 1,099 1,191 1,306 1,412

BIOKINETICIST INTERN 0 0 0 85 265 428

  PODIATRY 227 228 240 237 254 264

  MASSEURS 3 3 3 3 3 3

  PHYSIOTHERAPISTS 5,746 5,919 6,159 6,389 6,669 6,890

  PHYSIOTHERAPISTS ASSISTANT 276 271 270 261 253 229

  PHYSIOTHERAPY TECHNICIAN 9 8 11 10 22 54

  REMEDIAL GYMNASTS 2 2 2 2 2 2

  SUPPLEMENTARY PODIATRISTS 4 4 3 3 3 3

 
SUPPLEMENTARY 
PHYSIOTHERAPISTS

4 4 4 4 4 4

PHYSIOTHERAPY PODIATRY AND BIOKINECS TOTAL 7,230 7,459 7,791 8,185 8,781 9,289

PSB PSYCHOTECHNICIAN 49 42 38 33 29 26

  PSYCHOMETRIST 1,878 1,885 1,924 1,986 1,982 1,991

  REGISTERED COUNSELLOR 689 925 1,259 1,508 1,724 1,820

  PSYCHOLOGIST 6,866 7,091 7,341 7,607 7,808 8,049

  INTERN PSYCHOLOGIST 894 804 779 877 932 795

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Registrations



- 16 -

PROFESSIONAL 
BOARD

REGISTER NAME 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

PSYCHOLOGY TOTAL 10,376 10,747 11,341 12,011 12,475 12,681

RCT RADIOGRAPHERS 6,122 6,377 6,742 7,061 7,439 7,686

 
ELECTRO-ENCEPHALOGRAPHIC	
TECHNICIAN

26 36 39 41 42 47

  CLINICAL TECHNOLOGIST 899 954 1 005 1 080 985 910

 
GRADUATE CLINICAL 
TECHNOLOGIST

1 1 1 9 184 268

 
RADIATION LABORATORY 
TECHNICIAN

15 16 15 14 12 12

 
RESTRICTED SUPPLEMENTARY 
DIAGNOSTIC RADIOGRAPHER

6 6 8 7 7 7

 
SUPPLEMENTARY DIAGNOSTIC 
RADIOGRAPHER

287 280 281 260 250 240

 
SUPPLEMENTARY CLINICAL 
TECHNOLOGIST

6 5 4 4 5 5

RADIOGRAPHY AND CLINICAL TECHNOGY TOTAL 7,362 7,675 8,095 8,476 8,924 9,175

SLH AUDIOMETRICIAN 6 5 5 5 5 4

  AUDIOLOGIST 210 232 256 308 375 441

  HEARING AID ACOUSTICIAN 103 107 112 118 125 130

SPEECH AND AUDIOLOGY 
ASSISTANT

0 0 0 0 1 0

  SUPPLEMENTARY AUDIOLOGIST 1 1 1 1 1 1

 
SUPPLEMENTARY HEARING AID 
ACOUSTICIAN

5 5 5 4 4 4

 
COMMUNITY SPEECH AND 
HEARING WORKERS

19 22 22 20 19 18

 
SPEECH AND HEARING 
CORRECTIONIST

5 6 6 6 6 6

SPEECH AND HEARING ASSISTANT 0 0 0 0 1 1

 
SUPPLEMENTARY SPEECH 
THERAPIST AND AUDIOLOGIST

1 1 1 1 1 1

  SPEECH THERAPIST 435 494 572 662 748 826

 
SPEECH THERAPIST AND 
AUDIOLOGIST

1 373 1 407 1 440 1 458 1 456 1 478

  SPEECH THERAPY ASSISTANT 4 5 5 3 4 3

SPEECH LANGUAGE AND HEARING PROFESSIONS 
TOTAL

2,162 2,285 2,425 2,586 2,746 2,913

Grand total 151,038 159,569 167,250 175,159 182,152 183,220
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REASONS FOR REDUCTION IN THE NUMBER OF ACTIVE REGISTRATIONS FOR 2014 TO 2015

On	20	January	2015,	8,194	practitioners	were	suspended	in	terms	of	section	19A(1)(b)	of	the	Act/	failure	to	pay	annual	fees.		

The table below outlines the number of suspensions per register.

ERASURE_REASON BRD_CODE REG_CODE Total

Failure to pay annual fee DOH DA 153

    OH 25

    TT 24

  DOH total   202

  DTB DT 40

    NT 6

  DTB total   46

  EHO HI 125

    HIA 3

  EHO total   128

  EMB ANA 178

    ANT 13

    BAA 5,705

    ECT 4

    OECO 21

  EMB total   5,921

  MDB CA 21

    DP 68

    GR 1

    HA 1

    IN 66

    MP 603

    MS 2

    MW 12

    PH 3

  MDB total   777

  MTB GT 103

    LA 11

    MT 111

    SGT 4

    SLA 16

  MTB total   245

  OCP AT 2
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ERASURE_REASON BRD_CODE REG_CODE Total

    OB 2

    OS 12

    OSA 9

    OT 51

    OTB 16

    OTT 11

    SOS 1

  OCP total   104

  ODO OD 9

    OP 58

    SOD 1

  ODO total   68

  PPB BK 47

    CH 5

    PT 123

    PTA 17

  PPB total   192

  PSB PM 2

    PMT 85

    PRC 56

    PS 109

    PSIN 39

  PSB total   291

  RCT DR 121

    EE 3

    KT 34

    KTG 2

    RLT 1

    SDR 14

  RCT total   175

  SLH AU 6

    GAK 4

    SGG 1

    ST 5

    STA 29

  SLH total   45

Failure to pay annual fee total  8,194

Grand total 8,194
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The table below outlines the 1,040 total number of practitioners (1,040) who requested to have their name voluntarily erased 
from the register in terms of section 19 (1)(c) of the Act.  This provision is made available for practitioners who no longer wished 
to practice their profession in South Africa. 

INCIDENT_TYPE BRD_CODE REG_CODE Grand total

Voluntary erasure 19 (1)(c) DOH DA 24

    OH 21

    TT 3

  DOH total   48

  DTB DT 16

    NT 1

  DTB total   17

  EHO HI 39

  EHO total   39

  EMB ANA 19

    ANT 3

    BAA 195

    ECT 2

    OECO 2

  EMB total   221

  MDB CA 1

    DP 25

    IN 4

    MP 132

    MS 2

    MW 5

    PH 1

  MDB total   170

  MTB GT 32

    LA 3

    MT 55

    MTIN 1

    SLA 1

  MTB total   92

  OCP AT 1

    OS 2

    OSA 1

    OT 47

    OTB 12

    OTT 2

  OCP total   65
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INCIDENT_TYPE BRD_CODE REG_CODE Grand total

  ODO OD 10

    OP 21

    SOP 2

  ODO total   33

  PPB BK 19

    PT 62

    PTA 14

  PPB total   95

  PSB PM 1

    PMT 31

    PRC 38

    PS 50

    PSIN 7

  PSB total   127

  RCT DR 65

    KT 43

  RCT total   108

  SLH AU 7

    GAK 2

    SGG 1

  ST 7

  STA 9

  SLH total   26

Voluntary Erasure Total  1,041

Grand total  1,041

During the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, the Registration division processed 671 specialist or subspecialist registered in 
terms	of	section	35	of	the	Act	for	medical	practitioner	or	a	dentist	who	confines	his	or	her	practice	to	such	speciality	or	related	
specialities and subspecialty.  The table below  outlines the growth of the specialist and subspecialist register for the period 
1 April 2010 to 31 March 2015:

  REGISTRATION_PERIODS

SPECIALITY SUBSPECIALITY
Apr10-
Mar11

Apr11-
Mar12

Apr12-
Mar13

Apr13-
Mar14

Apr14-
Mar15

Total

COMMUNITY DENTISTRY   1 2   4 7

MAXILLO FACIAL AND ORAL 
SURGERY

5 4 4 2 7 22

ORAL MEDICINE AND 
PERIODONTICS

  4 1   3 8

ORAL PATHOLOGY 2 2 1     5

ORTHODONTICS 4 7 5 2 4 22
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  REGISTRATION_PERIODS

SPECIALITY SUBSPECIALITY
Apr10-
Mar11

Apr11-
Mar12

Apr12-
Mar13

Apr13-
Mar14

Apr14-
Mar15

Total

PROSTHODONTICS   2 2 4 2 10

 TOTAL	DENTIST	(DP) 11 20 15 8 20 74

ANAESTHESIOLOGY 67 97 71 64 67 366

CARDIOTHORACIC SURGERY 8 3 3 1 1 16

CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY     14 4 1 19

COMMUNITY HEALTH     1   1 2

DERMATOLOGY 12 9 10 13 13 57

DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY 40 27 35 31 37 170

EMERGENCY MEDICINE 11 13 7 14 8 53

FAMILY MEDICINE 104 103 112 37 38 394

MEDICAL GENETICS   1 2 3   6

MEDICINE 71 71 76 68 73 359

NEUROLOGY 4 5 11 11 7 38

NEUROSURGERY 5 11 7 10 10 43

NUCLEAR MEDICINE 3   2 5 6 16

OBSTETRICS AND 
GYNAECOLOGY

34 45 50 42 50 221

OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE 8 1 2 3   14

OPHTHALMOLOGY 18 21 19 22 15 95

ORTHOPAEDICS 34 41 45 38 29 187

OTORHINOLARYNGOLOGY 9 14 11 10 8 52

PAEDIATRIC SURGERY 1 4 8 3 2 18

PAEDIATRICS 51 53 74 59 52 289

PATHOLOGY (ANATOMICAL) 13 10 9 5 12 49

PATHOLOGY (CHEMICAL) 6 4 7 1 3 21

PATHOLOGY (CLINICAL) 1 4 2 1 2 10

PATHOLOGY (FORENSIC) 7 6 9 6 3 31

PATHOLOGY 
(HAEMATOLOGICAL)

5 3 8 6 8 30

PATHOLOGY 
(MICROBIOLOGICAL)

4 9 7 1 5 26

PATHOLOGY (VIROLOGICAL) 1 2 5 2 6 16

PLASTIC AND 
RECONSTRUCTIVE SURGERY

11 4 8 12 11 46

PSYCHIATRY 47 43 34 28 32 184

PUBLIC HEALTH MEDICINE 13 6 6 4 8 37
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  REGISTRATION_PERIODS

SPECIALITY SUBSPECIALITY
Apr10-
Mar11

Apr11-
Mar12

Apr12-
Mar13

Apr13-
Mar14

Apr14-
Mar15

Total

RADIATION ONCOLOGY 12 5 15 8 12 52

RADIOLOGY       1   1

SURGERY 54 40 52 31 28 205

UROLOGY 14 9 11 15 9 58

ANAESTHESIOLOGY CRITICAL CARE 2 1 1 2 3 9

EMERGENCY MEDICINE CRITICAL CARE 1       2 3

MEDICINE CARDIOLOGY 10 7 11 12 5 45

  CLINICAL HAEMATOLOGY 5 1 1 2 3 12

  CRITICAL CARE     1   2 3

  ENDOCRINOLOGY 7 3 3 1 8 22

  GASTROENTEROLOGY   6 3 2 1 12

  GERIATRIC MEDICINE 1 1   1   3

  INFECTIOUS DISEASES 1 1 5 1 2 10

  MEDICAL ONCOLOGY 2 2   1 3 8

  NEPHROLOGY 8 8 9 10 5 40

  PULMONOLOGY 2 2 7 1 5 17

  RHEUMATOLOGY 5 2 3 4 6 20

OBSTETRICS AND 
GYNAECOLOGY

GYNAECOLOGY ONCOLOGY     1 1 4 6

 
MATERNAL AND FOETAL 
MEDICINE

        1 1

  REPRODUCTIVE MEDICINE 4   4 1 4 13

PAEDIATRIC CARDIOLOGY 3   2   5 10

  CLINICAL HAEMATOLOGY 1     2   3

  CRITICAL CARE 1 2 2 3 2 10

 
DEVELOPMENTAL 
PAEDIATRICS

1   2 2   5

  ENDOCRINOLOGY 3   2 1 1 7

  GASTROENTEROLOGY 1 1   1 2 5

  INFECTIOUS DISEASES   3 1 1 3 8

  MEDICAL ONCOLOGY 2 1 1 2 1 7

  NEONATOLOGY 6 4 6 1   17

  NEPHROLOGY 1 2 3 1 1 8

  NEUROLOGY 3   1 1 4 9

  PULMONOLOGY 7 1 2 3 2 15

  RHEUMATOLOGY 1       1 2
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  REGISTRATION_PERIODS

SPECIALITY SUBSPECIALITY
Apr10-
Mar11

Apr11-
Mar12

Apr12-
Mar13

Apr13-
Mar14

Apr14-
Mar15

Total

PAEDIATRICS ALLERGOLOGY     8 1 1 10

  NEONATOLOGY         1 1

PATHOLOGY 
(HAEMATOLOGICAL)

CLINICAL HAEMATOLOGY 2 1 1     4

PSYCHIATRY CHILD PSYCHIATRY 4 1 1 2 3 11

  FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY     1 3 5 9

  GERIATRIC PSYCHIATRY       1   1

  NEUROPSYCHIATRY     1 1   2

SURGERY GASTROENTEROLOGY 3 5 4 3 4 19

  PAEDIATRIC SURGERY       1   1

  TRAUMA SURGERY     1 1 1 3

  VASCULAR SURGERY 4   5 3 3 15

 TOTAL	MEDICAL	PRACTITIONER	(MP) 759 719 826 632 651 3,587

 GRAND TOTAL DP AND MP 770 739 841 640 671 3,661

The division also attended to practitioner’s  requests for services rendered in terms of section 23 of the Act and processed cer-
tificates	of	status,	certified	extracts,	intern	duty	certificates	and	attended	to	verification	of	credentials.

The	table	below	outlines	the	number	of	certificates	issued	for	the	period	April	2010	to	March	2014.

STATISTICS OF OTHER SERVICES RENDERED/CERTIFICATES ISSUED DURING THE 5 YEAR PERIOD. 1 APRIL 

2010 TO 31 MARCH 2015.

Service rendered
April 2010 -
March 2011

April 2011 -
March 2012

April 2012 -
March 2013

April 2013 -
March 2014

April 2014 – 
March 2015

Issued	certificates	of	status 1,401 3,162 3,894 2,894 2,743

Issued	certified	extract 1,101 1,605 1,667 944 1,031

Issued	Intern	duty	certificate 99 679 689 413 471

Processed	verification	of	credentials 264 526 1389 1352 3381

Grand total 2,865 5,972 7,639 5,603 7,626
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Students studying towards a health profession registered in terms of section 17 of the Act are required to register with the Health 
Professions	Council	 of	 South	Africa	 (HPCSA)	within	 a	 specified	period	 from	 the	date	 of	 registering	with	 the	 accredited	 training	
institution	in	the	Republic	of	South	Africa	(RSA).		The	table	below	outlines	the	number	of	first	time	undergraduate	student	registrations	
processed over the period of April 2014 to March 2015.

Register 
code

Register name
1 April 2014 – 

31 March 2015

DA S STUDENT DENTAL ASSISTANTS 83

OH S STUDENT ORAL HYGIENISTS 67

TT S STUDENT DENTAL THERAPISTS 107

 DENTAL	THERAPY	AND	ORAL	HYGIENE	TOTAL	 257

DT S STUDENT DIETITIANS 152

NT S STUDENT NUTRITIONIST 51

 DIETETICS	TOTAL 203

HI S STUDENT ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS 193

 ENVIRONMENTAL	HEALTH	OFFICERS	TOTAL 193

ANTS STUDENT PARAMEDICS 136

ECPS STUDENT EMERGENCY CARE PRACTITIONER 127

ECTS STUDENT EMERGENCY CARE TECHNICIAN 15

 EMERGENCY	CARE	PERSONNEL	TOTAL 278

CA S STUDENT CLINICAL ASSOCIATES 11

DP S STUDENT DENTISTS 396

GC S/GR S STUDENT GENETIC COUNSELLORS 0

IN S STUDENT INTERNS 960

MP S MEDICAL STUDENTS 2,396

MS S/MW S STUDENT MEDICAL SCIENTISTS 113

PH S STUDENT MEDICAL PHYSICIST 0

VS VISITING STUDENTS 601

 MEDICAL	AND	DENTAL	PROFESSIONS	BOARD	TOTAL 4,477

GT S STUDENT MEDICAL TECHNICIANS 301

LA S STUDENT LABORATORY  ASSISTANT 175

MT S STUDENT MEDICAL TECHNOLOGISTS 225

 MEDICAL	TECHNOLOGY	TOTAL 701

AOSS STUDENT ASST MED ORTH PROST and LEATHERWORKERS 0

AT S ART THERAPY STUDENT (DELETED) 0

OS S STUDENT MEDICAL ORTHOTISTS AND PROSTHETISTS 7

OT S STUDENT OCCUPATIONAL THERAPISTS 213

OTBS STUDENT OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY ASSISTANT 47

OTES ART THERAPY STUDENTS 22

 OCCUPATIONAL	THERAPY	AND	MEDICAL	ORTHOTICS/PROSTHETICS	TOTAL 289
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Register 
code

Register name
1 April 2014 – 

31 March 2015

OD S STUDENT DISPENSING OPTICIANS 149

OP S STUDENT OPTOMETRISTS 441

 OPTOMETRY	AND	DISPENSING	OPTICIANS	TOTAL 590

BK S STUDENT BIOKINETICISTS 335

CH S STUDENT PODIATRISTS 183

PT S STUDENT PHYSIOTHERAPISTS 870

PTAS STUDENT PHYSIOTHERAPY ASSISTANTS 24

 PHYSIOTHERAPY,	PODIATRY	AND	BIOKINETICS	TOTAL 1,412

PMTS STUDENT PSYCHOMETRIST 1,027

PS S STUDENT PSYCHOLOGISTS 335

SRC STUDENT REGISTERED COUNSELLOR 1,140

 PSYCHOLOGY	TOTAL 2,502

DR S STUDENT RADIOGRAPHERS 1,238

EE S STUDENT	ELECTRO-ENCEPHALOGRAPHIC	TECHNICIANS 6

KT S STUDENT CLINICAL TECHNOLOGISTS 89

RLTS STUDENT RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS 0

SDRS STUDENT SUPPLEMENTARY DIAGNOSTIC RADIOGRAPHERS 11

 RADIOGRAPHY	AND	CLINICAL	TECHNOLOGY	TOTAL 1,344

AU S STUDENT AUDIOLOGISTS 240

GAKS STUDENT HEARING AID ACOUSTICIANS 7

ST S STUDENT SPEECH THERAPISTS AND AUDIOLOGISTS 343

STAS STUDENT SPEECH THERAPISTS AND AUDIOLOGISTS 27

 SPEECH,	LANGUAGE	AND	HEARING	PROFESSIONS	TOTAL 617

 GRAND TOTAL 12,863

Registrations also attended to various applications and enquiries/requests from 35,773 practitioners who visited the Client 
Contact	Centre.	 In	addition,	 they	registered	a	total	of	1,158	foreign	qualified	practitioners	and	provided	1,069	extensions	on	
restricted/limited registrations for the same period.
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MITIGATING CHALLENGES EXPERIENCED

In	a	bid	to	mitigate	the	challenge	posed	by	the	Post	Office	not	meeting	the	expectations	by	delivering	mail	as	expected	and	to	
meet	healthcare	practitioner	expectations	in	renewing	their	registrations,	the	HPCSA	embarked	on	a	nationwide	off	site	renewals	
of registrations campaign which commenced on 16 March 2015 and was completed on 26 May 2015.  For the reporting period 
of	16	to	31	March	2015,	the	teams	set	offsite	office	in	the	following	venues:	

16 – 17 March 2015 Tshilidzini  Hospital 

18 – 19 March 2015 Polokwane Hospital

20 March 2015 Voortreker Hospital (Mokopane)

23 March Paarl Hospital and Groote Schuur Hospital 

24 – 25 March Tygerberg Hospital and Groote Schuur Hospital

26 March Groote Shuur Hospital

27 March Tygerberg Hospital and Groote Schuur Hospital

The	HPCSA	renewed	and	issued	3,625	practicing	cards	to	practitioners	who	visited	the	off-site	offices	that	were	set	up	at	the	
above mentioned venues in Limpopo for the period 16 to 20 March 2015, whilst 9,367 practitioners renewed their registrations 
and	received	their	practicing	cards	at	the	venues	in	Cape	Town	for	the	period	23	to	27	March	2015.		During	the	period	29	January	
2015	to	31	March	2015,	8259	practitioners	visited	the	HPCSA	offices	to	renew	their	registrations	and	their	practicing	cards	were	
issued.  

The	Post	Office	embarked	on	a	4	month	strike	that	affected	the	delivery	of	practicing	cards.		The	division	contacted	some	Clinical	
Managers and Heads of Departments and distributed cards  using the courier service to practitioners.  The division was able to 
ensure that 22,140 practitioners receive their cards as they were dispatched in batches to the various hospitals. The mitigation 
strategy guaranteed the HPCSA that out of 156,504 health practitioners that had renewed and were issued with their practicing 
cards, 43,391 practitioners received their practicing cards during the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 and these were 
handed out to them.
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FINANCIAL SERVICES
Ms. Melissa	de	Graaff
Interim: Chief Financial Officer

“During the year under review the 
Finance Department took positive steps 
to improve the financial environment, 
strengthen internal control and stabilise 
the financial system.”
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The role of the Financial Services Department is to ensure that 
Council maintains satisfactory accounting records, to prepare 
and audit Annual Financial Statements and any other related 
information on an annual basis, as well as to maintain a proper 
system of internal controls which will provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the achievements of Council’s objectives.

REVENUE

The operations of the Council are funded by revenue from 
health practitioners. Revenue is primarily comprised of annual 
fees, examination fees, restoration fees, registration fees 
and penalty fees. During the year under review, the revenue 
increased by 2.3% from R171,7million to R175,7 million and 
investment revenue increased by 24.2% from R14,9 million to 
R18,5 million.

The annual fees increased from R147,9 million to R152 million 
mainly due to the increase in membership and membership 
fees. Registration fees increasedfrom R16,7 million to 
R16,9million. Fees from penalties imposed to practitioners 
increased from R2,1million to R2,6 million.

EXPENSES

Operating expenses increased to R176,6 million from  
R200,6 million representing an increase of 13.6% the main 
reasons for the increase are as follows:

• Council, professional board and committee meetings 
expenditure increased by 22.5% from R34,2 million to 
R41.9 million due to an increase in the number of meetings 
and venue costs.

• Employment costs increased by 14.2% due to annual 
salary increment, benchmarking and additional employees 
appointed in terms of new organisational structure.

• IT costs decreased from R4,4 million to R2,8 million due 
Intranet project phase 2 and Video Conferencing facilities 
project that had been put on hold due to vacant Chief 
Information	Officer	position.

• The legal costs increased to R20,1 million from R19,4 
million, an increase of 3.6%. The increase is due to 
additional legal cases being pursued by the Council.

The provision for bad debts increased by R0,4 million due to 
the impairment of the long outstanding debts receivables that 
are older than 90 days.

Cost incurred and recovered for RAF cases increased by 
75% from R3,6 million to R6,3 million. Reversal of revenue 
due	 suspension	 of	membership	 as	 a	 result	 of	 non-payment	
by health practitioners decreased from R6,9 million to  
R5,1	million	due	to	successful	off-site	registrations	held	during	
the	financial	year.		

SURPLUS GENERATED

The net surplus generated by Council decreased by 64% 
year	 on	 year	 from	 R15,4	 million	 in	 the	 previous	 financial	
year	 to	 R5,5	 million	 in	 the	 current	 financial	 year	 ending	 
31 March 2015. The realised net surplus of R5,5 million is 
higher	than	the	budgeted	deficit	of	R2,1	million.	The	favourable	
deviation of actual experience from planned net surplus is 
largely due to expenditures savings by Professional Boards 
and Council’s Administrative Departments.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) ACCOUNTING 

SYSTEM CHALLENGES

The	 Council	 has	maintained	 proper	 financial	 records	 during	
the	2014/15	financial	year.	

REVENUE ACCRUAL

The	 financial	 records	 for	 revenue	 were	 maintained	 on	 a	
cash basis (i.e. revenue recognised when cash is paid) and 
not accrual basis as required by the International Financial 
Reporting Standards. With the assistance of an interim ERS 
Accounting service provider the Council was able to identify 
and record revenue accrual transactions.

BACKLOG IN RECEIPT ALLOCATIONS

Backlogs in cash receipt allocations are still a challenge due 
to inability to auto allocate receipt when incorrect reference 
numbers are provided when payments are made. Manual 
clearing of this backlog by the Financial Services Department 
is	 causing	 significant	 pressure	 on	 existing	 human	 resources	
resulting in temporary employees’ costs.

LATE CLOSING OF ACCOUNTING PERIODS

Late closures of periods continue to be a problem and are 
caused by continued use of an old version of the accounting 
system which caused system bugs. 
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APPOINTMENT OF AN INTERIM ENTREPRISE 

RESOURCE SYSTEM (ERS) ACCOUNTING SERVICE 

PROVIDES

The Council appointed an Interim ERS Accounting service 
provider to assist with the following:

• Report to accrue for revenue on accrual basis;
• Fixed Accounting system bugs; and
• Corrected debtors ages analysis.

APPOINTMENT OF AN ERS SERVICE PROVIDER

The Council is in the process of going out on tender to appoint 
an ERS Accounting service provider to stabilise the accounting 
system by:

• Upgrading accounting system to latest version; and
• Provide technical ERS services to Council for 12 month 

period	to	resolve	any	unidentified	issues.

DATA STORAGE

The Council awarded a tender in August 2015 and appointed a 
service provider to install new servers which will increase data 
storage	space	and	significantly	reduce	the	risk	of	operational	
downtime.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND 
LABOUR RELATIONS
Mr. Khanyiso Dube
Senior Manager

“The overall strategic objective of the 
Human Resources management is a 
satisfied workforce that delivers on the 
mandate of Council.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

THE HPCSA strives to become an employer of choice and to 
create an environment where employees are able to grow, 
develop and advance their careers in the organisation. The 
HPCSA employee value proposition is to keep abreast with 
the best practice in employment and employment conditions 
of	 its	 staff.	 To	 this	 end,	 the	 HPCSA	 strives	 to	 research	 and	
implement best practice that will retain its employees and 
that employees continue to perceive the organisation as an 
employer of choice.

The overall strategic objective of the Human Resources 
management	 is	 a	 satisfied	 workforce	 that	 delivers	 on	 the	
mandate of Council. 

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

In order to keep abreast with best practice on the management 
of Human Resources (HR), the HPCSA focuses on keeping up 
with	market	trends	on	how	its	 	staff	can	ensure	that	Council	
meets its strategic objectives.

Council approved recommendations to implement the 
organisation design review with a view to obtain results for 
improved	capacity	of	the	organisation,	with	specific	focus	on	
the core departments i.e. the department of Professional 
Boards, Registrations and the Legal services department. 
Additional capacity was also approved in respect of support 
departments i.e. Finance, HR, support services amongst 
others in order to improve the ability of these departments to 
support the core.

The resolutions of Council in this respect is  in the process 
of	being	rolled	out	in	a	phased	manner,	in	line	with	identified	

priorities. Some of these will be implemented into the new 
financial	year.

The	majority	of	new	positions	were	profiled	and	graded.

As a way of keeping up with  market developments, the 
organisation	has	finalised	the	implementation	of		a	three-year	
cycle of remuneration benchmarking for employees falling 
within	 the	 bargaining	 unit.	 Specific	 agreements	 were	 also	
reached with the trade union regarding the implementation 
that was acceptable to major stakeholders.  The organisation 
is	satisfied	that	it	has	reached	an	acceptable	conclusion	to	the	
process that was outstanding in the previous year.

During	the	year	under	review	73%	of	the	vacancies	were	filled.

One	 of	 the	 areas	 of	 achievement	 is	 the	 training	 of	 staff	 in	
relevant	disciplines	related	to	their	work.	93%	of	staff	attended	
various training interventions related to their profession and 
this marked an improvement of 20% from the previous year. 
The organisation continues to have an uptake for further 
career development. During the year under review, 15.5% of 
staff		were	granted	with	bursaries		for	further	education	and	
training.  Furthermore, the organisation invests in the future 
of	 the	country	by	offering	 internship	opportunities	 for	newly	
qualified	young	graduates	to	gain	workplace	experience,	while		
contributing to the employment statistics of the country.

STAFF COMPLEMENT

The	total	staff	complement	as	at	the	end	of	the	period	under	
review is 2015.
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STAFF PROFILE

The	table	below	reflects	the	distribution	of	the	staff	profile	per	race,	gender	and	job	level	as	at	31	March	2015:

Occupational levels
Male Female Foreign Nationals

Total
A C I W A C I W Male Female

Top management 3 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

Senior management 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Professionally	qualified	and	
experienced specialists and 
mid-management

11 0 1 1 3 1 1 2 0 0 21

Skilled technical and 
academically	qualified	
workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen, and 
superintendents

20 2 0 0 28 2 3 6 0 0 61

Semi-skilled	and	discretionary	
decision making

24 3 1 0 66 11 3 9 0 0 117

Unskilled	and	defined	deci-
sion making

2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 5

TOTAL PERMANENT 65 5 3 2 101 14 7 18 0 0 215

Temporary employees 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

GRAND TOTAL 66 5 3 2 101 14 7 18 0 0 216
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ACHIEVEMENTS

Vacant positions filled between April 2013 to 
March 2014:

Filled In Progress Total

26 26 55

The increase in the number of vacancies is a result of new 
positions that were created as part of implementation of the 
organisation design review. 

APPOINTMENTS MADE IN THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW 

AND THEIR DISTRIBUTION ACCORDING TO SOURCE 

AND DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 

The distribution of appointments and the racial 
profile is depicted below:

External 
appointments

Internal 
appointments

Total

22 2 24

Distribution of appointments in terms of race 

African Indian Coloured White Total

23 0 1 0 24

Distribution of appointments  in terms of  gender

Male Female Total

6 18 24

STAFF TURNOVER

A total of 15 employees resigned from the organisation, in 
addition we had one early retirement and two death cases.
The turnover rate is 8.2% and is regarded as an acceptable 
turnover. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The HPCSA invests in the training and development of its 
employees and contributes towards skills development.

Approximately		93%	of	staff	members	received	training	for	the	
year under review with 87% of the budget allocated. This is 
regarded as an exceptional investment in the development 
of	staff.

Bursaries were awarded to 34 employees for further 
development and improvement of capacity in the organisation. 
This  was an increase of 13 additional uptakes from the 
previous year. The increase is seen as an outstanding uptake 
on the   opportunities for further education and training.

For the period under review, the HPCSA recruited nine intern 
students in various departments.  Our partnership with Bytes 
Technologies resulted in three of the interns being placed 
in the Information Technology Department. The internship 
programme	assists	newly	qualified	students	to	gain	valuable	
work place experience.

In compliance with the Skills Development Act 97 of 1998, 
the Workplace Skills Plan,  an Implementation Report was 
submitted before the due date as required by the SETA.
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LABOUR RELATIONS

A summary of Labour Relations matters is provided below for 
the period under review.

Counselling 6

Verbal warnings 0

Written warnings 0

Final written warnings 0

Dismissals 2

CCMA matters 2

One	matter	from	the	previous	year	was	finalised	at	the	Labour	
Court in May 2015.

GRIEVANCES 

Two formal grievances were lodged for the period under 
review. However, the grievances were resolved amicably.

BARGAINING FORUM

The HPCSA has a Bargaining Forum, established in terms of 
the Recognition Agreement, with the Trade Union (NEHAWU). 
The forum deals with matters of mutual interest and conducts 
annual salary negotiations. The forum has functioned well 
in the period under review, without any dispute resolutions 
required. The forum endeavours to reach mutual agreement 
on matters falling within its jurisdiction.

12 meetings were held by the forum in the period under 
review to discuss matters of mutual interest.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS

An external service provider was appointed to provide a 24 
hour	additional	 support	 to	our	employees	on	a	 confidential	
basis.

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

Leave and Personnel Records Management

Employee leave records have continuously been audited 
for	 accuracy.	 The	 organisation	 received	 an	 unqualified	
audit	 finding	 in	 respect	 of	 leave.	 The	 system	 of	 managing	
leave is being enhanced by introducing an automated leave 
management	system	in	the	new	financial	year.

Pension and Provident Fund

The Trustees resolved to move the provident fund to an 
Umbrella fund and received approval. The move of the 
Pension Fund was delayed due to outstanding statutory 
fund	valuations	which	were	being	finalised	at	the	end	of	the	
reporting period. 

There	 are	 no	 adverse	 effects	 on	 current	 and	 previous	
members as a result of this process.

Apportionment of “agterskot” payments to former members 
who	 exited	 the	 fund	 was	 being	 finalised	 as	 at	 end	 of	 the	
reporting period. The tracing of former members for surplus 
apportionment was underway as at the end of the reporting 
period	 as	 this	 process	 depended	 on	 finalisation	 of	 the	
statutory valuation.

CHALLENGES 

The HR processes were largely manual as at end of the 
reporting period, however, the introduction of an automated 
system	in	the	new	financial	year	will	improve	efficiencies	and	
streamline the HR processes.

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Human Resources and Labour Relations



- 35 -

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

“The IT department has extended 
the virtual office solution to enable 
the HPCSA to register and renew 
practitioners outside the main office in 
Pretoria.”
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ACHIEVEMENTS

Offsite registrations

The	IT	department	has	extended	the	virtual	office	solution	to	
enable the HPCSA to register and renew practitioners outside 
the	main	office	 in	Pretoria.	This	was	achieved	by	configuring	
four virtual sites running concurrently. This is an addition 
of two sites from the previous year’s project. Furthermore, 
capabilities	of	electronic	funds	transfer	for	cardholder-initiated	
transactions were added to the services. This project was 
rolled out to all nine provinces.

The	virtual	office	made	provision	for:

Services Description

Average 
No. of 

officials 
per Site

ERS system Enabling Registration 
and	Finance	officials	to	
register practitioners 
away	from	the	office

9

Printing services To print registration 
packs and other 
work-related	docu-
ments

9

File share services Access to forms and 
reference documents 
from	the	main	office

9

Email services To send and receive 
mails

9

Internet services To access the internet 3

INTERNET AND DATA LINE

The	 IT	 department	 upgraded	 the	 data	 line	 to	 high-speed	
connectivity	for	exchange	of	large	data	files	and	better	internet	
speed. The upgrade was from a 4Mbps speed to 15Mbps line 
in September 2014.

IT INFRASTRUCTURE

The IT department embarked on a project of upgrading from 
old computer (desktops and notebooks) equipment to more 
advanced computer equipment, enabling users to increase 
their	 productivity	 through	 efficient	 and	 effective	 service	

delivery.	Thirty	HP	 laptops	were	procured	as	well	as	 two	22-
inch Dell monitors to assist senior management with their 
comparing and editing of reports.

A new backup device with ‘backup to disk’ capabilities was 
procured	 and	 installed.	 This	 added	 efficiency	with	 regard	 to	
data restore and recovery. HPCSA is now in a better position to 
extend its infrastructure to a disaster recovery site.

The upgrade included the procurement of 12 HP printers, 
which	also	played	a	role	in	the	offsite	registration	project.

ERS SUPPORT

The IT department moved ERS data from the old storage area 
network	 (SAN)	 that	 was	 on	 EMC	DX-320	 to	 a	 leased	Hitachi	
storage device. This improved performance and mitigated the 
risk of storage crash.

In	 supporting	business,	 54	qualifications	and	287	 categories	
were	added	 to	different	 registers	across	 the	12	Professional	
Boards. In the Finance department, 8,127 practitioners were 
suspended	due	to	non-payment	of	annual	 fees	and	174,982	
bulk invoices were raised.

STATISTICS AND DATA

The IT department is responsible for the extraction of Data 
and compilation of statistics pertaining to the registration of 
healthcare students, interns and professionals in South Africa.
In 2014/2015, contact information such as email addresses 
and mobile numbers for registered practitioners were 
extracted and used for Professional Board newsletters, the 
e-bulletin,	road	show	invites,	annual	fee	collection	campaigns	
and Professional Board member nominations.

Comparative historical registration statistics were supplied to 
medical organisations and  Government departments to assist 
with national skills planning and training in the both the private 
and public healthcare sectors of South Africa.

NETWORK

With	new	 staff	 joining	 the	HPCSA,	 the	 IT	department	had	 to	
expand its local area network (LAN) infrastructure to ensure 
that everyone has access to the relevant business system. 
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Expansions included:

•	 Twelve	 new	 network	 points	 were	 set-up	 for	 the	
inspectorate	and	Professional	Board	offices;

• Twelve new network points for nine users, one of which 
is linked to Cisco Router wireless connection and Dell 
Projector	for	Wi-Fi/LAN	connection;

• Four new network points for the Road Accident Fund 
department;

•	 Twenty-two	new	network	points	for	debtors	sections.	

SECURITY

A new email gateway was installed: Symantec. Emails up to 
10MB in size are able to come through now.

The account lockout challenge is now under control and all 
computers	on	the	network	have	up-to-date	antivirus	programs.	

IT INTERNSHIP PROGRAMME

IT	offered	two	learners	training	and	job	experience	in	different	
sections of the IT department. This optimised their professional 
skills and gave them a valuable experience in the information 
technology	field.	

CHALLENGES

ERS system

The HPCSA experiences performance challenges on the ERS 
system as a result of an old SAN and servers hosting the system. 
The IT department took the initiative to acquire a temporary 
SAN to mitigate the risk of a data centre crash. An request for 
proposal was prepared to acquire the permanent solution.

Infrastructure

Most of the hardware in the server room is outdated, therefore 
the latest software cannot be installed.
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LEGAL SERVICES
Adv. Phelelani Khumalo

“To ensure law enforcement and 
compliance, the Inspectorate Office 
became functional on 
1 February 2015.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

In terms of section 3 of the Health Professions Act,1974 one of the objects and functions of the Health Professions Council of 
South Africa (“HPCSA”) is to ensure the investigation of complaints concerning persons registered in terms of this Act and to en-
sure that appropriate disciplinary action is taken against such persons in accordance with this Act in order to protect the interest 
of the public and to ensure that persons registered in terms of this Act behave towards users of health services in a manner that 
respects their constitutional rights to human dignity, bodily and psychological integrity and equality, and that disciplinary action 
is taken against persons who fail to act accordingly. 

Against this backdrop the Legal Services Department is tasked with the investigation and prosecution of all complaints against 

health practitioners.

A COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW 

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

Description 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

2,903 2,687 2,997 3,026 2,597

MATTERS FINALISED BY COMMITTEES OF PRELIMINARY INQUIRY

Description 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

Explanations noted and cases withdrawn 554 815 734 1,115 1,206

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT INQUIRY 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2015 

The following is a breakdown of matters that were referred for direct Inquiry before Committees of Professional Conduct Inquiry 
and which were handled by various Legal Advisers, penalties imposed were as follows: 

SUMMARY OF FINALISED MATTERS ACCORDING TO PENALTIES
1 April 2010 - 31 March 2015

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

Suspensions 27 18 64 52 73

Acquittals 30 15 15 20 36

Fines Imposed at inquiry 67 81 12 70 57

Caution and Reprimand 14 9 20 19 29

Admission of Guilt Fines4(9) 134 100 102

Finalised at Health Committee 3 1 14

Finalised at Prelim 28 60 47 49

Erasures 6 3 2 1 4

TOTAL 172 189 248 309 364
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BREAKDOWN PER BOARD

BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER PROFESSIONAL BOARD
1 APRIL 2010 – 31 MARCH 2015

 BOARD 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

Medical and Dental 138 162 184 236 267

Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene 1 0 4 6 9

Dietetics 2 0 1   1

Medical Technology 0 0 0 1 200

Occupational Therapy, Medical Orthotics and 
Prosthetics

1 2 2 5 8

Optometry and Dispensing Opticians 5 6 22 16 23

Physiotherapy, Podiatry and Biokinetics 4 3 7 12 14

Psychology 14 14 20 21 21

Speech, Language and Hearing 4 0 1 3

Emergency Care Personnel 2 2 1 7 6

Radiography and Clinical Technology 1 0 6 2 7

Environmental Health 0 0 0 0  0

TOTALS 172  189 248 309 364

BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER OFFENCE
1 APRIL 2013 – 31 MARCH 2014

TYPE OF OFFENCE 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

Unethical Advertising 18 13 5 6 7

Incompetence 5 28 10 25 55

Over servicing 3 2 11

Breach	of	confidentiality 2 3 6 9 6

Damaging Professional Reputation of Colleague 20 44 4 1

Insufficient	Care/Treatment	and	Mismanagement	of	
Patients

23 5 41 36 21

Negligence 12 6 15 22 19

Unacceptable/Inappropriate Relationship with Pa-
tients

2 3 8 5 8

Refusing to treat patients 6 5 2 5 6

Misdiagnosis 4 5 11 9 8

Practicing Outside Scope of competence 4 4 4 11 17

Fraudulent	Certificates/Incorrect	Information	on	
Death	Certificates

6 2
12

8 16

Refusing to complete forms / producing inaccurate 
reports

34 27 7 4 5

Overcharging / charging for Services not Rendered 4 13 30 66 33
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BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER OFFENCE
1 APRIL 2013 – 31 MARCH 2014

TYPE OF OFFENCE 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015

Issues relating to Consent 10 13 16 21 25

Fraud and theft 7 9 49 38 61

Bringing the Professions into disrepute 3 1 15 18 21

Employing unregistered practitioners 2 5 6 6 9

Unethical dispensing, using of unregistered medicine 
and prescribing of drugs

6 1 5 4 6

Contempt of Council 1 0 6 10 23

Supersession / Contravening the Hazardous Sub-
stances Act, 1973

0 0 0 1 2

Practicing without registration 0 0 0 1 4

TOTAL 172 189 248 309 364

THE ROAD ACCIDENT FUND

A total of 2,951 complaints were received during the period under review.  47 meetings were held, 585 matters were dealt with 
and	1,208	cases	were	finalised.	

RAF TRIBUNAL
1 April 2011 – 31 March 2015

Matters 
received

No. of 
meetings

Serious Non serious Deferred Withdrawn Finalised

2010/2011 384 5 15 46 13 1 62

2011/2012 688 23 194 223 87 8 425

2012/2013 1,711 20 229 176 60 4 409

2013/2014 2,470 19 239 164 68 8 411

2014/2015 2,951 47 585 623 98 5 1,208
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HIGH PROFILE CASES

DR W N KATUMBA	-	Dr	Katumba	sought	an	order	reviewing	
and setting aside the resolution of the Board’s Education and 
Registration	Committee	taken	on	30	April	2013,	the	effect	of	
which was to decline his application for restoration. HPCSA 
won the review and Dr Katumba’s application for leave to 
appeal was not successful. 

IAN WALTER BUCHANAN	 -	 In	 an	 important	 ruling	 for	 the	
Health Professions Council of South Africa (HPCSA), the 
Competition Tribunal of South Africa recently dismissed a 
self referral complaint by Ian Walter Buchanan, the CEO of 
Torga Optical against the HPCSA and its Professional Board 
for Optometry and Dispensing Opticians over a long standing 
issue between the parties.

The essence of Buchanan’s complaint was that the Ethical 
Rules promulgated by the HPCSA under the Health Professions 
Act (“HPA”), as well as the Policy Document on Undesirable 
Business Practices by the HPCSA and the Board restrict 
corporate investment and/or corporate ownership by lay 
persons.  In short, persons who are registered under the HPA 
to practice optometry cannot work for an entity the directors, 
shareholders or partners of which are not professionals 
themselves. 

The Competition Commission had investigated the complaint 
and	 issued	 a	 notice	 of	 non-referral	 in	 October	 2012.	 The	
argument by Buchanan was that the Policy and the associated 
Ethical	Rule	are	a	decision	of	an	association	of	firms	who	are	in	
a	horizontal	relationship,	which	has	the	effect	of	substantially	
preventing or lessening competition in the optometry 
profession and it is thus prohibited under section 4(1)(a) of 
the Competition Act.

The Tribunal dealt with the merits of the matter even though 
it had in essence upheld the jurisdictional challenge by the 
HPCSA.  This they did by inter alia relying on section 34 of the 
Constitution, which enshrines the right to have a hearing.

The Tribunal found that the Rule and the Policy were a decision 
by	 an	 association	 of	 firms	 who	 are	 competitors	 irrespective	
of the arguments advanced by the HPCSA that when regard 
is had to its composition, it is not made up of competitors as 
contemplated under section 4(1)(a) of the Act.  The Tribunal 
found that the Board which is made up of competitors was 
extensively involved in the rule making process, and this is the 
level	where	the	element	of	an	association	of	firms	in	a	horizontal	
relationship contemplated under section 4(1)(a) was met.

The	main	finding	on	the	merits	was	that	the	Tribunal	did	not	
find	compelling	evidence	that	Buchanan’s	complaints	resulted	
in a substantial prevention or lessening of competition in the 
relevant market. This is the second requirement of a section 
4(1)(a)	infringement.		It	is	on	the	basis	of	this	finding	that	the	
complaint was dismissed. The Tribunal accordingly did not 
make a ruling on whether or not the prohibitions if found to 
substantially prevent or lessen competition are reasonably 
required to maintain professional standards as contemplated 
under Schedule 1 of the Competition Act.

DR W BASSON//HPCSA	 -	 Six	 charges	were	 initially	brought	
against	 Dr	 Basson,	 but	 at	 the	 close	 of	 the	 case	 of	 the	 Pro-
forma Complainant, he was acquitted on three charges. This 
was following an application for discharge, the ruling of which 
was	 handed	 down	 in	 January	 2012.	 The	 relevant	 charges	
are charge 1,2.1; those charges related mainly to research 
activities. 

The relevant charges for adjudication that remained and 
which Dr Basson was found guilty of, on 18 December 2013 
are the following:

Production Charge

During or about the period 1986 to 1988 and 1992 as project 
officer	 at	 Delta	 G	 he	 coordinated	 the	 production	 of	 the	
following	drugs	and	tear-gases	on	a	major	scale:

Methaqualone – Also known as Mandrax is a sedative 
drug.	The	usual	effects	 include	 the	 relaxation,	euphoria	and	
drowsiness, also reducing the heart rate and respiration. 
Larger doses can cause depression, a lack of muscular 
coordination and slurred speech. An overdose can cause 
delirium, convulsions, hypertonia, hyperplexia, vomiting, renal 
insufficiency,	coma	and	death	through	cardiac	or	respiratory	
arrest.

MDMA – Also known as Ecstasy and referred to in the 
criminal	 trial	 as	 ‘Baxil’.	 It	 is	 semi-synthetic	 entactogen	 of	
phenethylamine family considered a recreational drug. 
The	 effects	 are	 subjective	 feelings	 of	 openness,	 empathy,	
energy,	 euphoria	 and	 well-being.	 Common	 side	 effects	 are	
jaw	clenching	and	elevated	pulse.	Short-term	health	thedens	
include hypertension, dehydration and hyper¬ther¬mia.

BZ – Is an incapacitating agent. Approximately 30 minutes 
after exposure to BZ aerosol, symptoms appear such as 
disorientation with visual and auditory hallucinations. The 
symptoms peak and fall to 8 hours, and many take up to 4 
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days to pass. Other symptoms can include distended pupils, 
dry mouth, and increased body temperature. The action of 
BZ on the central and peripheral nervous systems resembles 
that of atropine. Like atropine, BZ binds to two muscarimic 
acetylcholine receptors. 

CS – Is a teargas which causes the eyes to sting and water. CS 
is rapidly hydrolysed in water.

CR – Is also an eye irritant (teargas), more potent but less toxic 
than CS.  CR is hydrolysed only to a negligible extent in water 
solution.

Weaponising Charge - adapt for use as a weapon

During	 the	1980’s	as	Project	Officer	of	Project	Coast	and	on	
the direct instruction of the Chief of the South African Defence 
Force you were involved to weaponise thousands of 120mm 
mortars with teargas; and/or

During	the	1980’s	he	had	some	of	the	120mm	mortars	filled	
with CR, referred to above, which mortars were supplied by 
the South African Defence Force to one Savimbi in Angola for 
use.

Over the border kidnapping charge

During or about 1983 – 1989 he on 2 to 4 occasions provided 
disorientation substances for over the border kidnapping 
(‘grab’) exercises, where the substances were used to 
tranquilise the person to be kidnapped.

Distribution Charge

During 1982 to 1989 he made available cyanide capsules to 
operational	officers	commanding	for	distribution	to	members	
of specialised units for suicidal usage.

CHALLENGES 

Investigation and prosecution of complaints 
against practitioners 

The	 Council’s	 turnaround	 time	 to	 finalise	 a	 complaint	 is	 18	
months. The turnaround time to investigate and place matters 
before a Committee of Preliminary Inquiry is 8 months from 
the date of receipt, then we have 10 months to prosecute the 
same before a Professional Conduct Commitee. Council have 
for years struggled to reach this target until such time that we 

realised that the high volumes per investigator was the problem. 
An	investigator	carried	an	average	of	600	files,	a	number	that	is	
100% above the acceptable norm of 300 matters. To address 
this anomaly, we have increased the capacity of investigators 
by	 employing	 five	 Assistant	 Legal	 Officers	 with	 effect	 from	 
5 December 2015. We now have a total of 10 investigators. 
The Senior Manager is conducting regular physical audits of 
files.	The	turnaround	time	for	investigations	is	improving	and	
we see more cases being considered by the Prelims. Council 
will	be	able	to	finalise	complaints	within	the	stipulated	period	
of 18 months.

Law enforcement and compliance 

Council has not been able to enforce compliance by 
practitioners with the provisions of the Health Professions Act, 
1974, the regulations and the ethical rules made thereunder. 
The Council has, in terms of its strategic plan determined the 
need	for	the	establishment	of	an	office	whose	primary	role	is	to	
ensure that registered practitioners comply with the provisions 
of the Act, the Rules and the Regulations. An Inspectorate 
Office	has	been	established,	this	Office	will	conduct	proactive	
inspections of premises to ensure compliance, assist the 
professional boards with the inspections on clinical and 
professional compliance matters, ensure compliance with 
penalties imposed by the Professional Conduct Committee, 
collect	 outstanding	 fines	 and	 attend	 to	 criminal	 matters	 in	
respect	 of	 unregistered	 persons.	 The	 Inspectorate	 Office	
became functional on 1 February 2015. The Inspectorate 
Office	in	terms	of	current	staffing	has	a	Manager	and	five	(5)	
Inspectors. Three of the Inspectors are going to be based in 
Durban, Port Elizabeth and Cape Town respectively. 
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OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN
Dr. Munyadziwa Kwinda
Ombudsman

“The office of the ombudsman received 
a total of 635 matters for mediation; 
of which 49% (307) were resolved; 
20% (128) referred for preliminary 
investigation and 31% (197) are under 
consideration.”
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STATUTORY FUNCTIONS

The	 office	 of	 the	 ombudsman	 was	 established	 to	 mediate	
in the cases of minor transgressions in terms of regulation  
2(3) (d) of the Regulations Relating to the Conduct of Inquiries 
into alleged Unprofessional Conduct under the Health 
Professions Act, 1974. In terms of these regulations, minor 
transgressions mean conduct which in the opinion of the 
Registrar or preliminary committee of inquiry, on the basis of 
the documents submitted to the registrar or such committee, 
is unprofessional, but of a minor nature, and does not warrant 
the holding of a formal professional conduct inquiry.

The	office	of	the	ombudsman	considers	any	referred	matter	
and mediates between parties with a view to making a 
determination to resolve the matter between the parties, 
advise the parties of the determination made on the matter 
and require them to indicate whether or not they will abide 
by the determination. If the parties agree to abide by the 
determination,	the	ombudsman	confirms	the	determination	in	
writing and the determination is then binding on both parties 
as	a	final	resolution	on	the	matter.	In	cases	where	either	party	
does not agree to abide by the determination, the matter is 
referred to the registrar for preliminary investigation.

STRATEGIC FOCUS

To ensure quality health services to the public and guidance 
to the professionals: The ombudsman has been involved with 
providing	 CPD	 accredited	 ethics	 presentations	 to	 different	
group of professionals registered under the act at CPD 
activities and conferences. Some of the topics presented are: 

• HPCSA Disciplinary Processes;
• Medical Negligence; and
• Medical Ethics and the South African Law: Uneasy 

Bedfellows.

The ombudsman has also been hosted twice on the SABC 
House Call and has responded to several media enquiries on 
both TV and Radio thereby guiding the practitioners and also 
educating the public.

To create an environment for professional boards to be 
proactive,	effective	and	compliant:	The	ombudsman	plays	an	
active role in Council/Council committees and Professional 
Boards	and	Boards	Committees.	The	office	of	the	ombudsman	
has a standing report to the Professional Conduct Review 
Committee of Council and the Medical and Dental Professions 
Board that forms 92% of the workload in the ombudsman’s 

office.	 The	 ombudsman	 has	 also	 contributed	 to	 the	 Board	
newsletters by providing articles informed by common 
complaints mediated upon.

To	 ensure	 effective,	 Efficient,	 economical	 and	 accountable	
administration:	 The	 office	 of	 the	 ombudsman	 has	 been	
strategically placed to deal with minor complaints that do 
not warrant the holding of a formal professional conduct 
inquiry	 with	 significant	 cost	 saving	 to	 council.	 The	 average	
turnaround	time	for	finalisation	of	complaints	in	the	office	of	
the ombudsman is 76 days.

To optimise synergies between council, government and other 
stakeholders	through	constructive	dialogue:	The	office	of	the	
ombudsman has participated in the medico legal summit 
organised by the department of health in March 2015 and has 
also	attended	several	conferences	and	summits	by	different	
stakeholders. Complaints not falling under the jurisdiction of 
the council were referred to appropriate bodies or tribunals 
and some complaints were received from such bodies. These 
includes the Department of Health, Council for Medical 
Schemes, Consumer Commission, South African Pharmacy 
Council and South African Nursing Council.

To	 ensure	 effective,	 efficient	 and	 economical	 governance	 in	
accordance with best practice: A new organisational structure 
to	improve	the	effectiveness	of	the	office	of	the	ombudsman	
was	approved	by	Council	in	this	financial	year.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT

The	office	of	 the	ombudsman	received	a	 total	of	635	matters	 for	mediation;	of	which	49%	(307)	where	resolved;	20%	(128)	
referred for preliminary investigation and 31% (197) are under consideration. Of the 307 matters resolved, 17% (42) were 
resolved through contact(face to face) mediation.

CONTACT MEDIATION: PROVINCIAL DISTRIBUTION

Of the 307 matters resolved, 17% (42) were resolved through contact mediation. Majority of the  contact mediations were in 
Gauteng	at	38%		(16)	followed	by	KwaZulu-Natal	at	21%	(9)	Western	Cape	at	17%	(7);	North	West	at	14%	(6)	and	Mpumalanga,	
Eastern Cape, Northern Cape and Free State at 2% (1) each.

20

15

10

5

0

NUMBER OF CONTACT MEDIATIONS PER PROVINCE

Number of complaints

Gauteng Western Cape Mpumalanga Northern Cape

16

9
7

6

1 1 1 1

800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED AND MANAGED

Number of complaints

Total complaints
received

635

307

42
128

197

Total complaints
referred for prelim

SECTION 3: EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
Office of the Ombudsman



- 47 -

BOARD DISTRIBUTION OF COMPLAINTS

Analysis of 578 complaints according to board distribution showed that the medical and dental professions board account for 
92% (529) of the complaints followed by the psychology board at 3% (15); Occupational Therapy, Medical Orthotics, Prosthesis 
and Arts Therapy Board at 3% (14); Optometry and Dispensing Opticians Board at 2% (9); Physiotherapy, Podiatry and Biokinetics 
Board at 1% (6); Medical Technology Board at 1% (3); Dietetics and Nutrition Board at 0.3% (2) and the Emergency Care Board at 
0.2% (1). There were no complaints mediated for practitioners registered under the following boards:

• Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene;
• Environmental Health;
• Radiography and Clinical technology; and
• Speech, Language and Hearing Professions.
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PROVINCIAL DISTRIBUTION OF COMPLAINTS

The	provincial	distribution	of	complaints	is	a	reflection	of	the	register	of	practitioners	with	Gauteng,	where	most	practitioners	
registered	under	the	Act	are	practicing	accounting	for	61%	(338)	of	complaints	followed	by	KwaZulu-Natal	at	14%	(75);	Western	
Cape at 12% (68); Eastern Cape at 3% (18); Free State at 3% (17); Mpumalanga at 12.5% (14); North West at 2% (9) and Limpopo 
and Northern Cape at 1% (7) each. Of the nine (9) complaints from North West, 67% (6) were resolved through contact mediation.

NATURE OF COMPLAINTS

The	nature	of	complaints	received	by	the	office	of	the	ombudsman	was	those	related	to	fees,	medical	reports	and	communication.	
Of 600 complaints analysed according to nature of complaints, those related to fees formed the majority of complaints at 48% 
(285) followed by complaints related to communication at 28% (165) and those related to medical reports at 24%(145). The 
remaining 1% (5) of the complaints could not be categorised under the three categories.
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CASE STUDY

This case has been included in this report to highlight some of 
the	cases	handled	by	the	Office	of	the	Ombudsman	that	had	a	
significant	change	in	the	lives	of	the	complainants.

This	 is	 a	 case	 of	 a	man	who	was	 injured	 on	 duty	 in	 January	
2012 and died at the hospital in March 2012 (he was never 
discharged home since admission after the injury on 
duty).	 When	 completing	 the	 death	 notification	 form,	 the	
attending doctor registered the cause of death as “natural”. 
The Department of labour paid the family for the injury on 
duty claims only and not death due to injury on duty as the 
death was not related to the injury on duty according to the 
attending	 doctor.	 At	 the	 time	 the	 deceased’s	 first	 born	 was	
only 12 years old. While investigating this matter we failed to 
obtain the hospital records as it was already after 12 years 
since the incident. Fortunately, the department of Labour still 
had	the	records	including	the	final	medical	report	completed	
by the same doctor against whom the complaint was lodged. 
According to this report the cause of death was recorded as 
“nosocomial infection” meaning that the hospitalisation of the 
patient contributed to the deceased’s death. A determination 
was made that the doctor acted negligently by overlooking the 
fact that this was a death related to an injury on duty which 
the	 doctor	 acknowledged.	 The	 office	 of	 the	 ombudsman	
recommended that the doctor should write a formal apology 
acknowledging his error and same will be attached to the letter 
that	will	be	written	by	the	office	of	the	ombudsman	which	will	be	
given to the complainant to take to the Department of Labour: 
The	case	was	re-opened	by	the	Department	of	Labour	and	the	
family	received	a	pay-out	of	R400,000	and	are	also	receiving	a	
monthly payment of about R4,000. 

Lesson learned from this case: Although matters related 
to medical reports formed a minority of cases referred to 
the	 office	 of	 the	 ombudsman,	 failure	 or	 delay	 to	 complete	
or incorrect completion of medical reports by practitioners 
has far reaching negative consequences for patients and/or 
their	 relatives.	 The	 office	of	 the	 ombudsman	has	 also	 learnt	
that	most	practitioners	do	not	understand	the	significance	of	
completing medical reports timeously or correctly. Continuing 
professional development in this area should be mandatory for 
all the practitioners.

CHALLENGES

Staff	 capacity:	 As	 indicated	 in	 this	 report,	 31%	 (197)	 of	
the matters referred to the ombudsman are still under 
consideration with an average turnaround time for resolving 
complaints	of	76	days.	This	is	because	of	the	staff	capacity	in	
the	office	of	the	Ombudsman	which	is	composed	of	only	the	
Ombudsman and Assistant to Ombudsman. This challenge 
will	be	overcome	in	the	following	financial	year	as	Council	has	
approved	a	new	structure	with	additional	staff	for	the	office	of	
the ombudsman.

Legal representation in mediation: Involvement of legal 
representatives in mediation is a challenge as most 
complainants feel threatened to receive letters of explanations 
from attorneys whereas they complained to the HPCSA 
expecting that the matters will be resolved amicably.

CONCLUSION

Although	 the	 office	 of	 the	 ombudsman	 has	 not	 been	
empowered by legislation to impose any of the penalties 
according to section 42 of the Health Professions Act, the 
office	of	the	ombudsman	has	made	the	lives	of	complainants	
to	be	better	off	after	they	lodged	complaints	of	unprofessional	
conduct with the HPCSA. A penalty of restitution has been 
indirectly imposed in matters where practitioners have acted 
unprofessionally as shown in the case study above.
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PUBLIC RELATIONS AND 
SERVICE DELIVERY
Ms. Charmaine Motloung
Senior Manager

“The Council values media liaison 
as an important tool in informing 
stakeholders, consumers and the public 
at large about its initiatives to guide  the 
professions and protect the public.”
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Public Relations and Service Delivery Department is 
responsible for media liaison, stakeholder relations, branding 
and marketing, internal communications, events, the call 
centre and service delivery. Our strategic objective is ensuring 
service	delivery	excellence,	pro-active	reputation	management	
and ongoing communication initiatives that support the 
Council’s	strategic	objectives,	and	reflect	the	core	objectives	of	
the Public Relations and Service Delivery department. 

CUSTOMER SERVICE INITIATIVES

The HPCSA Call Centre serves as a critical contact point for 
clients.	The	Call	Centre	is	constituted	with	a	team	of	20	officials	
comprising of a supervisor, two team leaders, 12 agents 
answering calls, two call centre administrators who handle 
complex queries, two information email consultants and a 
social media administrator. 

Our records indicate that clients are increasingly using this 
service via telephone, email or social media platforms such as 
Facebook and Twitter. In the year under review, the Call Centre 
handled	 over	 141,000	 calls,	 with	 approximately	 43,000	 info-
email enquiries.

To	 ensure	 efficiency,	 a	 monthly	 report	 highlighting	 areas	
of concern, complaints and compliments is compiled and 
distributed to departmental managers so that remedial action 
should be taken.

In order to address the challenges encountered in the Call 
Centre, the following innovative measures were implemented 
to improve and provide quality service:

•	 	A	self-service	Interactive	Voice	Recording	(IVR)	capability	
which provides clients with easy access to information 
(e.g. banking details) without the need to interact with an 
agent. 

•  All incoming Call Centre calls are recorded for quality 
assurance and all recorded calls have a view screen 
recording in order to monitor how the agent views and 
verifies	 practitioner’s	 profile,	 status,	 information	 and	
searches for documents on our systems. This helps to 
identify training and development needs and ensure 
that we achieve standards of excellent service and 
competency.

•	 	To	ensure	that	practitioners	were	not	struck	off	the		
	register	for	non-payment	of	annual	fees,	the	Call	Centre	
embarked on a project to call over 11,500 practitioners 
within	a	period	of	a	week		to	 inform	them	of	their	non-
payment of annual fees. This initiative proved successful, 
as there was a decrease of numbers who were supposed 
to have been erased. 

As	 a	means	 of	 improving	 service,	 in	 the	 next	 financial	 year,	
going forward, practitioners will now have the opportunity of 
updating or changing their addresses by calling the Call Centre. 
This also includes the printing of the practising cards. 

MEDIA LIAISON AND PUBLICITY

The Council values media liaison as an important tool in 
informing stakeholders, consumers and the public at large 
about its initiatives to guide to professions and protect the 
public. 

To warrant that key achievements for all projects within the 
Council	 were	 effectively	 communicated,	 interaction	 with	 the	
media	through	media	statements,	interviews,	official	comments	
as	well	as	media	briefings	were	some	of	the	interventions	that	
were utilised to ensure that the HPCSA message is conveyed.

With the all the above initiatives and responding to general 
media enquiries from local and national media, the publicity 
generated translated into rand (R) worth of Advertising Value 
Equivalent (AVE) spend.  Media coverage was at its peak in 
December due to the much publicised disciplinary hearings 
of Dr Wouter Basson, who was found guilty on a number of 
charges. The sentencing of Dr Basson is continuing in the 
2014/15	financial	year.

WEBSITE REVAMP

The HPCSA website remains an important online gateway 
for stakeholders (HPCSA members, healthcare students, 
international medical graduates, patients and the public, 
employers, and the media) to access the Council’s mandate, 
regulatory documents, registration forms, and other related 
documents	 that	 enable	 practitioners	 to	 function	 efficiently	
within the ambits of the law.

The website’s design and content architecture was reviewed 
and revamped during the reporting period, the new website 
is easy to navigate and is compatible with handheld devices.  
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Council interacts with a wide range of stakeholders 
including health practitioners, the public, medical students, 
state-owned	entities,	government	departments,	parliamentary	
portfolio	 committees,	 non-governmental	 groups,	 interest	
groups, academic institutions and a variety of associations. 

Newsletters both in print and electronic formats remain the 
preferred communication medium from professional boards 
to members. Each of the 12 professional boards issue an 
annual newsletter for practitioners within the respective 
disciplines,	 with	 a	 generic	 newsletter	 (e-bulletin)	 sent	 out	
to all practitioners registered with the HPCSA. Practitioners 
have been encouraged to update their email and cellphone 
numbers	with	Council	to	allow	for	real-time	communication.

On 26 March 2015, the HPCSA embarked on practitioner 
roadshows.	 The	 first	 roadshow	 took	 place	 in	 Cape	 Town	
at the Grand West Conference Centre. The roadshow 
survey conducted revealed that 80% of the practitioners 
found roadshows an excellent and informative initiative 
and appreciated contact with HPCSA. Approximately 700 
practitioners attended the roadshow in Cape Town. The 
roadshows also provide practitioners with an opportunity to 
interact	with	the	different	professional	boards.	In	the	financial	
year 2014/15, the roadshows will take place in Gauteng and 
KwaZulu-Natal.	 To	 ensure	 that	 the	 HPCSA	 reaches	 most	

areas in South Africa, the roadshows will be accompanied by 
symposiums. A national student roadshow campaign aimed at 
informing students of the importance of registering with Council 
as well as the process, the latest ethical rules and information 
on the HPCSA’s Health Committee, was also conducted for the 
majority of tertiary training institutions across the country. 

Interaction with grassroots communities takes place during 
the celebration of industry calendar days such as the World 
Environment Day and Radiography Day. Council participated 
in in eight industry exhibitions. At all these occasions, Council 
deploys its leadership, managers and showcases its services 
by distributing information material and setting up exhibition 
stands. 

INTERNAL COMMUNICATION

The leadership and management of the HPCSA engages with 
internal	stakeholders	at	our	head	and	regional	offices	through	
a	 combination	 of	 various	 media,	 including	 staff	 meetings,	
intranet, a daily internal online publication and a quarterly 
print newsletter. 

Council values communications and engagement with internal 
and external stakeholders, and can always improve this aspect 
through	the	availability	of	more	human	and	financial	resources.
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FACILITY MANAGEMENT AND 
SUPPORT SERVICES
Ms. Olivia Fisher
Support Services Officer

“The facility management and support 
services won the “Department of the 
year” award for the second consecutive 
year at the HPCSA year-end function 
2014. This award was last achieved 
consecutively in year 2003 and 2004.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

The	 team’s	 efforts	 during	 2014/2015	 were	 guided	 by	 the	
following key strategic objectives:

• To provide a facilities management system by way of 
maintaining council’s assets and ensure the upkeep of 
buildings;

•	 To	 efficiently	 manage	 the	 internal	 and	 external	 mail	
service; and

• To reproduce the bulk of Council’s documents, 
including agendas and minutes for all committees and 
subcommittees as well as the Professional Boards.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Apart from managing its key objectives, the department 
continued its supportive role in other services which included 
the coordination of the venue and tea services, rendering 
of stationery supplies and providing administrative support 
to the tender committee.  Due to the HPCSA’s ever growing 
staff	 complement,	 the	 team	 was	 continually	 faced	 with	 the	
challenge	of	providing	office	space	for	newly	appointed	staff.	
This was partially accomplished by converting some of the 
offices	into	open	plan	and	succeeding	in	grouping	the	various	
departments	together	in	order	to	enhance	the	work	flow.

PROFILING (ACHIEVEMENTS AND OTHER KEY 

ACTIVITIES)

The Department won the “Department of the year” award for 
the	second	consecutive	year	at	the	HPCSA	year-end	function	
2014. This award was last achieved consecutively in year 2003 
and 2004. 

This award is possibly the most sought after award within 
HPCSA. Departments within the HPCSA vote for the 
department which they regard as the best in rendering a 
service to internal and external stakeholders with the best 
spirit and communication standards, sense of urgency, and 
one which  makes a contribution to realising council’s goals. 
The	prize	for	this	esteemed	award	is	a	floating	trophy;	a	lunch	
outing for the department and a trip to a surprise location for 
the manager and his/her partner as an incentive.

One	of	our	Maintenance	Officers	was	awarded	the	inaugural	
COO’s award for living the values of Council. 

UPGRADING

During the period under review, the department managed 
to complete several maintenance projects, including the 
renovation of the council chambers. We also embarked 
on a space planning exercise to accommodate the newly 
established	Inspectorate	unit	within	head	office	as	well	as	start	
with preparations to accommodate the inspectorate in the 
Western	Cape,	Eastern	Cape	and	KwaZulu-Natal.	Considering	
the	age	of	the	buildings,	some	of	the	offices	and	floors	were	
in dire need for refurbishment and space planning projects 
provided an opportunity to simultaneously revamp some of 
the	offices	in	the	buildings.

FOCUS FOR THE NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR

Due	to	the	ever	growing	staff	complement	and	the	increase	in	
the practitioner register, council remains challenged with the 
shortage	of	office	space	for	staff	and	clients	especially	during	
peak periods. In order to proactively prepare for council’s 
growth prospects, our primary focus for the coming year will 
be aimed at expanding and developing the acquired garage 
premises adjoining the HPCSA (Metrodenpark) building. An 
alternative solution would be to acquire an existing building 
that suits the requirements of the HPCSA.  This option however 
is	still	under	review.		In	addition,	we	will	also	acquire	a	back-up	
generator for the Metrodenpark building.  
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PROFESSIONAL BOARDS
Ms. Adelle Taljaard
Acting General Manager

“Professional Boards are statutory 
structures whose overall objective 
is to ensure the establishment and 
maintenance of acceptable levels of 
healthcare services in the professions 
under their control.”
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INTRODUCTION 

The primary function of the Department of Professional Boards 
is to provide administrative support to the 12 Professional 
Boards under the auspices of the Health Professions Council.  
The underlying consideration for ensuring quality assurance 
at the HPCSA is the protection of the public through the 
establishment of a policy framework to ensure the provision 
of health care professionals who are competent to practise 
their professions ethically. The Health Professions Act, Act 56 
of 1974 sets a fundamental basis for the quality assurance 
system of the HPCSA. 

Professional Boards are statutory structures whose overall 
objective is to ensure the establishment and maintenance 
of acceptable levels of healthcare services in the professions 
under their control. In terms of section 15 A of the Health 
Professions Act, Act 56 of 1974, Professional Boards assume 
control	and	exercise	authority	in	respect	of	all	matters	affecting	
the training of persons in, and the manner of the exercise 
of the practices pursued in connection with, any profession 
failing within the ambit of the professional Board, and to 
maintain and enhance the dignity of the profession and the 
integrity of the persons practising the profession. In terms of 
these delegations professional boards have a responsibility to:

• Determine and ensure maintenance of standards for 
professional practice and professional conduct;

• Determine and ensure upholding of standards for 
education and training;

•	 Grant	 certification	 to	 students	 and	 to	 compliant	
practitioners to practice professions;

• Register, where applicable, graduates for internship;
• Register, where applicable, graduates for community 

service; and
• Develop policy and formulate regulations and rules of 

conduct for professional practice.

THE MAIN OBJECTIVES OF PROFESSIONAL BOARDS 

The objectives of a professional board is: 

• To consult and liaise with other professional boards and 
relevant	authorities	on	matters	affecting	the	professional	
board; 

• To assist in the promotion of the health of the population 
of the Republic on a national basis; 

• Subject to legislation regulating health care providers 
and consistency with national policy determined by the 
Minister, to control and to exercise authority in respect of 

all	matters	affecting	the	education	and	training	of	persons	
in, and the manner of the exercise of the practices 
pursued in connection with, any health profession falling 
within the ambit of the professional board;

•	 To	 promote	 liaison	 in	 the	 field	 of	 the	 education	 and	
training contemplated in paragraph (c), both in the 
Republic and elsewhere, and to promote the standards of 
such education and training in the Republic; 

• To make recommendations to the council to advise the 
Minister on any matter falling within the scope of this 
Act as it relates to any health profession falling within 
the ambit of the professional board in order to support 
the universal norms and values of such profession or 
professions, with greater emphasis on professional 
practice, democracy, transparency, equity, accessibility 
and community involvement; 

• To make recommendations to the council and the 
Minister on matters of public importance acquired by the 
professional board in the course of the performance of its 
functions under this Act; 

• To maintain and enhance the dignity of the relevant health 
profession and the integrity of the persons practising such 
profession; and; 

• To guide the relevant health profession or professions 
and to protect the public.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE DEPARTMENT 

PROFESSIONAL BOARDS

The strategic plan of the Professional Boards Department 
was based on the strategic goals of Council and the strategic 
objectives	 of	 different	 professional	 boards.	 The	 following	
strategic	 objectives	 were	 identified	 and	 implemented	
effectively	during	the	past	year	for	the	Department,	namely	to	:

• Ensure education of all Board members and Committees 
on their roles and responsibilities;

• Raise awareness of the roles and responsibilities of the 
Boards with the public and professionals;

• Establish discussion forums with stakeholders;
• Enhance awareness mechanisms;
• Update policy, Guidelines and Regulations in line with 

applicable legislative mandates and national imperatives;
•	 Establish	the	Education	and	Training	Office;
• Develop the licensing requirements, framework and 

process for licensing professional healthcare practices; 
and

•	 Ensure	 effective,	 efficient,	 economical	 and	 accountable	
administration.
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The	strategic	plans	of	the	different	professional	boards	were	
updated on a regular basis to ensure relevance and alignment 
to the operational plan of the Department.

THE OPERATIONAL PLAN OF THE DEPARTMENT 

The Professional Boards provide administrative support 
to	 ensure	 that	 the	 Boards	 fulfill	 their	 responsibilities	 as	
determined in the Health Professions Act, Act 56 of 1974. The 
activities of the Professional Boards Department are guided by 
the annual operational plan of the Department. The objectives 
of the operational plan are:

• To set educational and training standards (ensure 
compliance);

• To foster compliance with set standards;
• To provide strategic and coordinating role to Professional 

Boards;
• To manage stakeholder interactions;
•	 To	manage	 risks	 in	 the	Department	 as	 identified	 in	 the	

Risk Management Plan;
•	 To	ensure	effective	and	efficient	management	of	financial,	

human and infrastructural resources to accomplish set 
goals; and

•	 to	facilitate	effective	policy	making	processes.

THE NOMINATION PROCESS OF MEMBERS TO 

SERVE ON THE NEW BOARDS

The	 term	of	office	of	 the	 current	Professional	Boards	 come	
to	 an	 end	 in	 June	 2015	 and	 an	 internal	 Task	 Team	 was	
appointed to oversee the project and ensure that the process 
was transparent and fair. An independent external service 
provider was appointed to oversee and verify nominations to 
ensure that the nominations received were valid.

The nomination invitations closed on 30 October 2014 and 
the	Electoral	Office	verified	the	nominations	which	were	sent	
to	the	Office	of	the	Minister	early	in	2015	with	a	view	to	final	
appointment of members.

PROGRESS MADE IN LINE WITH STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES AND ACHIEVEMENTS

Setting and reviewing standards for education 
and training and professional practice

The main purpose of professional boards in setting and 
reviewing standards for education and training and 

professional practice is to ensure delivery of competent 
practitioners who will render healthcare services that meets 
healthcare needs of the South African population. The Boards 
developed clear procedures and guidelines for the design and 
development	of	qualifications	which	 took	 into	 consideration	
requirements of other relevant statutory bodies such as the 
South	African	Qualifications	Authority	 as	well	 as	 the	Council	
on Higher Education. Boards also undertook regular review of 
standards generated to ensure currency and relevance based 
on the health care needs of the population.

BOARD ACTIVITIES 

During the past year, positive progress had been made in line 
with the strategic objectives and achievements in terms of 
board activities. During the period 1 April 2014 until 31 March 
2015, a number of meetings and workshops were facilitated 
as follows: 

ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF 
ACTIVITIES 

Professional Board meetings 28

Subcommittee meetings 124

Stakeholder meetings 19

Workshops 11

Task Team meetings 24

Board Examinations 9

 
Evaluations were conducted at 11 education and training 
institutions and 1,475 candidates were accommodated in 
examinations	 facilitated	 by	 the	 different	 boards	 in	 order	
to ensure the registration of duly trained and competent 
practitioners. 

REVIEW OF THE BOARD EXAMINATION PROCESS 

As part of the quality assurance functions, the Education, 
Training and Quality Assurance Committee of the HPCSA 
embarked on an activity to monitor the standards of 
examinations across Boards. The examination guidelines and 
policies especially, with reference to the standardisation of 
the processes, the integration of examinations and quality 
assurance of the examination process was undertaken and 
was still work in progress.
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EVALUATION AND ACCREDITATION OF 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

The main purpose of professional boards in setting and 
reviewing standards for education and training and professional 
practice is to ensure delivery of competent practitioners who 
will render health care services that meet health care needs. 
The Boards developed clear procedures and guidelines for 
the	design	and	development	of	qualifications	which	took	into	
consideration requirements of other relevant bodies such 
as	 the	South	African	Qualifications	Authority	and	Council	on	
Higher Education. Boards also undertook regular review of 
standards generated to ensure currency and relevance.

Professional Boards continued to review guidelines for 
their quality assurance functions in order to streamline and 
standardise processes. Training and orientation of evaluators 
was undertaken by six (6) of the boards in order to ensure 
that members appointed to conduct evaluations successfully 
executed their mandate according to the revised guidelines 
and in order to build capacity for this function.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

A Memorandum of Understanding was entered into between 
the HPCSA and Council on Higher Education (CHE) and the 
purpose of the Memorandum was to advance the objectives of 
the	Higher	Education	Act	and	more	specifically	to	bring	order	
and certainty in the quality assurance functions regarding 
higher education programmes leading to a professional 
designation. 

IMPROVEMENT OF COMMUNICATION 

As part of the objective of the Department to enhance 
communication and improve the visibility of boards various 
conferences and congresses were attended by members 
and the administration such as SAMA, ECCSA, IAMRA, PsySSA, 
SIOPSA and SMLTSA.

Each Board was hosting a dedicated website page as part of 
the HPCSA website and the website was revamped in 2014 to 
be	more	user-friendly.	All	boards	contributed	to	the	updating	
of the website with accurate and relevant information. 

Other means to improve communication with stakeholders 
undertaken	 by	 boards	 were	 board	 specific	 road	 shows,	 the	
conducting of annual meetings with Heads of Departments 
and participation in health related days such as World 

Radiography Day, World Environmental Health Day, World 
Health Day, World Mental Health Day and World Cancer Day. 

One of the means of communication was the issuing of 
at least one newsletter per annum per board in order to 
communicate important profession and administrative related 
issues to registered professionals and students. This included 
new developments such as new regulations, policies and 
procedures.

All Boards also contributed to articles in the Bulletin Magazine 
which was issued during this period.

REVIEW OF SCOPES

Due to changes in the education, training and practice 
requirements	 of	 different	 professions	 six	 (6)	 of	 the	 boards	
undertook a process of scope review. Another issue that 
required scope reviews was the overlap of scopes. These 
processes required extensive consultation with stakeholders 
and international benchmarking against best practice. 

PROMOTION OF THE HEALTH OF THE POPULATION 

During the recent term the Department was involved in 
a number of policy developments which required active 
involvement of Professional Boards. These developments 
included the following:

•	 The	 implementation	 of	 the	 National	 Qualifications	
Framework	Act	(2008)	by	the	South	African	Qualifications	
Authority (SAQA);

• The publication of the National Policy on the National 
Health Insurance by the National Department of Health; 

• The publication of the Strategy for Human Resource for 
Health in South Africa by the National Department of 
Health; and

• The publication of the Green Paper on Post School 
Education and Training in South Africa.

One of the impacts of these developments was the 
enhancement of the mandate and the demand that the HPCSA 
and Professional Boards be more proactive in ensuring that 
it continued to execute its regulatory and quality assurance 
mandate	effectively.

The SAQA embarked on a project to implement one of its 
mandates	 which	 derive	 from	 the	 National	 Qualifications	
Framework (NQF) Act. The project included a pilot phase 
project to test and enhance the SAQA process for registration 
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of Professional Bodies and the professional designators which 
these bodies award to registered practitioners. The HPCSA 
participated successfully in this project and has registered its 
professional designators with SAQA.

Professional Boards engaged actively with the draft policy 
on the NHI and the strategy for HRH to promote awareness, 
debate and ultimately active participation and support to 
these critical initiatives which are aimed at enhancing access 
to and provision of healthcare to the South African population. 
Professional Boards were committed into making sure that 
professions	at	the	HPCSA	contribute	to	the	effectiveness	and	
success of these initiatives.

Professional Boards also participated in the comment phase 
of the green paper on post school education and training in 
South Africa to gain insight into the present concerns about 
post school education and to promote discussions in the 
professions about steps that can be taken to address post 
school education and training needs in health.

INTER PROFESSIONAL BOARD FORUM 

The	 Inter-Professional	Board	Forum	was	established	 to	deal	
with	 transversal	 issues	 which	 were	 not	 exclusive	 to	 specific	
professional boards and at least two meetings were held 
during the past year. The mandate of the Forum included 
but was not limited to National Legislation and Policy matters 
affecting	more	 than	one	profession	such	as	National	Health	
Insurance and the Human Resources Strategy for Health.

The standardisation of policy and operational guidelines 
and implementation of universal policy matters relating to 
directives issued by the HPCSA to Professional Boards and the 
review of universal policy matters to avoid inconsistencies was 
also part of the mandate of this structure.

NEED FOR INCREASED HUMAN CAPACITY 

The growth in the registers currently managed by the Council 
and boards resulted in a need for increased administrative 
support to deal with complex issues and to provide guidance 
to boards. Therefore, the Department was capacitated in 
terms of increased human resources with the required skills 
and experience. This would enable the Department to render 
a	more	effective	and	efficient	service	to	professionals	as	well	
as to boards. 

STRATEGY TO MANAGE AND MINIMISE RISKS IN 

THE DEPARTMENT

Failure by the Council and Boards to execute its mandate will 
result	 in	an	 ineffective	regulation	of	 the	professions	and	will	
have	(adverse)	inherent	reputational	risks.	Ineffective	Boards	
will negatively impact on the supply of Human Resources 
critically needed in the Healthcare System of the country. Risks 
were	identified	and	mitigating	measures	were	applied	during	
the	past	year	to	manage	and	reduce	the	risks	effectively.

OUTSTANDING ACTIVITIES FOR THE NEXT 

FINANCIAL YEAR

The	following	issues	had	been	flagged	and	will	be	dealt	with	by	
the new boards:

•	 The	establishment	of	the	Education	and	Training	Office;	
• Further input and consultation on the draft framework 

for maintenance of licensure (aka revalidation or 
recertification);	and

•	 Exploring	the	options	for	conducting	on-line	examinations	
in order to protect the integrity of examinations.
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DENTAL THERAPY AND 
ORAL HYGIENE
Ms. Vidyah Amrit
Chairperson

“The Board developed post graduate 
qualification for Dental Therapists and 
Oral Hygienists and an Advanced Higher 
Certificate for Dental Assistants. ”
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OVERVIEW

During	the	2014/15	financial	year,	the	Board	tirelessly	pursued	
the strategic areas for promotion in line with its vision, 
namely; quality oral healthcare through public protection and 
professional advancement. This is in line with its mission to 
promote oral healthcare to all through ensuring compliance 
with professional registration, appropriate education and 
training standards, the development of professional practice 
and ensuring stakeholder participation. 

To	this	end,	the	Board	developed	post	graduate	qualifications	
for Dental Therapists and Oral Hygienists and an Advanced 
Higher	 Certificate	 for	 Dental	 Assistants.	 The	 Board	 also	
developed a criterion for the accreditation for clinical training 
sites and guidelines for mobile clinics. In keeping with its 
strategic objective to ensure quality education and training, 
the	Board	undertook	evaluations	for	re-accreditation	of	all	the	
education and training programmes for the professions under 
its	ambit	within	the	five-year	evaluation	cycle.	All	the	education	
institutions	have	been	re-accredited.

The Board also reviewed its policies, guidelines and reporting 
templates to ensure standardisation in all its processes and 
procedures. Stakeholders’ input for pertinent documents were 
invited and considered during the review of these documents. 
The Board developed guidelines for stakeholder engagement. 
These documents ensure the streamlining of the work of the 
Board and also assist the incoming Board with continuity and 
maintaining high quality standards that have been set for the 
professions under the ambit of the Board and to build thereon. 

ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE BOARD AND ITS 

COMMITTEES

The changes within the National Department of Health 
(NDoH) and the Department of Higher Education and Training 
(DHET), the introduction of projects, such as the National 
Health Insurance Plan (NHI), the revised Higher Education 
Qualifications	 Sub-Framework	 (HEQSF),	 the	 Memorandum	
of Understanding between the Council on Higher Education 
(CHE) and the HPCSA, became the focal point of departure for 
many projects the Board undertook.

The Board has achieved numerous milestones within the last 
five	years.	To	this	end,	the	Board	had	the	privilege	of	meeting	
with the Minister of Health, Dr Aaron Motsoaledi, to discuss 
the key role of the Dental Assistants, Dental Therapists and 
Oral Hygienists in oral health service delivery to the South 
African population based on the NHI.

On 13 September 2013, the Minister of Health, in consultation 
with the Medicines Control Council, promulgated the updated 
Schedules of Substances to allow Dental Therapists to 
prescribe the substances listed in the Schedules. 

The Minister also promulgated the regulations relating to the 
qualifications	for	registration	of	Oral	Hygienists,	which	provide	
for Oral Hygienists to register in the category “independent 
practice”, as well as the regulations relating to the revised 
scopes of the professions of Dental Assistants, Dental 
Therapists and Oral Hygienists.

The legislative mandate of the Board, in terms of Section 16 
of the Health Professions Act, 1974, is to set education and 
training standards for the professions that fall under the ambit 
of the Board and the need to train more professionals in these 
three categories as per the Human Resources Strategy for 
Health Plan of the NDoH. To this end, the Board met with the 
DHET and the CHE to establish a working relationship for the 
new Board to take matters forward. Similar meetings were 
conducted with education institutions to increase the number 
of students being trained and establishing new programmes 
at	different	education	institutions.	

In line with the Board’s mandate of ensuring that the 
programmes	 offered	 at	 the	 education	 institutions	meet	 the	
minimum standards to ensure the delivery of competently 
and appropriately trained graduates, the Board has 
successfully completed the evaluations of the Dental Assisting 
programmes	offered	at	the	four	Universities	of	Technology,	as	
well as the evaluations of the Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene 
programmes	 offered	 at	 the	 four	 traditional	 universities,	 the	
last one to be completed in April 2015.

CHALLENGES

• South African Dental Association (SADA) instituted legal 
action with regard to the promulgated regulations relating 
to	the	qualifications	for	registration	of	Dental	Assistants.	
The regulations were promulgated by the Minister in 2005 
and in 2013 SADA decided to challenge these regulations 
in court. The court ruled in favour of the Board, namely 
that	 the	 regulations	 relating	 to	 the	 qualifications	 for	
registration of Dental Assistants will remain in force. 
However, SADA has now appealed to the Supreme Court 
of Appeal. The date of the court hearing has not yet been 
confirmed.
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• SADA is also challenging the promulgated regulations 
relating to the revised scope of the profession of Dental 
Therapy in court. The regulations were promulgated 
in 2012 and SADA instituted legal action in 2014. The 
Minister	 is	 the	 first	 respondent	 in	 this	 matter	 and	 the	
Board the second respondent. The Minister decided not 
to oppose, as he is not in a position to show evidence 
that he has applied his mind to the regulations prior to 
the promulgation thereof. In these circumstances, the 
Board is not in a position to proceed, as the Minister is 
the custodian of the regulations and the Board had no 
alternative but to withdraw. 

•	 The	 Board	 submitted	 amendment	 regulations	 defining	
the scope of the profession of Dental Therapists where 
the regulations have a provision that indicates that Dental 
Therapists who have not undergone training in the 
additional activities in the revised scope of the profession, 
are not allowed to perform any of those activities.

•	 The	Board	revised	the	qualifications	for	Dental	Therapists,	
but the education institutions are not prepared to 
implement the revised programme.

• Administering of local anaesthetics, which was in the 
regulations	defining	the	scope	of	 the	profession	of	Oral	
Hygienists since 2000, was omitted from the regulations 
when the Minister promulgated the regulations relating 
to the amended scope of practice. Council approved the 
amendment regulations and the Legal Department has 
now forwarded the amendment regulations to the NDoH 
for publication by the Minister for public comment.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Determining and upholding the standards of 
education and training

The Board developed a strategic plan in 2010 in line with 
Council’s strategic objectives and values. The Board also 
developed an operational plan and risk management plan, 
and reviewed these documents annually to ensure its strategic 
objectives are aligned with national imperatives as well as the 
developments within the education environment. 

In keeping with the Board’s strategic objective to ensure quality 
education and training, the Board undertook evaluations for 
re-accreditation	of	all	the	education	and	training	programmes	
for	 the	 professions	 under	 its	 ambit	 within	 the	 five-year	
evaluation cycle.

The Board, in terms of its strategic objective to ensure 
appropriate standards for education and training and the 
monitoring and maintenance of the set standards, developed 
and	reviewed	the	following	qualifications/policies/guidelines:

•	 The	Board	reviewed	and	aligned	the	qualifications	of	the	
professions under its ambit with the Higher Education 
Qualifications	Sub-Framework	(HEQSF);

•	 The	 Board	 developed	 a	 post	 graduate	 qualification	 for	
Dental Therapists and Oral Hygienists and an Advanced 
Higher	Certificate	for	Dental	Assistants.	These	documents	
were circulated to stakeholders for comment/input and 
still have to be implemented;

•	 Self-evaluation	portfolio	 for	education	 institutions	 (Form	
285);

• Evaluation report template;
• Accreditation process guidelines (Form 331);
• Guidelines for evaluators for the evaluation of education 

and training programmes (Form 331A);
• List of generic questions for evaluation visits (Form 331B);
•	 Code	 of	 Conduct	 and	 Declaration	 of	 Confidentiality	 for	

evaluators;
• Examination preparation guide (Form 322);
• Application form to write examination (Form 325);
• Examination Guidelines (Form 326);
• Moderation Policy (Form 327);
•	 Code	 of	 Conduct	 and	 Declaration	 of	 Confidentiality	 for	

examiners and moderators (Form 328);
• Institutional annual report template to be completed and 

submitted	by	education	institutions	by	the	end	of	January	
each year;

• Accreditation criteria for clinical training sites;
• Guidelines for mobile clinics; and
•	 The	 Minister	 promulgated	 the	 regulations	 defining	 the	

scope	 of	 the	 profession	 of	 Dental	 Assisting	 (R.396	 -	 31	
May	2012),	Dental	Therapy	(R706	-	31	August	2012)	and	
Oral	Hygiene	(R800	-	17	October	2013).

NEW EDUCATION AND TRAINING PROVIDERS

The University of Fort Hare submitted their Dental Assisting 
programme to the CHE and the Board for approval. The 
Board approved the Dental Assisting programme, subject to 
the programme being accredited by the CHE and submission 
of additional information regarding the clinical learning site 
mentioned in the documents regarding specialised dentistry. 
The Board met with the Deans of Sol Plaatje University and 
the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University to discuss the 
possible implementation of oral health programmes for 
the professions under the ambit of the Board. Sol Plaatje, 
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at this stage, is focussing on education programmes. The 
Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University showed interest and 
indicated that they are in the process of establishing a medical 
school with the intention of implementing the programme for 
Clinical Associates. Africa South Academy of Health Sciences 
in	the	Eastern	Cape	submitted	letter	of	intention	to	offer	the	
Dental Assisting programme.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

Stakeholder Engagement

The Board developed guidelines for stakeholder engagement.

During the term of the Board, it had numerous stakeholder 
meetings with registered practitioners, the National 
Department of Health, the Council on Higher Education (CHE), 
SAQA, the Department Higher Education and Training, the 
Medicines Control Council, the Board of Health Care Funders, 
education institutions, Committee of Health Sciences Deans, 
SATN, etc. The Board participated in the HPCSA road shows 
and the Inter Board Forum meetings.

The Board issued an annual newsletter and published articles 
in	the	e-bulletin.

Determining and maintaining professional 
practice and conduct

The Board views the issues around professional conduct in a very 
serious	light	and	amended	the	ethical	rules	of	conduct	specifically	
pertaining to the professions under the ambit of the Board.

During its stakeholder interactions, the Board made its 
registered practitioners aware of the Board’s concern about 
complaints	received	relating	to	record	keeping,	confidentiality,	
informed consent, defrauding medical aids and practising 
outside scope of practice. The Board advised its CPD providers 
to	offer	CPD	activities	of	relevance	and	with	the	emphasis	on	
ethical behaviour and prescribing of medicines.

The Board developed/reviewed the following regulations:

• Regulations pertaining to the names that may not be 
used in relation to the profession of Dental Therapy, Oral 
Hygiene and Dental Assisting;

• Amendment regulations relating to the scope of the 
profession of Oral Hygiene (provide for the administering 
of local anaesthetics);

• Amendment regulations relating to the scope of the 
profession of Dental Therapy (included provision to 
prevent	 persons	 not	 having	 done	 revised	 qualification	
from performing certain activities); and

•	 Ethical	 rules	 of	 conduct	 specifically	 pertaining	 to	 the	
professions of Dental Therapy, Oral Hygiene and Dental 
Assisting.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

The Dental Assisting profession has been regulated since 
2005 and HPCSA registration is a prerequisite to work as a 
Dental Assistant.

Active Registration Statistics as at October 2015 

BRD_CODE REG_CODE Total

DOH DA 3,096

DA S 1,748

OH 1,158

OH S 405

TT 637

TT S 238

DOH Total 7,282

COMPLIANCE FOR PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION

The Board in terms of its strategic objective to ensure 
compliance for professional registration developed and 
reviewed the following documents:

• Application form for registration for persons with foreign 
qualifications	(Form	176);

• Application form for registration of Oral Hygienists in the 
category “Independent Practice” (Form 189A);

•	 Letter	 to	 be	 signed	 off	 by	 supervisors	 for	 persons	
who were required to work under supervision for the 
restoration of names to the register; and

• Requirements for restoration of names to the register.
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PHASING OUT OF BOARD EXAMINATION

The Board conducted an annual Board examination for 
Student Dental Assistants registered in the grandfather clause 
since 2010 to enable them to register as Dental Assistants. 
The last Board examination for this category will be conducted 
on 18 August 2016. Thereafter, student Dental Assistants who 
did not use this opportunity will be required to enrol for the 
formal course in Dental Assisting at an accredited education 
institution. 

The Board urges those currently registered as Student Dental 
Assistants under the grandfather clause to write the Board 
examination to enable them to register as Dental Assistants. 

Individuals	 cannot	 remain	 on	 a	 student	 register	 indefinitely	
and those Student Dental Assistants registered under the 
grandfather clause that have not availed themselves of this 
opportunity will have to enrol for the formal Dental Assisting 
programme at an accredited education institution when the 
Board phases out the Board examination in August 2016.

The Board is pleased with the examination process of its 
Board examinations conducted in August 2014, and also 
received positive feedback from candidates regarding the 
examination. The Board conducted the examination in 
Gauteng	 (Johannesburg	 and	 Pretoria	 examination	 centres),	
Northern	Cape,	Eastern	Cape,	Western	Cape,	KwaZulu-Natal	
and	Limpopo.	Fifty-five	candidates	wrote	the	examination,	of	
which 42 passed and 13 failed.

SECTION 4: PROFESSIONAL BOARDS
Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene



- 65 -

DIETETICS AND NUTRITION
Prof.	Edelweiss	Wentzel-Viljoen
Chairperson

“The Board ensured that the foreign 
qualified practitioners are registered in 
terms of the relevant legislation and the 
latest policies of both the Board and the 
National Department of Health.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

Overview and status on strategic objectives

The Professional Board for Dietetics and Nutrition is 
responsible for the stewardship through guiding the 
profession and protecting the public by focussing 
on continuous best practice governance output. The 
Professional Board comprises of highly skilled, professional 
individuals, with its main focus intended to drive continuous 
innovation at all levels of strategy and operations, ensuring 
that the profession receives maximum value for the 
contributions they pay to the Council. 

At a Professional Board meeting for Dietetics and Nutrition 
in May 2013, the members resolved that the updated 
Strategic Plan be approved. Subsequently, on 2 October 
2013, the meeting of the Professional Board considered 
and noted the report of the Chairperson of the Board on 
the rationale for strategic plan and also deliberated on 
measures to implement and achieve the strategic goals. 

Vision

A trustworthy, credible, transparent and accountable Board 
that serves the interests of the profession and the public.

Mission

To protect and serve the public and guide the profession. 
As such, this is given practical effect through ensuring 
excellence of dietetics and nutrition service delivery and 
thereby protecting the South African public by:

• Maintaining and enhancing the quality of practice;
• Safeguarding the integrity of dietetics and nutrition 

professionals registered with the Board;
• Promoting the nutritional health of all South Africans;
• Being a Board that is willing and able to be efficient in 

its support and service delivery; and
• Communicating effectively to all stakeholders.

The process

The strategic plan is in line with the following:

• The mandate of the Board in terms of the Amendment 
Act;

•  The Strategic Plan of Council (2010 – 2015);
•	 	The	current	10-point	plan	of	the	Department	of	Health;
• The delivery agreement for Outcome 2 of the 

Department of Health: A long and healthy life for all 
South Africans; and

• The draft national plan for human resource for health 
for South Africa.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE BOARD

• To optimise the efficiency of the Board in ensuring the 
fulfilling of its regulatory role and responsibilities;

• To ensure standards of education, training and 
professional practice of nutritionists:
-	 To	implement	the	register	for	nutritionists;	and
-	 To	develop	the	register	for	assistant	nutritionists.

• To ensure standards of education, training and 
professional practice of Dietitians:
-	 To	perform	SGB	functions;
-	 To	investigate	specialisation	in	dietetics;
-	 To	 report	 on	 training	 research	 task	 team	 –	

community service;
-	 To	enforce	regulatory/	ethical	requirements;	and
-	 To	address	requests	for	registration	of	members	of	

SA Association  for Nutritional Therapy (SAANT).
• To review and implement an effective communication 

strategy;
• To contribute towards an effective CPD system and 

managing	non-	compliance;
• To enhance the professional and ethical practice of 

practitioners;
• To address the registration of food service managers.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The term of office of the Board 

The	 term	of	 office	 of	 the	Board	 comes	 to	 an	 end	 in	 June	
2015. This item was placed on the agenda of the stakeholder 
meeting held on 15 and 16 February 2014  to  inform  
stakeholders that the HPCSA was initiating the process of 
inviting nominations for practitioners to serve on the board 
for the next term of office.
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Meetings of the Board and its committees

The Board conducted the following meetings for the period 
under review:

Professional 
Board meetings

Executive 
Committee 
meetings

Education 
Committee 
meetings

14 May 2014 21 November 
2014

22	July	2014

25 September 
2014

Overview of Board achievements

POLICY DEVELOPMENT OR REVIEW 

• Registered 45 Nutritionists on the new register under 
the grandfather clause;

• Reviewed the scope of practice for Dietetics;
• Developed the new scope of practice for Nutritionists;
• Task Team and Board completed the Report on ‘The 

roles and competencies of the nutrition professions in 
the wellbeing of the South African population’ (see later 
for more details);

• Completed the scope and competencies for the 
Dietitian/Nutritionist (new nutrition professional); and

• Consultation with the HR department of the 
Department of Health about the current and new 
nutrition professionals.

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS 

• Reviewed Form 271 – Evaluation of Institutions of 
Higher Learning;

• Review Form 271 Section 46(c) – now a separate 
document;

• Reviewed Guidelines for Registration of Foreign 
Qualified Nutritionists; and

• Finalisation of designation for Dietetics (Dietetics: 
RD[SA]) and Nutritionist (Nutritionist: RNT[SA]).

NEWSLETTER

The Board published a newsletter relating to information 
on Dietetics and Nutrition every year with the exception 
of the year 2015, due to the end of term of office. In the 
previous years, collaboration with ADSA and NSSA made it 
possible to publish two ethics articles in the newsletter that 
assisted the Dietitians and Nutritionists to accrue 6 ethics 
CEUs. This was also a valuable communication vehicle with 
the registered Dietitians and Nutritionists to update them 
on various issues.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE 

STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 

CONDUCT

During the period under review, The Board addressed 
the following key activities relating to the standards of 
professional practice and conduct:

STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS AND PUBLIC 

AWARENESS CAMPAIGNS

Stakeholder meetings

The Professional Board conducted five stakeholder 
meetings during its term of office. The meetings were held 
in February each year to discuss the following issues relating 
to policies and regulations, revision and development 
of the scope of practice for Dietitians and nutritionists, 
advancements in the profession, the Situation Analysis of 
the Nutrition Professions in South Africa and more.

Annual meetings

Annual meetings took place with the Heads of Dietetics/
Nutrition Departments at Universities, National 
Department of Health: Directorate: Nutrition, Nutrition 
Managers of Provincial Departments of Health, Professional 
Associations, namely: Association for Dietetics in South 
Africa (representing Dietitians) and the Nutrition Society of 
South Africa (presenting Nutritionists), and the South Africa 
Defence Force representatives.
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Public awareness campaigns

A stakeholder meeting with Heads of Departments and 
Clinical Managers also recommended that a task team be 
established to develop a plan for awareness campaigns. The 
task team was mandated to formulate recommendations 
on key activities, which the Board could deliberate on as a 
part of its strategic objective pertaining to public awareness 
campaigns. 

NUTRITIONISTS FORUM 

The Nutritionists Forum was held from 15 – 18 October 
2014 inter alia to discuss the CPD activities and accredited 
service providers; the creation of nutrition posts within 
Primary Health Care facilities; advertising of nutritionist 
positions; and the meeting between the Department of 
Health, the Board and the Nutrition Forum to discuss issues 
pertaining to the future of Nutritionists in South Africa. The 
Board resolved that the task team on scope be mandated 
to ensure that the food security is adequately addressed in 
the training curriculum for Nutritionists.  

TASK TEAM ON SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS STUDY  

The Professional Board appointed a task team to determine 
the extent of overlaps in the scopes of practice for the 
Dietetic and Nutrition professions. Following this exercise, 
the Board resolved to conduct a situational analysis study. 
The Task Team conducted one meeting during the period 
under	 review,	on	17	March,	16	April,	 13	May	and	19	 June	
2014. The purpose of the situation analysis was to define 
the roles and competencies of the Nutrition Professional in 
the wellbeing of the South African population. 

APPOINTMENT OF UNQUALIFIED PERSONS 

AS INTEGRATED NUTRITION PROGRAMME 

MANAGERS 

The Board addressed a letter to the National Department 
of Health and provincial offices regarding allegations that 
the Department was appointing unqualified Nutritionists.   

NUTRITIONISTS WORKING AS DIETITIANS

The Board received complaints that there were Nutritionists 
appointed in Dietitian posts and performing the Dietitians’ 
work at clinical facilities. The Board resolved that this issue 
would be raised with all Nutritionist managers in the nine 
provinces. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

Revised schedule of evaluation of dietetics and nutrition 

The revised schedule of evaluation of Dietetics and Nutrition 
at education institutions was approved by the Board on  
2 October 2014.

EVALUATION OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

FACILITIES

The Board conducted evaluations on education and training 
facilities of:

• Validation visit at Medunsa on 22 and 23 May 2014;
• University of the Western Cape:  6 – 9 October 2014; 

and
• Interim visit – Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University:     

6 – 7 August 2014.

ACCREDITATION OF TRAINING PROGRAMMES

The Education Committee resolved that new applications 
for	accreditation	of	training	of	Nutritionists	for	a	four-year	
degree programme would not be accepted. The Board is 
currently reviewing the Nutritionist programme and the 
new application will only be considered once the situational 
analysis work has been completed. 

Concerning	advertisement	of	non-accredited	programmes	
by universities, the Board noted at its meeting on  
2 October 2014 that certain universities created the false 
impression that their programmes were accredited by the 
Board. The Board advised the universities in question that 
the information on their websites was misleading, as the 
programmes were not accredited by the Board. 
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The Board accredited programmes of the 
following universities:

University of Limpopo 
(Dietetics programme)

The Board approved 
the accreditation of the 
Dietetics programme of the 
University of Limpopo in 
February 2014

University of Cape Town 
(Alignment of the BSc 
Med Hons in Nutrition 
and Dietetics training 
programme)

The Board approved 
accreditation programme in 
July	2013

University of the Free State 
(Dietetics programme)

The Board approved 
accreditation of the 
University of the Free State 
on 27 February 2014

GUIDELINES FOR REGISTRATION OF FOREIGN 

QUALIFIED NUTRITIONISTS 

The Board developed guidelines for registration of foreign 
qualified Nutritionists (entry level competencies).

REVIEW OF FORM 271 – EVALUATION OF 

INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING 

At the stakeholder meeting on 27 February 2014 with 
the Heads of Departments and Clinical Managers, it was 
recommended that Form 271 on Evaluation of Institutions 
of Higher Learning be reviewed and updated. 

The form was circulated to universities for comment. Ratings 
would be removed from the section that was completed by 
institutions. The Education Committee was mandated to 
include minimum standards in the revised document. 
    

EXAMINATION FOR REGISTRATION AS 

NUTRITIONISTS – GRANDFATHER CLAUSE

The Board resolved that applicants must approach 
universities	 training	 in	 Nutrition	 for	 re-examination	
arrangements and future Board examinations (university 
entry examination). The University of Venda and North 
West University were requested to facilitate the Nutrition 
Board examinations on behalf of the Board. 
 
 

ERASURE LIST 2013

The Board advised the Association of Dietetics in South 
Africa (ADSA) and the Nutrition Society of South Africa 
that if their members were erroneously included in the 
list of practitioners who should be suspended from the 
HPCSA	due	to	non-payment	of	fees,	the	affected	members	
should urgently inform the HPCSA on this state of affairs. 
The	 updated	 list	 of	 practitioners	 suspended	 due	 to	 non-
payment was placed on the HPCSA website.

ADSA AND SOCIAL MEDIA COMMUNICATION 

GUIDE 

On 2 October 2014, the Board resolved that ADSA  
be informed of the Draft Guidelines on Social Media 
communications submitted for comment and the input 
should be revised. The guidelines should be based on the 
HPCSA guidelines and current ethical booklets which are 
subservient to the Health Profession Act, 1974.  

COLLABORATION OF DIETITIANS WITH 

COMPANIES SELLING SLIMMING PRODUCTS 

The Board received enquiries about whether it is permissible 
for a Dietitian to work in collaboration with companies 
selling weight loss products, wherein it was resolved that 
it is not permissible for a Dietitian to endorse products or 
work in collaboration with companies selling weight loss 
products. 

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS 

Apart from ensuring that only appropriately qualified 
practitioners are registered within the respective 
professions, the Board also has ensured that the foreign 
qualified practitioners are registered in terms of the 
relevant legislation and the latest policies of both the Board 
and the National Department of Health. The Board has no 
new or amended registers for the period under review.
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FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY MATTERS 

Financial statements 

According to the financial statements of the Board ending March 2015, it functioned well within its budget provision and 
incurred no overspending during this period.

Approval of 2014/15 budget, annual and registration fees

The Board approved the proposed budget for 2014/15 financial year during its meeting on 2 October 2014. The Board 
also resolved that annual and registration fees payable for 2014 be determined as follows:

REGISTER 2012 2013 2014

DT Dietitians 1,238 1,312 1,312

SDT Supplementary  Dietitians 1,238 1,312 1,312

NT Nutritionists 1,238 1,312 1,312

SNT Supplementary Nutritionists 1,238 1,312 1312
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EMERGENCY CARE
Mr.  Raveen Naidoo
Chairperson

“The board pursued the strategic 
areas for promotion, namely; the 
regulation of education and training 
standards, professional practice, 
registration compliance and stakeholder 
participation.”
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OVERVIEW

The focus for the 2014/2015 reporting period was on quality 
assurance of education and training. This pertains to all 
programmes, education and training providers. Another 
priority	 was	 to	 finalise	 matters	 for	 hand	 over	 to	 the	 new	
incoming Board. Several regulations were promulgated in line 
with national imperatives and the HEQSF to ensure alignment 
of emergency care education and training within South Africa. 
The Board is also currently in the process of reviewing the 
protocols of the registration categories under its ambit to 
ensure	 well	 researched	 and	 evidence-based	 protocols	 that	
are	relevant	to	the	context.	During	2014-15,	The	Board	made	
every	endeavour	to	mitigate	the	risks	identified	in	its	risk	plan.	
However, one of the main risks that still remain is the quality 
assurance of education and training.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

During the 2014/15 reporting year, the Professional Board 
for Emergency Care tirelessly pursued the strategic areas for 
promotion, namely; the regulation of education and training 
standards, professional practice, registration compliance 
and stakeholder participation. The Board undertook several 
evaluations	 for	 re-accreditation	 of	 education	 and	 training	
programmes	 within	 the	 three-year	 evaluation	 cycle.	 In	
keeping with the Board’s strategic objective to ensure quality 
education and training in emergency care and the registration 
of competent and appropriately trained emergency care 
providers, the Board withdrew the accreditation of several 
education and training providers due to serious quality 
concerns. Equally so, a number of education and training 
providers were found to be compliant and retained their 
accreditation.

The Board also reviewed all its policies, guidelines and 
reporting templates to ensure standardisation in all the 
processes and procedures. Stakeholders’ input for pertinent 
documents were invited and considered during the review of 
these documents. The documents ensure the streamlining of 
the Board’s work and would also assist the incoming Board 
with continuity and maintaining the high quality standards that 
have been set for the profession. In order to ensure further 
professionalisation of emergency care, the Board established 
a Research Committee, alongside the Clinical Advisory 
Committee, to attend to the underserviced area of research 
in the profession.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board considered social determinants of health for 
inclusion in the emergency care curricula and the ethical rules. 
The social determinants of health have been neglected, as the 
focus has been on the treatment of the symptoms and not the 
cause. Emergency care should in line with primary health care 
initiatives’ focus on promotion and prevention.

The Board participated in the HPCSA road shows, the Principals 
Forum meetings, a number of national and international 
conferences and engaged with relevant stakeholders as and 
when the need arose. 

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF 

PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

The board acted on complaints relating to inappropriate 
patient	care,	submission	of	fictitious	claims,	practising	outside	
of	scope	of	practice	and	the	practice	of	financial	medicine.	The	
Board also received quarterly status reports on professional 
conduct matters to enable the Board to monitor progress, 
as well as trends in complaints. Serious concerns have 
been raised with the National Department of Health on the 
mushrooming of several private ambulance services who are 
practising	at	 a	 sub-standard	 level.	 It	 is	unfortunate	 that	 this	
profession	is	now	being	compared	to	a	tow-truck	business.	

The Board participated in the HPCSA road shows, the Principals 
Forum meetings, a number of national and international 
conferences and engaged with relevant stakeholders as and 
when the need arose. 

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF 

PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

The board acted on complaints relating to inappropriate 
patient	care,	submission	of	fictitious	claims,	practising	outside	
of	scope	of	practice	and	the	practice	of	financial	medicine.	The	
Board also received quarterly status reports on professional 
conduct matters to enable the Board to monitor progress, 
as well as trends in complaints. Serious concerns have 
been raised with the National Department of Health on the 
mushrooming of several private ambulance services who are 
practising	at	 a	 sub-standard	 level.	 It	 is	unfortunate	 that	 this	
profession	is	now	being	compared	to	a	tow-truck	business.	
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The Board will review its ethical rules, once the review of the 
protocols	has	been	finalised	to	ensure	that	 the	ethical	rules	
are in line with the protocols.

Unfortunately, due to administrative processes, there has 
been a delay in the revision of the protocols of the profession. 
We are pleased to advise that this process is now underway 
and will be done by an external provider. It will be inline with 
the 2015 Resuscitation Guidelines.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

The Board is in the process of evaluating all the accredited 
education	 and	 training	 providers	 for	 re-accreditation.	 The	
Board conducted evaluations at 17 accredited training 
providers and will complete all the evaluations towards the 
middle of 2015. 

The Board is concerned about the number of education and 
training	providers	 that	were	non-compliant	with	 the	Board’s	
accreditation criteria. The Board withdrew the accreditation of 
six providers, as it has a legislative mandate to ensure that 
practitioners are competent and appropriately trained to 
render quality healthcare services to the population of South 
Africa.

Going forward, education and training providers are required 
to submit information on research that has been undertaken 
and published to inform and advise on the nature of the 
research currently being undertaken within the context.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

The registration statistics for all registration categories as at 1 
October 2015:

BRD_CODE REG_CODE Total

DOH ANA 9,166

ANT 1,600

ANTS 541

BAA 59,983

ECP 392

ECPS 709

ECT 982

ECTS 654

OECO 535

EMB Total 74,562

There is still a high number of erasures of names from the 
register,	mainly	due	to	the	non-payment	of	annual	registration	
fees, especially in the BAA category, which was more than 
7,500 in 2014 alone.
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ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
PRACTITIONERS
Mr.	Jerry	Chaka
Chairperson

“The monitoring of environmental 
health programmes offered by 
accredited institutions was successfully 
achieved and the Board continued to 
support the education and training 
institutions to ensure adherence to the 
minimum requirements and standards.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS 

The	Professional	Board	for	Environmental	Health	Practitioners	set	itself	a	five	year	strategic	plan	with	the	aim	of	achieving	its	
objectives	and	set	targets	within	its	term.	The	following	are	the	goals	and	strategic	objectives	that	the	Board	strived	to	achieve:-

GOAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

• Ensure the registration of environmental 
health practitioners according to the 
Health Professions Act. 

• Monitor compliance of environmental health Practitioners as with 
legislative requirements to practice.

• Facilitate well trained and competent 
environmental health professionals.

• Establish registration system for Environmental Health Assistants 
• Review the registration system for Environmental 
•  Health Practitioners monitor education and training standards.

• Enhance the position of the 
environmental health profession within 
the health care delivery system.

• Interaction with the National, Provincial and Local government on 
plans and strategies for environmental health services

• Interaction with stakeholders and Government departments 
•	 Constant	and	effective	communication	with	stakeholders.

• Enhance Continuing Professional 
Development (CPD) in environmental 
health.

•  Implementation of the CPD system of Council 
• Promote Research and development.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The Professional Board for Environmental Health Practitioners 
worked well in executing its mandate and towards achieving 
the	strategic	objectives	it	set	for	the	five	year	term.	Most	of	the	
objectives were reached and acceptable progress was made.

The Board had two resignations, one from the profession and 
the other from the community representative. The Minister of 
Health, Dr Aaron Motsoaledi appointed a replacement for the 
community	 representative	 and	 the	 Board	 co-opted	 another	
member.

In the term under review, the Board held 17 successful 
meetings. There was a good response to the Board’s attempt 
to interact with its stakeholders.

The monitoring of environmental health programmes 
offered	 by	 accredited	 institutions	 was	 successfully	 achieved	
and the Board continued to support the education and 
training institutions to ensure adherence to the minimum 
requirements and standards.

The key achievements of the Board are outlined below under 
the	 different	 sub-headings	 and	 according	 to	 the	 Board’s	
objectives:

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The	 Board	 had	 an	 effective	 interactive	 meeting	 with	
Environmental Health Practitioners where they were 
addressed on the importance of ensuring that they  are in 
good standing with the HPCSA in terms of registration as well 
as the need to report all those that are practising illegally. 
The meeting was held in Nelspruit with an attendance of 140 
practitioners. The practitioners received 2 General and 2 
Ethics CEU’s. These attempts ensure that the public is served 
by competent practitioners who are continuously improving 
their skills and knowledge.

The Board participated in the HPCSA road show where face 
to	 face	 interactions	 were	 afforded	 with	 the	 practitioners.	
Information on operations of the Board was given to 
stakeholders and all enquiries relating to the functioning and 
functions of the Board were addressed.

The annual World Environmental Health day celebrations 
were attended by Board representatives at numerous places 
and	the	Board	was	afforded	an	exhibition	space	at	the	main	
event held in Rustenburg.
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The Board Chairperson represented the Professional Board 
for Environmental Health practitioners (PBEHP) at the 13th 
World Environmental Health Congress (WEHC) in Las Vegas, 
USA. The theme of the conference was “Building a world of 
Innovative Ideas for Environmental Health”.  The purpose of 
the Congress was to share skills, knowledge and expertise 
needed to build capacity for Environmental Health activities. 
The Chairperson also received the highest honour to an 
individual	who	contributed	significantly	to	the	environmental	
health globally; the International Federation of Environmental 
Health (IFEH); Eric Foskett Environmental Health Award. One 
of the Board members was recognised at the 2014 World 
Environmental Health Day and received the Alfred Nzo Award.

The Board  achieved its objective of  enhancing  the position 
of Environmental Health profession in the healthcare delivery 
system through interaction with stakeholders and through 
constant	and	effective	communication.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE 

STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 

CONDUCT

The Board continuously encourages Continuing Professional 
Development activities. In 2014/2015 the Board processed 59 
applications from various organisations and 11 from individual 
practitioners. The Board also contributed by issuing CEUs after 
a general and ethics presentations at stakeholders meetings.

The Committee of Preliminary Enquiry has not had a meeting 
during the period which could mean that the EHPs professional 
conduct and practice are of acceptable standards or the 
misconducts are not reported. 

•	 In	 its	efforts	 to	enhance	CPD	activities	 in	Environmental	
Health by ensuring CPD implementation and promotion 
of research and development, the Board encouraged 
practitioners to do research so as to develop the 
profession of Environmental Health. The Board established 
a research fund to assist those that are prepared to do 
research in Environmental Health. Two applications are 

being processed by the Board for Doctoral studies in 
Environmental Health.

SCOPE OF PRACTICE: 

• The Board started the process of reviewing the scope of 
profession for EHPs to ensure alignment with the recently 
approved Professional Degree in Environmental Health.

• The scope of practice for health promotion practitioners 
was	 finalised,	 however,	 awaiting	 input	 from	 other	
Professional Boards before approval by Council.

New	programmes:	A	two	year	qualification	for	Environmental	
Health	 Assistants	 (EHA)	 has	 been	 finalised	 and	 shared	with	
education	and	training	institutions	for	offering.

Quality Assurance: for purposes of monitoring and assuring 
quality standards of education and training the Board 
conducted evaluation for accreditation at three institutions 
during the period under review.

Two	institutions	were	assessed	for	readiness	to	offer	the	four	
year Professional Degree in Environmental Health in 2015, 
and both were accredited. The Board will continue monitoring 
and giving the necessary support. 

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

In	 the	 previous	 financial	 year	 letters	 were	 written	 to	 main	
employers of Environmental Health practitioners in the 
country, requesting them to ensure that all EHP’s under 
their employ are registered with the HPCSA. This exercise 
resulted	 in	a	 significant	number	of	practising	Environmental	
Health practitioners heeding the call and sitting for Board 
examinations towards registering or renewing their 
registration with the HPCSA. For the period 2014/2015, nine 
practitioners passed the Board examination as part of being 
registered with HPCSA, thirty eight EHP’s passed the Board 
examination as part of being restored back onto the register 
and nine Environmental Health Assistants wrote  the Board 
examination and passed to be registered.
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MEDICAL AND DENTAL 
PROFESSIONS
Dr. Letticia Moja
Chairperson

“The Board Examinations conducted 
by various universities on behalf of the 
Board continued to be effective and 
met the evaluation and assessment 
standards expected before foreign 
qualified practitioners are registered in 
various practice categories, as provided 
for in the regulations.”
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OVERVIEW

The Medical and Dental Board (MDB) is responsible for the 
regulation of Medical Practitioners, Dentists, Medical Scientists 
and Clinical Associates in South Africa. The main focus of the 
Board during 2014/2015 was to review its current strategic 
direction and performance levels with a view to aligning itself 
with	 its	 primary	 responsibility	 to	 play	 a	 significant	 role	 in	
regulating the medical professions and protecting the public. 

Accompanied	with	that,	the	Board	put	more	effort	in	improving	
its overarching mandates and regulatory responsibility 
and also to align itself with the demands and professional 
challenges of the main stakeholders such as the National 
Department of Health in providing quality health care service 
to the community and the medical training institutions, by 
ensuring	administrative	efficiency	and	strategic	support	for	its	
Sub-Committees.

STRATEGIC MATTERS

The	Board	recognises	the	deficiencies	in	its	existing	strategic	
plan	and	therefore	resolved	to	refine	and	align	it	with	broad	
strategic imperatives of the HPCSA.  This initiative has assisted 
the	 existing	 Board	 with	 a	 “hand-over”	 process	 now	 that	 its	
term	of	office	has	expired	in	June	2015.

The	revised	strategic	document	will	also	reflect	performance	
levels of the Board during the period, and will serve as an 
invaluable tool in planning for future board activities.

As per the mission, the Board aims to promote healthcare to 
all through ensuring compliance for professional registration, 
appropriate education and training standards, developing 
professional practice and ensuring stakeholder participation.

The changes within the National Department of Health and the 
Department of Higher Education and Training, the introduction 
of projects, such as the National Health Insurance Plan, the 
revised	Higher	 Education	Qualifications	 Sub-Framework,	 the	
Memorandum of Understanding between the Council on 
Higher Education and the HPCSA etc. became the focal point 
of departure for many projects the Board undertook.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

In compliance with the legislative mandate of the board in 
terms of section 16 of the Health Professions Act, 1974, namely 
to set education and training standards for the professions 
that fall under the ambit of the Board, and the need to train 

more medical practitioners, as per the Human Resources 
Strategy for Health Plan of the National Department of Health, 
the Board has engaged with the National Department of 
Health and the Department of Higher Education and Training.  
Regular interaction between the Board and the Committee of 
Medical and Dental Deans took place through engagement via 
the Education and Registration Committee.

In line with the Board’s mandate of ensuring that the 
programmes	 offered	 at	 the	 education	 institutions	meet	 the	
minimum standards to ensure the delivery of competently and 
appropriately trained graduates, the Board has successfully 
completed the evaluations of:

•	 Medical	Programmes	(under-	and	postgraduate);
•	 Dental	Programmes	(under-	and	postgraduate);
• Internship Training Programmes;
• Clinical Associate Programmes;
• Medical Biological Scientist Programmes;
• Medical Physicist Programmes; and
• Genetic Counselling Programmes.

The Board assumes control and exercise authority in respect 
of	 all	 matters	 affecting	 the	 training	 of	 persons	 in,	 and	 the	
manner of the exercise of the practices pursued in connection 
with any profession failing within the ambit of the Board, and 
to maintain and enhance the dignity of the profession and the 
integrity of the persons practising the profession.  In terms of 
these delegations, the Board has a responsibility:

• To determine and ensure maintenance of standards for 
professional practice and professional conduct;

• To determine and ensure upholding of standards for 
education and training;

•	 To	 grant	 certification	 to	 students	 and	 to	 compliant	
practitioners to practice professions;

• To register, where applicable, graduates for internship 
training;

• To register, where applicable, graduates for community 
service; and

• To develop policy and formulate regulations and rules of 
conduct for professional practice.

During the reporting period, the Scope of Practice for Clinical 
Associates was promulgated on 25 May 2015 for public 
comment.

As	part	 of	 the	ongoing	 review	processes,	 the	Board	has	 re-
evaluated the current training ratios for education and training 
of specialists in Dentistry.  On the other hand, the Board has 
signed a Service Level Agreement with the Colleges of Medicine 
of South Africa (CVMSA), to conduct a single exit examination 
which will enable practitioners to be registered as specialists.
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ACCREDITATIONS

The	board	also	managed	to	accredit	training	programmes	and	evaluated	the	training	facilities	as	reflected	in	table	below:

Category Committee Number

Internship evaluations Subcommittee for Internship Training 66

Undergraduate education and training in medicine Subcommittee for Undergraduate Education and Training 7

Undergraduate education and training in dentistry Subcommittee for Undergraduate Education and Training 0

Clinical Associate evaluations Subcommittee for Undergraduate Education and Training 3

Postgraduate Education and training in medicine Subcommittee for Postgraduate Education and Training 
(Medical)

6

Postgraduate Education and training in dentistry Subcommittee for Postgraduate Education and Training 
(Dental)

3

Medical Sciences Committee for Medical Science 8

Total 93

BOARD EXAMINATIONS

The Board Examinations conducted by various universities 
on	behalf	of	the	Board	continued	to	be	effective	and	met	the	
evaluation and assessment standards expected before foreign 
qualified	 practitioners	 are	 registered	 in	 various	 practice	
categories , as provided for in the regulations. 

However, the Board is in the process of reviewing the current 
examinations model that will be in line with general standards 
of professional assessments and also be equitably applied 
across the medical and dental professions.

REGISTRATIONS

The Board has recognised that, as a regulatory body, 
compliance with policy and regulatory framework of HPCSA 
(including various national legislation) is very critical.  Therefore 
a further process of reviewing and aligning its “Standard 
Operating Procedures” (SOP’s) with legislative and regulatory 
framework	 has	 been	 initiated.	 The	 finalised	 SOP’s	 will	 be	
published on HPCSA website for easy access by prospective 
practitioners who want to register with HPCSA.

STATISTICS ON FOREIGN REGISTRATIONS

The	 following	 statistics	 reflect	 the	 registrations	 during	
2014/2015:

Internship Training:    160
General Practitioners (Medicine):   314
General Practitioners (Dentistry):   1
Volunteers:     154
Postgraduate Studies:    191
Community Service:    8
Specialists (Medicine):    65
Clinical Associates
Specialist (Dental)
Restorations

CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

In line with operational and capacity demands of HPCSA as a 
growing and learning organisation, Council has approved an 
increase in human resource capacity.  

FINANCIAL MATTERS

The	Board	continued	to	align	its	financial	budgeting	processes	
with	 strategic	 objectives	 of	 the	 Board.	 	 A	 refined	 budgeting	
approach	 will	 assist	 in	 improving	 operational	 efficiencies	
and improved service delivery throughout the organisation, 
including	 reporting	 effectiveness.	 Financial	 reporting	 will	
be aligned with strategic priorities of the Board and will be 
measured as such.
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MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY
Ms. Roshini Bridgemohan
Chairperson

“A four year professional qualification 
BHSc in Medical Laboratory Science was 
developed and approved.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

The Professional Board conducted a Strategic Planning session 
on 18 October 2010 for the term commencing October 2010 
until	 June	 2015.	 The	 Board	 in	 its	 meeting	 in	 March	 2011	
planned	its	activities	for	the	term	of	office.	

The Strategic Objectives on the activities and functioning of 
the professional board was viewed as follows:

To	 achieve	 the	 defined	 goals,	 the	 Professional	 Board	 for	
Medical Technology (PBMT) aims to:

• Develop and maintain a professional practice framework;
• Develop standards of education and training; 
• Maintain, enhance and monitor standards of education 

and training; 
• Enhance the professional and ethical practice of 

practitioners;
•	 Develop	 and	 implement	 an	 effective	 communication	

strategy;
•	 Optimise	 the	 efficiency	 of	 the	 Board	 in	 ensuring	 the	

fulfilling	of	its	regulatory	role	and	responsibilities;	and
•	 Implement	 the	 professional	 qualification	 –	 BHSc	 in	

Medical Laboratory Science (MLS).

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW AND ACHIEVEMENTS

Promulgated Regulations:

• Regulations for the Registration of Medical Technicians in 
the category Mycobacterium (TB);

• Regulations for the Registration of Medical Technicians in 
the category Immunology;

• Regulations for the Registration of Medical Technicians in 
the category Virology; 

• Regulations for the Registration of Medical Technicians in 
the category Phlebotomy; and 

•	 Implementation	of	the	new	qualification	–	BHSc	Medical	
Laboratory Science.

ACHIEVING GOALS:

1.   To develop and maintain a professional 
practice framework:

The Board established a professional practice framework, 
appropriate for the South African context and benchmarked 

against best practices by aligning the professional practice 
framework, scope of practice as well as education and training. 

The Board established a baseline for professional practice 
by practitioners. It ensured the maintenance of professional 
and ethical standards in education and training and also 
developed a career ladder for:

•	 Laboratory	Assistant	(LA)		√
•	 Medical	Technician	(GT)				√
•	 Medical	Technologist	(MT)		√
•	 Medical	Technologist	(BHSc	–	Medical	Laboratory	Science)		√

The guidelines for the examination of the above categories 
and the number of times practitioners may attempt the 
examination were put in place.

2.  To develop standards of education and 
training:

The	Board	 instituted	 a	 needs-driven	 education	 and	 training	
approach; guided, informed and provided with extensive input 
on	re-curriculation	and	curriculum	development	processes	by	
institutions responsible for training and education of students 
and professionals.

Compliance with the HEQF was standardised and qualitative 
training was implemented:

•	 A	 four	 year	 professional	 qualification	 BHSc	 in	 Medical	
Laboratory Science was developed and approved 
by	 the	 South	 African	 Qualifications	 Authority.	 The	
implementation took place in 2011 at Cape Town 
University	of	Technology.	The	first	group	of	students	with	
the	new	BHSc	qualification	graduated	in	2014.

•	 The	 regulations	 governing	 this	 new	 qualification	 is	
the same as the one governing the current Medical 
Technologist.

The evaluation of universities of technologies initial cycle of 
site visits was completed for the following universities:

• Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University – Port  Elizabeth;
• Mangosuthu University of Technology – Durban; 
• Durban University of Technology – Durban;
• Vaal University of Technology – Gauteng;
•	 University	of	Johannesburg	–	Gauteng;
• Central University of Technology – Bloemfontein;
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• Cape University of Technology – Cape Town; and
• University of Tshwane – Pretoria.

The evaluation reports were sent to all universities and site 
visits were conducted to assess the implementation of 
corrective	actions	in	areas	of	deficiency	are	in	progress.

3.  To maintain, enhance and monitor standards 
of education 

The Board ensured that the standards of education and 
training are complied with in Clinical Facilities and Higher 
Education Institutions. This was achieved by:

• Determined the entrance criteria to ensure well trained 
and clinically competent practitioners are meeting the 
needs of the South African population; and

• Determined assessment methodologies benchmarked 
against international standards.

Revised guidelines for evaluation of clinical facilities:

•  Arranged sessions for training of Evaluators in Gauteng, 
Eastern and Western Cape and KZN for the evaluation of 
training laboratories; 

•  Evaluated clinical Facilities in Eastern and Western Cape, 
KZN and Gauteng; and

•  Evaluations of Higher Education Institutions were 
complete.	A	five	year	schedule	 is	 	 in	place	 for	next	 site	
visits.

Determined the demand in numbers  for practitioners in the 
profession and aligning entrance to the profession  through 
communication to education institutions.

4.  To enhance the professional and ethical 
practice of practitioners 

The Board carried out the following to maintain:

• The relevance of registration and ethical requirements
• Ethical competent practitioners registered;
• Transgressions minimised;
•	 Non-compliant	practitioners	for	CPD	were	suspended;
• Actively discouraging unethical behavior in the 

profession both independent/ private;
• Alignment to international best practices;

• Reviewed the process for application for private practice 
-	Alignment	to	international	best	practices	and	standards	
of clinical practice maintained. 

• The Board continued to play its monitoring and regulatory 
role:
•	 Ensured	 effective	 disciplinary	 actions	 on	

transgressions;
• Ensured accurate pathology results;
• Promoted and contributed to CPD Compliance and 

managed	non-compliance;	and
• Annual CPD audits in place.

• Protected the Scope of the profession and addressed the 
overlap of scopes;

• Developed and promoted practice protocols and 
ensured professional practice within the relevant 
scope; and

• Met with the Medical Scientist Board to discuss 
transgression and the overlap of Scope – Continuous 
communication in place.

5.  Developed and implemented an effective 
communication strategy – Meetings / 
Communications with relevant stakeholders

To further enhance the positive image of the Board and 
an	 effective	 communication	 strategy,	 the	 Board	 increased	
communications with Stakeholders:

• HPCSA Administration – Meetings; written 
communications;

• Professionals – Road shows; Newsletter/ Bulletin 
published annually; updated Website; written 
communications; use of promotional materials; 
promotion of    HPCSA at medical Technology/ Pathology 
Congresses;

• Outs – Evaluation of UoT; written communications; 
attendance of UoT meetings;

• SMLTSA – Meetings; written communications;
• SETA’S – Meetings; written communications;
• Training Labs – evaluation of clinical facilities; 

Examinations; written;  
• Communications;
• Non Training Labs – request for training; 

Communications;
• DoE; DoH; DoL	–	meetings	for	Forensic	Support	Officers	

register/ regulations/ Syllabi; developing guidelines for 
new	Qualification;	Mortuary	Technicians;
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• Patients/ clients – addressing Complaints; and
• Other Boards – Written communications; Board input 

on issues.

6.  Optimised the efficiency of the Board in 
ensuring the fulfilling of its regulatory role 
and responsibilities

• Maintained the highest standards of functioning at Board 
level;

•	 Ensured	effective	strategic	thinking	and	decision	at	Board	
level;

• Professional acting ethical and responsible – committee 
of preliminary inquiry.

Aligned to the ETQA functions of the Board:
• Standards of education and training ensured.

Formalised strategic alliances and relationships with 
stakeholders. SANAS; SMLTSA; HWSETA:
•  Ensured transparency and informing stakeholders of 

matters of importance; and
•  Adopted proactive approach. 

Improved Administrative service delivery – Adherence to 
service standards:

•	 Sound	financial	management;
• No unauthorised expenditure;
•	 Effective	 budgeting	 in	 line	 with	 strategic	 objectives;	

and
• Compliance with corporate governance Principles.

Minimise; managed and mitigated risks in terms of actions 
taken: 

• Rising costs;
• Inadequate resources;
• Untrained persons performing professional acts;
• Compromised patient care;
• SMLTSA examination procedures – protected the 

integrity of the board; 
• Inconsistency in evaluation process – Trained 

evaluators; and
•	 Fraudulent	 registration	 	 -	 stringent	 registration	

processes; no unauthorised registrations.

7.  Implemented the professional qualification- 
BHSc Medical Laboratory Science    

The	 first	 cohort	 students	 from	 Cape	 Peninsula	 University	
of Technology graduated with a BHSc Medical Laboratory 
Science degree in November 2014.

CHALLENGES EXPERIENCED

Unable to meet with the Scientist Board again to fully discuss 
scope overlaps and transgression. The Scientist Board has 
not developed their scope of practice.

• Not all clinical facilities that requested training status 
were evaluated – Board members who hold full time jobs 
found	 it	 	 difficult	 to	 take	 time	 off	 their	 busy	 schedule.	
However many labs were evaluated;

• Sharing of Board manager/coordinator  with other 
boards;

• Lack of participation from all Board members;
•	 Implementation	 of	 registers	 for	 new	 qualifications	 was	

completed administratively;
•	 Not	 all	 UoT	 site	 visits	 for	 the	 signing	 off	 the	 corrective	

actions were implemented. This hopefully will be 
completed	and	their	certificates	will	be	issued;	and

• Although many clinical facilities were evaluated, training 
certificates	 were	 not	 issued	 due	 to	 	 poor	 evaluation	
reporting by the evaluators.
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OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY, 
MEDICAL ORTHOTICS AND 
PROSTHETICS AND ARTS THERAPY
Prof. Alfred Ramukumba
Chairperson

“The Board had embarked on a process 
of reworking the scope of practice and 
profession for occupational therapists.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

Strategic matters identified

The	 Board	 at	 the	 beginning	 of	 its	 term	 of	 office	 in	 2010	
identified	six	 critical	 areas	 that	 it	envisaged	 to	cover	during	
the	term	of	office:

• Scope of Profession / Practice of OT;
• Scope of OTT and OTB to be concluded;
• Conclusion of outcomes for Orthopaedic Footwear 

Technicians by SGB Task Team;
• Quality assurance related matters;
• Scope of practice for medical orthotists and prosthetists; 

and
•	 240	 credit	 qualification	 and	 encouraging	 institutions	 to	

embark on education and training.

The	 Board	 further	 identified	 the	 following	 objectives	 and	
recorded as matters to be dealt with by the Board as part of 
the strategic initiatives:

• Balance emphasis put on education and training as well 
as practical issues;

• Community service for arts therapists and medical 
orthotists and prosthetists;

• Shortcoming in terms of protection of the public; 
• Outstanding matters related to legal matters;
• Examinations and evaluation of education and training;
• Management issues;
• Optimising of existing structures to improve output;
• Education for health managers; 
• Expansion of practices for clinical training for OT and 

MOP;
• Concerns regarding quality of clinical practices where 

students are trained; and
• Excellence in service delivery.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Board performance survey tool

The Education, Training and Quality Assurance (ETQA) 
standing committee developed a tool to be used to collect 
data from Professional Boards for purposes of monitoring 
their performance in their areas of mandate.  The ETQA 
Standing Committee resolved that Boards be requested to 
complete the survey on the basis of the tool developed for 
this purpose. 

The Board submitted input regarding the proposed tool. 
The tool is used by the board to evaluate its activities and 
achievements of set objectives over a twelvemonth period. 
The tool enabled the Board to identify areas where there was 
a need for more attention and improvement as well as areas 
of excellence.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

One of the Boards strategic objectives was to develop a 
strategy through which service delivery can be quality assured. 
In order to achieve this objective the Board engaged with the 
following matters at its various Board committees: 

• Revised “Standards of Practice” documents of all 
professions;

• Developed procedures and processes to evaluate service 
delivery of professions registered with the Professional 
Board in terms of “Standards of Practice”;

•	 Raised	 awareness	 and	 improved	 efficacy	 of	 patients	 /	
clients complaints procedure at the road shows;

• Monitored the manner in which CPD providers cover the 
scopes of all professions as well as ethics and medical 
law; and

• Drafted assistive  devises position paper.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE 

STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 

CONDUCT

Regulatory Framework

The Board as the regulatory body has a responsibility to 
ensure that the regulatory framework and environment 
supports the practice of the professions registered under its 
ambit. The Board executed its mandate as follows:

•	 Pre-empted	and	responded	to	needs	in	order	to	optimise	
education and service needs;

• Facilitated the development and review of ethical and 
professional guidelines;

• Enforced and maintained professional and ethical 
standards according to legislative frameworks; 

• Advised practitioners regarding ethical conduct and 
human rights issues;

• Ensured and enforced compliance by practitioners; and
• Investigated complaints through the Legal Services 

Department.
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Proposed amendments to health profession
Act, 1974 (Act 56 of 1974) Act

The Legal Services Department of the HPCSA is making 
progress in reviewing the presented proposals to the Boards 
to make amendments to the Health Professions Act, 1974. 
The Board noted that the following proposed amendments to 
the Act were supported in principle:

• Amendment to Section 16 already recorded in the latest 
amendment to the Act;

•	 Clarity	 regarding	 the	 licensure	and	 recertification	 (CPD)			
to be introduced; 

• The rationale behind the removal of “specialist 
qualifications”	from	Section	35	of	the	Health	Professions	
Act;

• The rationale behind the removal of “disgraceful conduct” 
from Section 42 as it relates to misconduct of a sexual 
nature; and

•	 The	apparent	conflict	in	Section	53(1)(a)	when	compared	
with the provisions in Section 6 of “The National Health 
Act, 2003 (Act 61 of 2003).

The Boards were of the view that these and other related 
amendments	should	be	discussed	at	a	broader	 Inter-Board	
Forum	 that	 will	 include	 all	 the	 role	 players	 for	 in-depth	
effective	 deliberations	 on	 the	 amendments	 of	 the	 Health	
Professions Act. 

Determining and upholding the standards of 
education

The Boards strategic plan was to oversee provision of high 
quality under and postgraduate training in all programmes 
under auspices of the Professional Board. In order to achieve 
this, the Board:

•	 Promoted	evidence-based	practice	strategies;
• Monitored the implementation of the Revised Minimum 

Standards of training for all programmes;
• Developed a system for the evaluation and accreditation 

of training programmes that lead to registration of 
practitioners;

• Collaborated with Government Departments  on issues 
of common interest and relevance to the Board; and

• Collaborated with Higher Education Institution to present 
Occupation Therapy Technician training programme.

MINIMUM STANDARDS / OUTCOMES FOR 

MEDICAL ORTHOTISTS AND PROSTHETISTS - SGB

Following all the developments and the SGB work in 
developing the minimum standards, the SGB Task Team was 
further requested to review the newly developed minimum 
outcomes relating a professional degree in medical orthotics 
and	prosthetics	with	specific	reference	to	the	reported	trend	
to move from a 360 credit exit level diploma to a 480 credit 
exit level degree.

The	new	Board	will	finalise	the	work	of	the	SGB	and	submit	
the revised document for approval and promulgation.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE REGISTER FOR 

ORIENTATION AND MOBILITY PRACTITIONERS

An application on behalf of The Gladys Evans Training Centre 
for recognition of Orientation and Mobility Practitioners 
was received by the Professional Board for Occupational 
Therapy, Medical Orthotics and Prosthetics and Arts Therapy. 
Services rendered by these practitioners aim to enhance 
independence of blind persons and persons with low vision.

It was important that the Council on Higher Education, the 
Department of Education (DOE) and the National Department 
of Health (NDE) would have to be convinced on the basis 
of a feasibility study of the national need for a career for 
Orientation and Mobility Practitioners. In addition, a career 
path, posts, salaries and all other modalities should be in 
place before the Board could consider the establishment 
such a register.

A meeting was held in April 2014 with the  DOH and members 
representing the OCP Board and it was clear that this 
profession was in dire need for a way forward. The  NDH was 
the driver of this initiative.

According	to	South	African	Qualifications	Authority	(SAQA)	 it	
is	 a	 240	 qualification,	 therefore,	making	 it	 equivalent	 to	 an	
Occupational	Therapy	Technician	level.	The	qualification	has	
been registered with SAQA.

The objective of the Orientation and Mobility category fall 
within the scope of the Occupational Therapists. However, 
the Orientation and Mobility practitioners were performing 
acts of Occupational Therapists but were not registered with 
the HPCSA.
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In terms of procedure, other Professional Boards been given 
the opportunity to consider the proposal regarding the 
registration of the Orientation and Mobility Practitioners and 
provide comment before it can be submitted to the Council. 

The	 new	 Board	 that	 took	 office	 in	 September	 2015	 has	
responsibility to collate all the inputs from other Professional 
Boards and then prepare the document for approval by 
Council.

ACCREDITATION OF TRAINING INSTITUTIONS AND 

CYCLE OF EVALUATIONS

The purpose with the evaluation of training institutions is 
to	 ensure	 that	 education	 and	 training	 offered	 by	 training	
providers meets minimum requirements set by the Board. 
Ultimately education and training should deliver graduates 
that are prepared to practise their professions competently 
and safely either under supervision or independently. When 
a programme is found to be meeting minimum requirements 
for education training set by the board, the provider will be 
accredited	for	a	period	of	five	years.

A training institution which has been granted accreditation 
by the Board will have to provide an annual report at the 

beginning of each year indicating how the minimum standards 
were maintained in accredited learning programmes. 
Where a programme is found not to be meeting minimum 
requirements set by the Board for education and training, the 
board will put in place mechanisms to support the institution 
to improve quality.

The guidelines and evaluation process for programmes and 
facilities include the following:

• Guidelines for the Evaluation and Accreditation of 
Education and Training Programmes;

• Minimum Standards for the Training of Arts Therapists;
• Minimum Standards for the  Training of Occupational 

Therapists; and 
• Minimum Standards for Training of Medical Orthotists 

and Prosthetists.

CYCLE OF EVALUATIONS

The following information applies to previous evaluations 
conducted and planning of future evaluations to be 
undertaken by the Board:

OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY

UNIVERSITY
PREVIOUS 

EVALUATIONS
NEXT 

EVALUATION

Cape Town 1995, 2001, 2006, 2012 2017

Free State 1996, 2002, 2007, 2012 2017

KwaZulu-Natal 1998, 2005, 2011 2016

Limpopo 1997, 2004, 2009 2014

Pretoria 1996, 2002, 2007, 2012 2017

Stellenbosch 1997, 2003, 2008, 2013 2018

Western Cape 1995, 2001, 2006 / 2008, 2013 2018

Witwatersrand 1999, 2004, 2009 2014
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MEDICAL ORTHOTICS AND PROSTHETICS

UNIVERSITY COMMENT NEXT EVALUATION

Tshwane University of Technology 1996, 2007, 2009, 2013 2018

Durban University of Technology 2012, 2014 2019

Walter Sisulu University 2012, 2014 2019

ARTS THERAPY

UNIVERSITY COMMENT EVALUATION

Pretoria 2001, 2006, 2012 2017

Witwatersrand 2012, 2014 2019

SCOPES OF PRACTICE FOR OCCUPATIONAL 

THERAPIST

The Board had embarked on a process of reworking the scope 
of practice and profession for occupational therapists. Draft 
documents relating to the scope of profession and scope of 
practice were developed. An extensive consultative process 
was followed and the draft documentation was considered 
at the OTASA Council meeting and the National Forum for 
Occupational Therapy in the Public Sector. 

The information was further discussed with the respective 
university departments and during the National Occupational 
Therapy Forum. Extensive inputs to the documentation were 
received and are being processed by the task team. The 
process currently followed included the colour coding of 
input	in	terms	of	different	areas	such	as	expansion	of	scope,	
qualitative analysis, information dissemination, etc. 

The Board outsourced a legal representative who had 
previously engaged with scope of practice documents to 
review the documentation from a legal perspective. The 
Board	 submitted	 to	 the	 final	 scope	 document	 for	 approval	
to Council. Once approval has been received the  DOH will 
promulgate new regulations in this regard.

ASSISTIVE DEVICES

Previously	 different	 assistive	 devices	 formed	 part	 of	 the	
undergraduate teaching programme. 

In order to standardise the approach amongst universities 
the	 matter	 had	 to	 be	 clarified.	 Essential	 devices	 that	 were	
previously used as part of primary health care were no 
longer used due to amongst others restructuring and a lack 
of funding and resources. It was suggested that essential 
devices that were previously used as part of primary health 
care	should	be	identified	and	educational	institutions	had	an	
obligation to ensure that relevant training in the use of those 
devises	was	still	offered	to	students.		

A task team was appointed to investigate the matter. A draft 
position paper was formulated. The Board obtained input 
and comment from the Legal Services Department and the 
draft position paper is currently being circulated to other 
Professional Boards for their comments and inputs. Once 
these are been received, the draft position paper will also 
be circulated to practitioners, the Professional Associations 
and the Public Sector National Forum, as part of a broad 
consultation process.
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ANNUAL FEES FOR 2015

OT Occupational Therapist R1,303

OS Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist R1,303

SOT Supplementary Occupational Therapist R1,303

SOS Supplementary Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist R1,229

OB Orthopaedic Footwear Technician R423

OTT Occupational Therapy Technician R423

OAS Assistant Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist, and Leatherworkers R423

OTB Occupational Therapy Assistant R410

AT Arts Therapist R1,303

OSA Orthopaedic Technical Assistant R423
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OPTOMETRY AND DISPENSING 
OPTICIANS
Ms. Vanessa Moodley
Chairperson

“ The Board received Medicine’s 
control council approval on the ocular 
therapeutic prescription rights for 
optometrists.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

	The	Board	continued	to	pursue	the	following	goals	and	strategic	objectives	set	for	the	term	of	office:

GOAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

To facilitate the establishment of a sustainable eye 
care service delivery system

• Extend access of comprehensive eye care services within the 
public health system 

Extend access of comprehensive eye care services 
within the public health system 

• Foster compliance with the HPCSA ethical framework 
• Enabling registered eye care professionals with appropriate 

skills	and	relevant	qualifications	to	practice	to	meet	public	eye-
care challenges 

• Promote the creation of a new image for the discipline as a 
health	profession	that	 is	appropriately	skilled	for	efficient	and	
effective	service	delivery	within	a	multidisciplinary	health	care	
team

• Create and strengthen strategic partnerships with relevant 
stakeholders

To establish and maintain standards for education 
and training in order to achieve locally relevant, 
internationally competitive quality education for the 
respective professions 

• Review and enhance current quality standards within education 
and training

• Appraise professional practice for quality standards for the 
respective eye care professions 

• Encourage and monitor continuing professional development 
of registered practitioners

•	 Constant	and	effective	communication	with	relevant	education	
sector stakeholders 

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

VISION

An	effective	regulator	of	quality,	accesible,	eyecare	serives	for	
all.

MISSION

To establish and implement a regulatory framework and 
policies for:

• Eye care service delivery;
• Professional norms and standards; and
• Education and training

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

The Professional Board for Optometry and Dispensing 
Opticians and its structures successfully held ten meetings 
and workshops between April 2014 and March 2015. The 
Board had one resignation. 

The	 strategic	 plan	 developed	 for	 the	 term	 of	 office	 guided	
the Board in carrying out its mandate and it was reviewed for 
progress made at one of its meetings – the progress made is 
satisfactory.

The board also provided continued monitoring and support 
have	 been	 provided	 to	 accredited	 institutions	 offering	
optometry and dispensing opticianry programmes.  

Following discussions and submissions made by the Board 
to the Medicines Control Council (MCC), The Board received 
MCC’s approval on the ocular therapeutic prescription rights 
for optometrists for persons practicing the profession of 
optometry. The associated essential drug list however is 
limited and thus the Board is still engaging the MCC on it.

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT AND 

COMMUNICATION 

In pursuing the Board’s endeavour to improve its open lines 
of communication with stakeholders, the Board held fruitful 
annual meetings with the Heads of Departments of optometry/
dispensing opticianry, with the National Optometry Forum 
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(a public sector optometry group/ with the professional 
association to address matters of common interest pertaining 
to education and eye care service delivery. These meetings 
have been very fruitful in that stakeholders understood the 
Board’s objectives against developments and also the board 
received useful feedback on how to improve on carrying out 
its mandate.

The matter of community service is still with the Department 
of Health (DOH) however the Board continued to engage the 
Department and made further submissions. Approval by the 
Department is however still pending. 

Volunteering services being provided mainly by international 
practitioners/organisations has been a great concern for the 
Board. The Board thus proposed that the Council  tightens 
the regulation of these services to ensure the communities 
receive high quality services.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS 

OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Scope of practice

Disciplinary	 issues	-	Discuss	the	number	of	 issues	and	what	
they entailed.

Matter served before Committee of Preliminary Enquiry at 3 
meetings held:   

Total matters handled 39

Finalised matters 16

Matters referred to Inquiry 14

Deferred matters 20

Consultation 8

Inspection 2

Guilty verdicts 10

The	 legal	 Department	 in	 liaison	with	 Boards	 reviewed	 fines	
that can be imposed by Committee of Preliminary enquiry, a 
move welcomed by the Board.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

CPD	 providers	 were	 encouraged	 to	 offer	 good	 quality	
activities	 including	ethics.	 	An	effective	monitoring	system	of	
CPD programmes is in place.

Ongoing	 practitioner	 education	 and	 high	 quality	 offerings	 –	
continuous evaluation and monitoring of activities accredited 
and support provided to education and training institutions.

Practitioners are once again encouraged to ensure that 
they comply with the CPD requirements to stay abreast with 
developments and remain on the register.

Board examination 

As part of its quality assurance in education mandate, 
the Professional Board for Optometry and Dispensing 
Opticians (PBODO) is planning to introduce a National Board 
Examination for professionals prior to them being eligible 
for registration for independent practice with the Health 
Professions	Council	of	South	Africa	(HPCSA).	 The	Board	has	
thus	 been	 benchmarking	 the	 different	 examination	models	
including that of the American National Board of Examiners. 
It scheduled a study visit with the American National Board of 
Examiners in Optometry and the National Centre of Clinical 
Testing in Optometry to review the entire system utilised 
for	the	Board	Examinations.	Specific	 issues	discussed	at	the	
meeting	were	on:	 

• Policies; 
• Examination processes and examiner selection;
• Security and ethics;
• ICT and other support requirements; and
• Clinical examinations

Subsequently	 the	Board	will,	 in	 June	2015,	hold	a	workshop	
with relevant stakeholders to share experiences about Board 
examinations and have three international speakers make 
presentations	on	their	experiences	pertaining	to	the	different	
aspects of Board examinations.
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QUALITY CONTROL

Quality control at educational institutions and key observations/
patterns and interventions by the Board.

The Board continued to provide the necessary support to 
the institutions and monitored progress in implementation 
of improvement plans by institutions. The guidelines on 
evaluations are under review to ensure that all aspects of 
scope expansion are covered.

Monitoring of transformational issues at education and 
training institutions was started by the Board in the period 
under review and the new board will carry on with it.

Two SGB workshops held, reviewed and updated the exit 
level outcomes to improve on the Human rights ethics and 
health law, include Aviation, a section on research and also 
incorporated therapeutics. 

TRAINING

The Board continued to encourage institutions to provide 
programmes in Ocular Therapeutics, refresher/up skilling 
diagnostic courses, and Ethics courses. Education and training 
institutions have been given a deadline of 2017 to start  
therapeutics programme.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

Review of regulations, new and amended registers

Regulations	 defining	 the	 scope	 of	 profession	 –	 amendment	
to	 include	vision	therapy	and	supply/fitting	of	contact	 lenses	
have been promulgated.

No new or amended registers have been created however a 
therapeutics category will be added.
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PHYSIOTHERAPY, PODIATRY 
AND BIOKINETICS
Prof. Nomathemba Taukobong
Chairperson

“ As part of the strategic initiative 
relating to the provision of high quality 
undergraduate and postgraduate 
training, it was agreed that a cycle of 
evaluating documents be developed 
to monitor the accreditation of clinical 
training areas utilised in undergraduate 
training programmes, as part of the 
evaluation of education and training 
institutions.”
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Professional Board for Physiotherapy, Podiatry and 
Biokinetics began its duties at the HPCSA in October 2010 
to champion the development of the professions registered 
within its ambit. A strategic plan was conducted to develop 
strategies and initiatives to advance the work of the Board.

The following strategic  objectives were developed:

• Ensuring quality service in health matters  to the public; 
and  to guide professionals, in accordance with legislative 
mandates and national health initiatives;

•	 Fostering	an	environment	 that	 is	 conducive	 to	effective	
communication; 

• Ensuring quality ethical standards and professional 
conduct; 

• Improved Human Resource capacity;
• Encourage research amongst stakeholders; and
•	 Developing	an	effective,	efficient	and	accountable	Board.

STRATEGIC FOCUS

Following the strategic planning session of the Board, the education 
committee resolved that the progress regarding strategic 
objectives and initiatives relating to education and training must 
be	monitored	by	the	committee	on	an	on-going	basis.	

The Board agreed that the following matters be included in 
their strategic plan:

• Development of an annual operational plan with clear 
objectives, time frames and performance indicators;

• Completion of the SGB Podiatry task team outcomes; 
•	 Confirm		if	posts	for	Biokinetics	and	Podiatry	have	been	

created by the Department of Health (DOH);
• Monitor the position of the school health system  to 

ensure that it is in line with the Cape Town conference 
outcomes;

• Ensure that the evaluation task Team incorporates the 
examination tasks into their  activities; 

• Conduct a meeting to coordinate media initiatives;
• Ensure that information regarding podiatry is included 

in the HPCSA  website e.g. scope of professionSchedule 
Road Shows in Potchefstroom, Port Elizabeth and 
Mpumalanga;

• Ensure that the public is involved in the Board activities;

• Coordinate meetings with Higher Educational Institutions 
(HEI’s);

• Interact with associations, societies and other 
stakeholders;

• Educate students, practitioners and the public about the 
role, functions and responsibilities of the Board through 
various platforms including annual road shows; 

•	 Investigate	 issues	 around	 working	 under-supervision	 –	
the education committee to review annually; and

•	 Improve	 communication	 in	 cases	 of	 non-compliance,	
lack	 of	 communication	 as	well	 as	 revision	 of	 conflicting	
information Review ethical rules and guidelines.

The Committee further recommended that as part of the 
strategic planning of the Boards, annual meetings between 
professional Board for Physiotherapy, Podiatry and Biokinetics 
and Professional Board for Occupational Therapy, Medical 
Orthotics and Prosthetics and Arts Therapy should be aligned 
to synergise the communication between the Boards and to 
establish a forum to discuss matters of mutual interest.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Board Performance Survey tool

The Education, Training and Quality Assurance (ETQA) standing 
committee developed a tool to be used to collect data from 
professional Boards for purposes of monitoring performance 
in their areas of mandate. The ETQA standing committee 
resolved that the Boards be requested to complete the survey 
on the basis that the tool be developed for this purpose. 
Subsequently, the ETQA standing committee resolved that 
the Board’s performance survey tool be revised in line with 
the broad strategic objectives to amongst others; include 
the development of strategic plans, communication with 
stakeholders,	financial	matters	and	registration	matters	etc.	

The Board submitted input regarding the proposed tool. The 
tool has been used by the Board to evaluate its activities and 
achievements of set objectives over a twelve month period. 
The tool enabled the Board to identify areas where there was 
a need for improvement as well as areas of excellence.
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PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board  developed strategies to achieve the following 
goals:

• Assist with the development of the National Health 
Insurance Plan (NHIP);

• Engage the government with discussions on NHIP and 
with a view to participate and  understand the holistic 
approach;

• Communicate with other Boards;
•	 Influence	council	on	issues	of	interest;	and
• Investigate the implementation of International 

Classification	Functions	(ICF)	in	practice.

ROAD SHOW MEETINGS  

The Board conducted two successful road shows between 
2014 and 2015. The road shows enabled the Board to 
successfully achieve its communication strategy of creating 
a	 conducive	 and	 effective	 communication	 environment.	
The Chairperson and members of the Board delivered 
presentations on a number of important matters including: 
the role and functions of HPCSA and the Board, strategic 
initiatives and objects of the Board, Education, training and 
evaluation of facilities, ethics and CPD.

The	 Board	 identified	 a	 need	 to	 determine	 the	 value	 and	
importance of attending road shows and opportunities to 
improve the engagements with practitioners to encourage 
satisfactory attendance of all categories of registrations.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE 

STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 

CONDUCT

Proposed amendments to the health professions 
Act, 1974 (Act 56 of 1974)

The Legal Services Department of the HPCSA is reviewing the 
presented proposals to the Boards to make amendments 
to the Health Professions Act, 1974. The Board noted 
that although the proposed amendments to the Act were 
supported in principle, the following matters require further 
deliberation and enhancement:

• Amendment to Section 16 already recorded in the latest 
amendment to the Act;

•	 Clarity	 regarding	 the	 licensure	and	 recertification	 (CPD)			
to be introduced; 

•	 The	rationale	behind	the	removal	of	“specialist	qualifications”	
from Section 35 of the Health Professions Act;

• The rationale behind the removal of “disgraceful conduct” 
from Section 42 as it relates to misconduct of a sexual 
nature; and

•	 The	apparent	conflict	in	Section	53(1)(a)	when	compared	
with the provisions in Section 6 of “The National Health 
Act, 2003 (Act 61 of 2003).

The view of the Boards and Administration was that these and 
other	related	issues	should	be	discussed	at	a	broader	Inter-
Board	Forum	that	will	include	all	the	role	players	for	in-depth	
and	effective	deliberation	on	the	amendments	of	the	Health	
Professions Act.   

REVIEW OF THE ETHICAL RULES OF CONDUCT FOR 

PRACTITIONERS REGISTERED UNDER THE HEALTH 

PROFESSIONS ACT, 1974 (G N NO. R. 717 OF  

4 AUGUST 2006)

The	Board	identified	that	as	part	of	its	strategic	objectives	to	
review the generic ethical rules as well as rules pertaining to 
Physiotherapy Assistants and technicians. A task team led by 
Prof Wilders was mandated to review the ethical rules.

Subsequently, the Human Rights, Ethics and Professional 
Practice Committee of Council requested the Boards to 
review  the content and editorial changes to the entire set of 
ethical booklets and make inputs.

The Board engaged with the process and inputs were made 
to improve the documents in a number of areas.

REVIEW OF LEGISLATION

The	 Tariff	 Committee	 was	 requested	 to	 review	 legislation	
applicable to the Board in order to address perceived 
deficiencies	and	shortcomings	as	requested	by		members	of	
the	Board.	The	Board	confirmed	 that	 the	matter	had	 to	be	
read in conjunction with the matters relating to the revision 
of the Act and ethical rules. The new Board would consider 
constituting	a	tariff	committee	to	discuss	 issues	around	the	
development	of	tariffs	as	informed	by	the	Medical	and	Dental	
Tariff	Committee	processes.	
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DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING THE STANDARDS 

OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING

SGB process – Scope of Physiotherapy

Following	the	approval	of	the	Higher	Education	Qualifications	
(HEQ)	 Sub-framework	 by	 the	 Minister	 of	 Higher	 Education	
and	 Training	 (MHET),	 Dr	 B	 Nzimande	 in	 January	 2013,	 and	
the	inclusion	of	a	240	credit	exit	level	qualification	an	official	
provision has been made for the introduction of a formal 
qualification	 for	 Physiotherapy	 Technicians.	 Educational	
institutions were informed of the latest developments during 
the meeting with Heads of Departments, associations and 
societies in August 2013 and that the revised documents 
and scope will be provided once reviewed by the education 
committee.

The education committee in August 2014 resolved to 
circulate the documents and scope to the Physiotherapy 
universities, South African Society of Phisiotherapy (SASP) and 
National Physiotherapy Forum for inputs. The Task Team was 
further requested to collate all the inputs and consider the 
articulation to the four year degree. The revised documents 
were	electronically	forwarded	to	all	the	stakeholders	in	June	
2015	for	final	input	before	the	documents		were	finalised	and	
forwarded to the legal services department for drafting of 
regulations.

TASK TEAM APPOINTED TO REVIEW THE OVERLAP 

OF SCOPES OF THE PROFESSIONS AND SCOPE OF 

PRACTICE AND OVERLAP WITH OCCUPATIONAL 

THERAPY

The	 professional	 Board	 identified	 a	 need	 to	 revise	 the	
scope of each profession  to review overlaps and perceived 
transgressions amongst the professions. Upon commencing 
deliberations regarding the matter, the scope task team 
agreed that further background work needed to be done, as 
they required further clarity  regarding the actual roles and 
scope of the various professions. 

It was determined that a deeper insight into the actual roles 
of	each	of	the	professions	with	the	various	field	of	treatments	
and rehabilitation needed to be obtained. The task team was 
requested to consider three documents namely; the scope of 
profession, the minimum standards and the report document 
from previous meetings  then clearly  articulate their respective 
roles using the headings found in the Physiotherapy Scope of 

Profession.
The draft documents were forwarded to universities for  
comments and input. The stakeholders were informed that 
the new professional Board will then take the process forward 
in terms of demarcation of scopes in a consultative process.

PRESCRIPTION OF MEDICINE BY PODIATRISTS AND 

PHYSIOTHERAPISTS

A task team was previously requested to develop the 
documentation required by the Medicines Control Council 
(MCC)  that entails the use, administration and dispensing of 
medicines by podiatrists.

A meeting was held  aimed to determine the format and way 
forward to assist the task team with completing an application 
for prescription rights for both the Podiatry and Physiotherapy 
professions. It was advised at this meeting that despite the 
Podiatry profession having previously submitted an application 
to the MCC, the task team was required to prepare a new 
application to the MCC taking into consideration the previous 
points and areas of concern raised by the MCC. Research was 
conducted whereby similar applications from abroad where 
Podiatrists in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom 
have all recently been awarded prescription rights.

The task team met to discuss the way forward and to 
determine the basis and content of the applications for both 
professions. A template was developed based on the advice 
from the MCC, the application from Emergency Medical Care 
and international counterparts, which would be completed 
by members of the task team. Part of the process further 
included a process to demonstrate to MCC that podiatrists 
had complied with the minimum requirements relating to the 
use and administration of medicines and local anaesthesia. 

It was recommended that the combined task team activities 
be undertaken on the basis of available documentation and 
the schedule of medicines already compiled. The Board has 
subsequently	written	to	the	MCC	to	confirm	the	requirements	
for the application and plans to arrange a meeting with MCC 
to	finalise	the	process.
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EVALUATION OF TRAINING INSTITUTIONS

As part of the strategic initiative relating to the provision of high quality undergraduate and postgraduate training, it was 
agreed that a cycle of evaluating  documents be developed to monitor the accreditation of clinical training areas utilised in 
undergraduate training programmes as part of the evaluation of education and training institutions. 

Evaluation	 of	 education	 and	 training	 programmes	will	 take	 	 place	within	 a	 five	 year	 cycle	 as	 determined	by	 the	 education	
committee.	Postponing	an	evaluation	could	be	considered	by	the	education	committee	upon	receipt	of	a	well-motivated	request	
by the education or training institution.

The following information applies to previous evaluations conducted and planning of future evaluations to be undertaken by 
the Board:

OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY

UNIVERSITY PREVIOUS EVALUATIONS NEXT EVALUATION

Cape Town 1995, 2001, 2006, 2012 2017

Free State 1996, 2002, 2007, 2012 2017

KwaZulu-Natal 1998, 2005, 2011 2016

Limpopo 1997, 2004, 2009 2014

Pretoria 1996, 2002, 2007, 2012 2017

Stellenbosch 1997, 2003, 2008, 2013 2018

Western Cape 1995, 2001, 2006 / 2008, 2013 2018

Witwatersrand 1999, 2004, 2009 2014

MEDICAL ORTHOTICS AND PROSTHETICS

UNIVERSITY COMMENT NEXT EVALUATION

Tshwane University of Technology 1996 , 2007, 2009, 2013 2018

Durban University of Technology 2012, 2014 2019

Walter Sisulu University 2012, 2014 2019

ARTS THERAPY

UNIVERSITY COMMENT EVALUATION

Pretoria 2001, 2006, 2012 2017

Witwatersrand 2012, 2014 2019
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PSYCHOLOGY
Prof. Tholene Sodi
Chairperson

“ Board was appraised on the excellent 
systems in place in terms of the 
managing of strategic initiatives, the 
effective monitoring and mitigation 
of risks and the application of the 
performance assessment tool to 
monitor the overall performance 
and adherence to good corporate 
governance principles in general.”
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PROFESSIONAL BOARD FOR PSYCHOLOGY

Meetings conducted and activities undertaken

The Board conducted various meetings of Board Committees 
and	Task	Teams	 in	order	 to	effectively	execute	 its	mandate	
and strategic objectives. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Professional Board for Psychology developed its strategic 
initiatives	for	the	five-year	period	during	2011	and	aligned	the	
strategic plan of the Board with the strategy of the HPCSA. 
The	 strategic	 plan	was	 also	 aligned	 to	 the	 10-Point	 Plan	 of	
the Department of Health as well as to the National Mental 
Health Action Plan (2013–2020). For the remainder of the 
term, the Board focussed on issues regarding communication 
with all stakeholders to raise awareness on the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board and HPCSA. 

Interaction with stakeholders such as the professional 
associations/ societies, Department of Health, Departments of 
Basic and Higher Education, the Department of Correctional 
Services, South African Police Service, South African Military 
Service, Department of Social Welfare, Department of Women, 
Children and People with Disabilities were prioritised.

This enabled the Board to: 

•	 Discuss,	 promote	 and	 enhance	 the	 profession	 specific	
issues	 such	 as	 the	 provision	 for	 posts	 of	 the	 different	
categories of professionals and internship training;

• Address the post structure and the implementation of 
Occupation	 Specific	 Dispensation	 within	 Government	
structures;

• Address the challenges with the funding bracket and 
model for the Masters training in psychology; and

• Engage with the Continuing Profession Development 
Accreditors in order to address issues of concern, such 
as the scope violations and to improve the quality of CPD 
activities.

Approval of new categories – neuropsychology and 
forensic psychology 

Draft amendment Regulations for the registration of 
Psychologists to provide for the categories of neuropsychology 
and forensic psychology were approved and served at 
Council in 2013 for approval with a view to be promulgated 
by the Minister of Health for comment. The amendments to 

the Regulations were published on 2 October 2014 as per 
Government Notice no. R678 for the purpose of comment. 
The Board appointed a Task Team that was mandated to:

• Consider the public comments;
• Compile education and training guidelines;
• Develop a criteria and standards for the details of the 

grandfather process in terms of Section 33(2) of the Act ;
• Review of the Standards Generating Body documents for 

neuropsychology. 

Engagement with the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development

A	 meeting	 was	 held	 with	 the	 Department	 of	 Justice	 and	
Constitutional Development on the categories of persons 
competent to evaluate criminal capacity of a child. This was 
conducted	with	the	aim	to	amend	the	Child	Justice	Act,	2008.	
Professionals appointed for the assessment should be able 
to deal with the cognitive, moral, emotional, psychological 
and social development of a child. The Board resolved that 
the following categories of psychologists under the ambit 
of the Board be authorised to conduct criminal capacity 
assessments of children in terms of Section 11 of the Child 
Justice	Act,	75	of	2008:

• Clinical Psychologists;
• Educational Psychologists;
• Counselling Psychologists; and
• Registered Counsellors. 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Performance overview - Performance Survey Tool

In November 2014, the Executive Committee assessed the 
performance of the Board for the past year according to the 
completed Performance Survey Tool. The Board performed 
well in all the areas and a detailed report based on the format 
of the tool was provided to the Education and Training and 
Quality Assurance (ETQA). 

The Board was appraised on the excellent systems in place 
in	terms	of	the	managing	of	strategic	initiatives,	the	effective	
monitoring and mitigation of risks and the application of 
the Performance Assessment Tool to monitor the overall 
performance and adherence to good corporate governance 
principles in general.
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The performance of the Board was rated from a scale of one 
to	five,	one	being	poor	performance	and	five	being	excellent	
performance:  

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR RATING

Leadership and governance 5

Management and processes 5

Education and training 5

Board examinations 5

Continuing Professional Development 5

Registration and restoration 5

Professional conduct 5

Communication and stakeholder interaction 4

Risk management 5

Financial management 5

Administrative support 4

PSYCHOMETRICS COMMITTEE MEETING WITH 

STAKEHOLDERS/HEADS OF DEPARTMENTS/ TEST 

PUBLISHERS 

The revisions to Section 8 of the Employment Equity Act 
promulgated in 2014 triggered a critical moment in the history 
of	 the	 psychological	 test	 review	 and	 classification	 in	 South	
Africa. The important part in the section for the psychology 
profession read as follows:

Psychometric assessment and similar assessments of an 
employee are prohibited unless the test or assessment is 
being used:

•	 Has	been	scientifically	shown	to	be	valid	and	reliable;
• Can be fairly applied to employees;
• Is not biased against an employee or group; and
•	 	Has	 been	 certified	by	 the	Health	 Professions	Council	 of	

South Africa or any other body which may be authorised 
by law to certify those tests or assessments.

It was the addition of clause (d) above that has sparked a 
reaction amongst those psychology and other professionals 
involved in conducting psychometric assessments in 
employment settings. Assessment measures used for 
selection, training and development purposes in employment 
settings	 needed	 to	 be	 certified	 that	 they	 meet	 minimum	
psychometric requirements. It should further be noted that 
the promulgation of the Employment Equity Act (EEA) in 1998 

not only resulted in Psychology professionals in employment 
settings paying attention to the fact that the psychological 
measures that they used complied with the requirements of 
the EEA, but also resulted in Psychology professionals working 
in other contexts being mindful of the standards that the 
measures they used and their assessment practice should 
meet.

With the changes to the EEA in mind, the implications were 
that those measures that were deemed to be tapping 
into psychological constructs had to be submitted for 
review,	 classification	 and	 certification	 to	 the	 Psychometrics	
Committee of the Professional Board for Psychology. While 
this was especially important for psychological measures 
used in organisational settings, the same standards should 
be strived for in other assessment contexts. However, the 
reality was that a few assessment tools/ tests have been 
submitted annually to the Psychometrics Committee for 
review,	 classification	 and	 certification	 purposes.	 Now	 that	
certification	was	a	requirement	prescribed	by	 the	amended	
EEA, it was anticipated that many more measures would 
be submitted, which could put a strain on already strained 
HPCSA resources. 

The Psychometrics Committee has been working on 
regulations related to psychological tests and test use, and 
some	revisions	of	the	current	review	and	classification	system	
to	enhance	its	efficiency.	However,	the	addition	of	clause	(d)	
in	the	amended	EEA	prompted	a	more	extensive	re-imagining	
of	 the	 review	 and	 classification	 process	 and	 system.	 The	
purpose of the engagement with stakeholders was to discuss 
and	draw	on	expertise	to	contribute	to	the	re-imagining	of	the	
test	review	and	classification	system.	

LIST OF CLASSIFIED TESTS PROMULGATED ON  

19 SEPTEMBER 2014

In terms of the provisions of Health Professions Act, Act 56 of 
1974, the Professional Board for Psychology had to publish a 
list	of	tests	in	terms	of	the	Board	Notice.	The	list	of	classified	
tests was promulgated on 19 September 2014.

INTERNATIONAL TEST CONFERENCE (ITC) SAN 

SEBASTIAN, SPAIN 

Three members of the Psychometrics Committee attended 
the International Test Conference in San Sebastian, Spain in 
July	2014.	
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SIOPSA CONFERENCE 

The Society for Industrial and Organisational Psychology of 
South Africa conducted its 16th annual conference at the 
CSIR	Convention	Centre,	Pretoria	on	21	–	23	 July	2014.	The	
Chairperson of the Psychometrics Committee, participated 
in the panel discussion on the impact of the changes to 
the Employment Equity Act on psychometric testing at the 
discussion	slot	on	22	July	2014.

ANNUAL SOUTH AFRICAN PSYCHOLOGY 

CONGRESS

The Board was invited to participate in the annual South 
African Psychology (PsySSA) Congress in Durban during 
16 – 19 September 2014. The congress was celebrating its 
20th anniversary with the theme, ‘Celebration and Critical 
Reflection’.	Provision	was	made	by	the	Organising	Committee	
for a round table discussion slot, which was facilitated on 
19 September 2014 by two members of the Board. The 
Professional Board sponsored 500 note pads and also had an 
exhibition table during the Conference. 

THE 14TH BIENNIAL SOUTH AFRICAN CLINICAL 

NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION 

CONFERENCE

The South African Clinical Neuropsychological Association 
(SACNA) hosted its 14th Biennial Conference at the 
Wanderers	Club	in	Johannesburg	from	6-9	August	2014.	On	
7 August 2014, the Board had the opportunity of presenting 
at the conference. The Chairperson provided an update on 
the establishment of the registers for neuropsychology and 
forensic psychology as well as the nomination of members to 
the Board.

THE EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROFESSIONALS 

ASSOCIATION OF SA (EAPA-SA) 16TH ANNUAL –

CONFERENCE 

The	Employee	Assistance	Professionals	Association	(EAPA-
SA)	hosted	its	16th	EAPA-SA	Annual	Conference	during	
16 – 19 September 2014. The theme of the conference was 
‘Organisational	Effectiveness	in	the	Digital	Workplace’.	

EAPA-SA	 is	 a	 professional	 recognised	 body	 founded	 under	
Section	 21	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act.	 It	 is	 a	 non-profit	 seeking	

organisation that relied on conferences to generate income 
to fund their projects and to keep members and providers 
abreast with both national and international EAP and wellness 
trends. 

The theme for the conference recognised and appreciated 
the	growing	use	of	technological	innovations	within	the	field	
of EAP and therefore, would bring together industry experts 
to share the recent developments and research knowledge 
in	order	to	explore	different	modalities	and	adapt	to	the	new	
challenges. The Board was represented at the Conference 
and	did	a	presentation	on	Organisational	Effectiveness	in	the	
Digital Workplace.

INAUGURAL ASSEMBLY STATUTES – PAN AFRICAN 

PSYCHOLOGY UNION (PAPU) HELD AT NKOSI 

ALBERT LUTHULI INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION 

CENTRE
 
The	 Pan-African	 Psychology	 Union	 (PAPU)	 took	 place	 on	 
15 – 16 September 2014 in Durban. It was the representative 
body for the science and profession of psychology in Africa. 
T It was a collaborative union of psychological societies 
and psychologists in Africa committed to scholarship and 
human development in our communities, countries, Africa 
and the World. An invitation was extended to the Board, to 
be represented at the inaugural assembly on 15 September 
2014.

HEADS OF DEPARTMENT/ STAKEHOLDER MEETING

Due	to	the	challenges	experienced	with	non-compliant	tailored	
internship programmes, a stakeholder meeting was held on 
8	 August	 2014	 with	 internship	 co-ordinators/	 supervisors	
in order to address the general internship guidelines and 
specific	internship	guidelines.

The following topics were considered:

• The nomination process, role of the Council and Board 
and statutory functions;

• The National Mental Health Action Plan 2013 – 2020;
• Launch of HOD Forum – PSYSSA;
• Role of the Board, quality assurance functions, payment 

for evaluation fees;
• The training model and role of Registered Counsellors;
• The role of professional bodies in training of professionals 

and funding model for psychology;
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• Diversity and transformation in the training of students; 
• Guidelines, requirements and timelines for internship 

training; and
• Registration requirements and forms for registration as 

interns. 

Break-away	discussion	groups	were	facilitated	by	members	of	
the	Board	for	the	different	categories.

Representatives expressed concern regarding the limited 
list of tests for Registered Counsellors such as the ESSI 
Reading	and	Spelling	tests	and	as	reflected	in	the	guidelines	
for the training of Registered Counsellors (Form 258). It was 
recommended to the Education Committee that the list 
of tests be reviewed, as students were currently trained in 
these tests and were therefore currently used by Registered 
Counsellors.

Concern was also expressed regarding the limited CPD 
activities and violation of the scope requirements in terms 
of the accreditation of CPD activities related to Registered 
Counsellors. 

HPCSA ROAD SHOWS – 2015

The Board had an exhibition table at the Cape Town road show 
that	took	place	on	26	March	2015.	Different	staff	members	in	
the division manned the tables and provided information and 
advice to attendees at the road show. 

PROMOTION OF THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

National Mental Health Action Plan 

The National Mental Health Action Plan (2013 – 2020) 
was updated and revised, and the eight key objectives as 
recommended by the Interim Ministerial Advisory Committee 
were supported by the Board. 

The Ekurhuleni Declaration on Mental Health was issued 
on the basis of the National Mental Health Summit of  
12 – 13 April 2013. The plan had to be read in conjunction with 
the World Health Action Plan and the key issues to change 
the mental health gap between access, demand and supply 
as well as equity had to be addressed.

At each Board meeting, a report was made on the 
implementation of the National Mental Health Policy 
Framework and Strategic Plan 2013 – 2014 as well as on 
progress on the activities of the Mental Health Summit Task 
Team, which was then serving as the Interim Ministerial 
Advisory Committee on Mental Health. 

A milestone was achieved in terms of mental health via the 
National Mental Health Policy Framework and Strategic 
Plan,	which	will	significantly	improve	access	to	mental	health	
services in the country.

The Board expressed concerns that the framework document 
still had a psychiatric focus and it was important that the spirit 
of mental health be focussed on. Psychiatric language was used 
instead of that of mental health and it provided a perceived 
preference to Psychiatrics and Clinical Psychologists.

The Minister of Health was congratulated on progress made in 
terms of promoting mental health services to all stakeholders 
and for establishing specialist mental health teams in each 
district. The policy framework was considered, embraced and 
popularised at all Board and Committee structures and it was 
resolved that the National Mental Health Policy Framework 
and Strategic Plan 2013 – 2020 be considered during 
stakeholder meetings in 2014.

Determining and maintaining standards of 
education, training and practice

Review of Form 94 – training and examination guidelines for 
Psychometrists

A	need	was	identified	to	review	the	training	and	examination	
guidelines	 for	 Psychometrists,	 as	 reflected	 in	 Form	 94.	 The	
Education Committee in May 2013 resolved that a Task Team 
should be constituted to review the education, training, core 
competencies and scope of practice for Psychometrists based 
on the guidelines as contained in Form 94.

A Task Team was constituted and a meeting was conducted 
to review the guidelines. A draft document served at the 
Education	Committee	and	 the	Executive	Committee	 in	 June	
2014 approved the revised guidelines. 

Review of Form 160 – Guidelines for the training of interns 

The Education Committee, during a review meeting of 
guideline documentation, resolved that paragraph 9.5 of 
Form 160 be amended to read as follows.
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Interns who:
 
• Are not in a position to register as psychologists by 

three (3) years from date of registration as an intern 
have to complete a further approved and uninterrupted 
internship of three (3) months duration;

• Exceed the timeframe for registration beyond three (3) 
years, but less than four (4) years, have to complete a 
further approved and uninterrupted internship of six (6) 
months’ duration; and

• Exceed the timeframe for registration beyond four (4) 
years,	 but	 less	 than	 five	 (5)	 years	 have	 to	 complete	 a	
further approved and uninterrupted internship of twelve 
(12) months duration;

In all of cases a, b and c above, the university at which the 
candidate was enrolled for his/her master’s degree, needs to 
verify, in writing, that the candidate’s theoretical knowledge 
and applied competence is still adequately relevant for 
purposes of registration as an intern, and provide proof that 
such relevance had been ensured through an additional 
assessment:

•	 Exceed	the	timeframe	for	registration	by	five	(5)	years	to	
seven (7) years and eleven (11) months need to formally 
apply to the Board for permission to obtain placement 
as an intern or have a programme approved. Should 
approval be granted by the Board, the internship will 
be of twelve (12) month duration. The Board will then 
recommend the nature of a special Board examination 
to be completed; and

• Candidates who have exceeded the timeframe for 
registration by eight (8) years or more, will NOT be eligible 
for registration as a professional psychologist.

EVALUATION AND ACCREDITATION OF  HIGHER 

EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND INTERNSHIP 

SITES

One of the primary functions of the Board was to determine 
and uphold standards of education and training. This was 
being done via the system of evaluation and accreditation of 
education and training against a set of criteria and guidelines.

Evaluations conducted from 1 April 2014 to 31 
March 2015

Evaluation and accreditation visits at Higher Educational 
Institutions:

•	 University	of	KwaZulu-Natal	Howard	Campus;
•	 University	of	KwaZulu-Natal	Pietermaritzburg	Campus;
• University of Venda;
• Walter Sisulu University;
• Midrand Graduate Institution (12 Remote Campuses);
•	 North	West	University	(Mafikeng);	and
• Rhodes University.

Evaluations conducted at Internship Training Sites

The following internship facilities were evaluated during the 
period under review with a view to accreditation for purposes 
of training of interns:

• Fort England Hospital;
• Liberty Life; 
• McCord Hospital;
• SA Breweries;
• Telkom SA PTA HQ and PE; and
•	 Johannesburg	 Parent	 and	 Child	 Counselling	 Centre							

JPCC.	

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

National Board Examinations 

As	part	of	the	mandate	of	the	Board	to	ensure	that	qualified	
and competent persons be registered, the Board conducted 
three Board Examinations per annum in order to ensure 
standards of education and training, and professional 
practice. The purpose of Board examinations was to measure 
the	capacity	of	graduates,	foreign	qualified	practitioners	and	
practitioners applying for restoration to enter the profession 
for community service, supervised practice and independent 
practice.
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Details	of	the	National	Board	Examinations	conducted	during	the	period	of	reporting	are	reflected	below:

DATE OF 
EXAMINATION 

EXAMINATION CATEGORY
NO OF CANDI-
DATES WHO WROTE 

NO OF CANDIDATES 
WHO PASSED 

JUNE	2014	 PSYCHOLOGY: ALL CATEGORIES 

Clinical Psychology 70 70

Counselling Psychology 12 11

Educational Psychology 19 16

Industrial Psychology 48 28

Research Psychology 5 2

Registered Counsellor 85 66

Psychometrist – Independent Practice 41 27

Psychometrist – Supervised Practice 5 1

TOTAL 285 221

DATE OF 
EXAMINATION 

EXAMINATION CATEGORY
NO OF CANDI-
DATES WHO WROTE 

NO OF CANDIDATES 
WHO PASSED 

OCT 2014 PSYCHOLOGY: ALL CATEGORIES 

Clinical Psychology 39 39

Counselling Psychology 23 20

Educational Psychology 33 32

Industrial Psychology 39 28

Research Psychology 12 10

Registered Counsellor 68 49

Psychometrist – Independent Practice 58 50

Psychometrist – Supervised Practice 5 1

TOTAL 277 229

DATE OF 
EXAMINATION 

EXAMINATION CATEGORY
NO OF CANDI-
DATES WHO WROTE 

NO OF CANDIDATES 
WHO PASSED 

FEB 2015 PSYCHOLOGY: ALL CATEGORIES 

Clinical Psychology 29 28

Counselling Psychology 20 17

Educational Psychology 20 7

Industrial Psychology 68 46

Research Psychology 11 11

Registered Counsellor 105 83

Psychometrist – Independent Practice 83 26

Psychometrist – Supervised Practice 9 0

TOTAL 345 218
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GRAND TOTAL:

907	candidates	wrote	the	Board	Examination	during	the	financial	year.	

668	candidates	passed	the	Board	Examination	during	the	financial	year.	

FINANCIAL ISSUES AND BUDGETARY PROVISIONS 

Budget and annual fees for 2015 

Based on the budget provided, the Executive Committee in 2014 resolved that annual fees for 2015 for registers under the 
ambit of the Professional Board for Psychology be increased by 6% as follows:

Psychologists: R1,682.00
Registered Counsellors: R866.00
Psychometrists: R866.00
Psychotechnicians: R715.00

REGISTER DESCRIPTION
ANNUAL FEE 

2012
ANNUAL FEE 

2013
ANNUAL FEE 

2014
ANNUAL FEE 

2015

PS PSYCHOLOGISTS 1,511 1,587 1,587 1,682

PMT PSYCHOMETRISTS 771 817 817 866

PM PSYCHOTECHNICIANS 637 675 675 715

PSIN INTERN PSYCHOLOGISTS 507 537 537 570

PRC REGISTERED COUNSELLORS 771 817 817 866

CONCLUSION 

The Board has performed well in terms of meeting the strategic objectives set for the time and concluded its activities within 
the budget provision.
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RADIOGRAPHY AND CLINICAL 
TECHNOLOGY
Ms. Mable Kekana
Chairperson

“During the term of office, the Board 
optimised relations with Higher 
Education Institutions (HEI). In May of 
every year, the Heads of Departments 
and representatives from the various 
universities meet to engage on issues 
concerning education and training of 
students in Radiography and Clinical 
Technology.”

SECTION 4: PROFESSIONAL BOARDS
Radiography and Clinical Technology



- 108 -

STRATEGIC FOCUS

The Professional Board at its second board meeting in 
November	 2010	 reflected	 on	 the	 activities	 for	 the	 duration	
of	 the	 term	 of	 office.	 During	 the	 last	 meeting	 of	 2014,	
the deliberations on the activities and functioning of the 
professional board included the following:

Vision

To provide quality health care standards in Radiography and 
Clinical Technology.

Mission

Ensuring quality education and training, continued professional 
development and service delivery in the professions.

To	 accomplish	 this	 mission,	 the	 board	 has	 defined	 the	
following primary goals:

•	 To	 develop	 and	 maintain	 an	 effective	 communication	
strategy;

• To provide guidance to the professions; 
• To  promote competent, empowered professionals; and
• To ensure adherence to standards, regulations and 

requirements.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

To	achieve	the	defined	goals,	the	RCT	Board	is	directed	by	the	
following objectives:

•	 Effective	 communication	 with	 and	 engagement	 of	
stakeholders;

•	 Effective	standards	generation;	
• Ensuring compliance to Continued Professional 

Development; and
• Monitoring and regulating professional standards and 

practice.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Annual Stakeholder meeting –RCT DAY 

The professional Board prioritised communication with 
practitioners through annual national stakeholder meetings 
under the banner of RCT Day which are conducted yearly in 

November. This platform enabled the Board and practitioners 
to engage in important matters pertaining to the profession, 
development, technology, etc. The objective for annual 
stakeholder meetings was to improve accessibility to and 
communication between the Board and practitioners.

These stakeholders meetings were conducted as follows:

2011 – Polokwane, Limpopo
2012 – Bloemfontein, Free State
2013 – Port Elizabeth, Eastern Cape
2014	–	Durban,	KwaZulu-Natal

JOINT HEAD OF DEPARTMENTAL AND EDUCATION 

COMMITTEE MEETINGS – PROFESSIONAL BOARD 

AND HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS

During	the	term	of	office,	the	Board	optimised	relations	with	
Higher Education Institutions (HEI). In May of every year, 
the Heads of Departments and representatives from the 
various universities meet to engage on issues concerning 
education and training of students in Radiography and Clinical 
Technology. In the term under review, the discussions lead 
to the implementation of the four year professional degree 
in Radiography and Clinical Technology and role extension 
(review of scope).

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Board Examination 

The Board in its attempt to regulate professional standards 
and practice, conducted Board examinations for foreign 
qualified	practitioners	and	EEG	Technicians.	The	examinations	
were coordinated administratively. A total of 22 practitioners 
undertook the examination in 2014.  

Guidelines for the evaluation and accreditation of 
eductional institutions and clinical training facilities

Subsequent to the approval of guidelines used to evaluate the 
educational institutions and clinical training facilities by the 
Board in November 2013, a total of three universities were 
evaluated in 2014 and over thirty clinical training facilities 
were assessed for Radiography and Clinical Technology.
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Promulgation of regulations relating to the scope of 
Radiography 

The Board engaged in the revision of the scope of the 
profession of Radiography as well as EEG Technicians in 
Clinical Technical. Documents were sent to the professional 
boards	and	Council	for	promulgation	in	June	2015.

ACHIEVEMENTS

• Role extension research; 
• Input into the scope of Clinical Associates Profession 

(CAP);
• Accreditation of the academic institutions and clinical 

training facilities;
• RCT News letter; and
• Open day meetings – RCT Day celebrations

2009 Saint George, Kempton Park
2010  There were no open meetings – Board meeting was 

held  on 27 October. 

2011 Polokwane, Limpopo
2012 Bloemfontein, Free State
2013 Port Elizabeth, Eastern Cape
2014	 Durban,	KwaZulu-Natal

CHALLENGES 

Engagement with Medical and Dental board on the issues 
of ownership and operation of diagnostic radiography and 
ultrasound equipment. The current situation presents serious 
differences	of	opinions	between	the	two	boards.

Education and training of Radiography students at the 
University of Limpopo (Medunsa campus), now Sefako 
Makgatho Health Sciences University. Having four educational 
institutions in close proximity poses a challenge with clinical 
training facilities.  
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SPEECH, LANGUAGE AND 
HEARING
Prof. Shajila Singh
Chairperson

“We devised and finalised 
comprehensive documentation and 
processes for the evaluation for 
accreditation of Higher Education 
Institutions for Speech Language 
Therapy and Audiology.”
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STRATEGIC FOCUS

Overview and status on strategic objectives

The Professional Board for Speech Language and 
Hearing is responsible for the stewardship through 
guiding the profession and protecting the public, by 
focussing on continuous best practice governance 
output. The Professional Board comprises of highly 
skilled, professional individuals, with its main focus 
intended to drive continuous innovation at all levels of 
strategy and operations, ensuring that the profession 
receives maximum value for the contributions they pay 
to the Council.  

Vision

A trustworthy, credible, transparent and accountable 
Board that serves the interest of the profession and the 
public.

The process

The strategic plan is in line with the following:
• The mandate of the Board in terms of the Amendment 

Act;
• The Strategic Plan of Council (2010 – 2015);
•	 The	 current	 10-Point	 Plan	 of	 the	 Department	 of	

Health;
• The Delivery agreement for Outcome 2: A long and 

healthy life for all South Africans of the Department 
of Health; and

• The draft national plan for human resource for 
health for South Africa.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE BOARD

The Board had the following strategic objectives:
• To establish a generic framework of core 

competencies for the Hearing Aid Acousticians in 
line with international benchmarks;

• Ensure adherence by training institutions to the 
Board’s core competencies, regulations and training 
frameworks;

• To facilitate continued professional competence;
• Implementation of additional education and training;
• Implementation of newborn hearing screening in 

line with best practice for South Africa;

• To address the professions’ specific needs in 
providing	 services	 in	 a	 multi-lingual	 and	 multi-
cultural society;

• Transformation of the professions’ demographic 
profile to reflect that of the country;

•	 To	clarify	profession-specific	scope	of	practice;
•	 To	 establish	 up-to-date	 and	 relevant	 rules	 of	

behaviour and conduct;
• To improve practitioner knowledge on ethics, human 

rights and professional practice;
• To establish open and transparent process to restore 

public’s confidence in the system;
• To improve communication between the Board 

and all of its stakeholders including: practitioners, 
education institutions, public, other boards, 
professional associations, Department of Health and 
Department of Education;

• Protect the public;
• To establish mechanisms for enhancing Board 

effectiveness and efficiency;
• Improve  access to SLH services including rural and 

underserviced areas;
• Improve awareness of SLH services in all sectors
• Improve quality of professional practice; and
• To reflect SLH service delivery packages at different 

levels of healthcare.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

The Board conducted the following meetings for the 
period under review:

Profession-
al Board 
meetings

Executive 
Committee 
meetings

Strategic 
planning

Education 
Committee 
meetings

15 May 
2014
28 Novem-
ber 2014

30	July	2014 16 May 
2014

19 March 
2014
20 August 
2014
27 March 
2015
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OVERVIEW OF BOARD PERFORMANCE 

The Board and its structures held seven meetings 
between May 2014 and March 2015. All meetings 
consistently formed quorum. In May 2014, the Board 
reviewed its strategic plan and the progress made in its 
implementation. The Board assessed its performance 
according to the Performance Survey Tool in 2014 and 
submitted a progress report to the Education Training 
and Quality Assurance  (ETQA) Standing Committee of 
Council Committee. 

A number of quality assurance evaluations were carried 
out at education and training institutions. The Board 
accredited programmes of a number of universities for 
the period of five years. It continued to provide support 
to education and training institutions in reviewing and 
developing a new curriculum. In March 2014, the Board 
provided input on the mandate, terms of reference, 
structure and activities of the newly proposed Education 
Office of the HPCSA. 

Regulations relating to the undergraduate curricula 
and professional examinations in audiology were 
promulgated in February 2014, while regulations relating 
to the registration of additional qualifications of Speech 
Therapists, Speech Therapists and Audiologists, were 
promulgated in December 2013.

ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE BOARD

Policy development or review 

• Finalised regulations relating to the undergraduate 
curricula and professional examinations in (i) 
audiology and in (ii) speech language therapy;

• Finalised regulations relating to the registration of (i) 
audiology and (ii) speech language therapy students;

• Finalised scope of practice of (i) Audiologists and (ii) 
Speech Language Therapists;

• Reviewed and revised scope of practice of Hearing 
Aid Acousticians;

• Regulations relating to the curricula and examinations 
for Hearing Aid Acousticians are being finalised by 
the task team;

•	 Scope	 of	 practice	 of	 professional	mid-level	workers	
(MLWs) in process of being developed for (i) Audiology 
Technician (AT), and (ii) Speech Language Therapy 
Technician (SLTT);

• Regulations relating to the curricula and examinations 
for (i) AT and (ii) SLTT are being developed by task 
teams; and

• Reviewed and revised policy on supervised practice.

System improvements 

We devised and finalised comprehensive documentation 
and processes for the evaluation for accreditation of 
Higher Education Institutions for Speech Language 
Therapy and Audiology.

Standards setting

Developed the following guidelines for audiology practice:
• Draft diagnostic protocols for paediatric populations;
• Draft guidelines diagnostic audiology in adults;
• Draft guidelines for industrial audiology; 
• Draft guidelines for hearing aid selection and fitting 

for adults;
• Draft guidelines for the provision of hearing screening 

services in schools;
• Draft guidelines for newborn and infant hearing 

screening in South Africa;
• Guidelines on the fitting of hearing instruments for 

children; and
• Guidelines for adult auditory rehabilitation.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board communicated regularly with practitioners, 
professional associations, education and training 
providers and other relevant stakeholders on work 
done towards fulfilling its mandate. Engagements with 
stakeholders such as practitioners, universities, and 
different government departments enhanced the Board’s 
visibility and improved communication in general. These 
included the following:  

• The discussion regarding the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Council on Higher 
Education and the HPCSA is underway. The two 
Councils have set up a process for cooperation in 
the areas of standard setting learning programmes 
and evaluation and accreditation of education and 
training;

• Regulations regarding radiation equipment are in 
progress;

SECTION 4: PROFESSIONAL BOARDS
Speech, Language and Hearing



- 113 -

• The Board had discussions with the South African 
Speech-Language-Hearing	 Association	 (SASLHA)	 on	
curriculum guidelines for undergraduate Speech 
Language Therapists working in educational contexts 
in South Africa, and on curriculum guidelines for 
Audiologists working in educational settings;  

• The Department of Basic Education’s Task Team still 
needs to meet and finalise discussions relating to 
Speech Language and Hearing and Audio Service 
delivery in schools; 

• The Board engaged with the National Department of 
Health on the following issues:
• Promulgation of the outstanding of the 

outstanding regulations;
•	 Recognition	of	the	post-graduate	qualifications;
• The rollout of the certificate of need;
• Student numbers;
• A matrix of school screening referrals;
• The training programmes and creation of posts 

for	mid-level	workers	(MLWs);	and
• Services offered by Speech Therapists and 

Audiology Practitioners at primary and secondary 
level.

• The Chairperson of the Board attended the 
intervarsity meeting at the University of Stellenbosch 
in August 2014 and made a presentation showcasing 
the Board’s achievements; and

• The Board attended a meeting on Financing Health 
Sciences Education hosted by the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE 

STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 

CONDUCT

Scope of practice

The Board established the following task teams for the 
period under review to develop the scope of the practice:

• Culture and Language in Speech Language Therapy 
and Audio Practice (receiving CVs from applicants).

TEMPLATE ON CLINICAL HOURS 

The Board drafted a reporting template to facilitate 
reflection of clinical learning time across the scope of the 
professions. Annually, training institutions are required 
to indicate the mechanisms that they use to track and 
verify compliance with the minimum number of clinical 
training hours prescribed by the Board. The Board 
shared the draft template with universities and advised 
them to use the template to summarise minimum clinical 
hours. Universities have agreed that the template would 
help to streamline clinical hours, create uniformity and 
consolidate information at the end of the programme.

DETERMINING THE SCOPE OF PRACTICE OF 

COMMUNITY REHABILITATION WORKERS 

(CRWS)

The Board embarked on a process of determining the 
scope of practice of Community Rehabilitation Workers 
(CRWs). It appointed a team develop the scope of practice 
for	 mid-level	 workers,	 compile	 a	 curriculum	 including	
intended learning outcomes, consider international 
guidelines, the CRW curriculum document, the document 
on service delivery at the different levels, and the Higher 
Education	Qualifications	Sub-Framework	from	the	Council	
on Higher Education. The Board established two task 
teams that will decide on the scope of the professions 
and the curriculum of Audio MLWs and Speech MLWs. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS 

OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

Continuing professional development 

After considering the annual reports submitted by 
accredited service providers to ensure they offered 
quality CPD activities, the Board approved the following 
accredited service providers: The South African Speech 
Language and Hearing Association (SASLHA), the 
University of the Witwatersrand, Stellenbosch University 
and the University of Cape Town. 
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The Board recommended changes to the template for 
accredited service providers, including a correction that 
activities are ‘offered’ but not ‘approved’ by accredited 
service providers. This was to enable the Boards to 
effectively and efficiently determine the quality relevance 
of CPD activities. The Board submitted comments on 
the accreditation flow diagram developed by the CPD 
Committee.

The Board supported the development and implementation 
of the following programmes, namely revised SLT 
and audiology curricula in existing programmes; the 
development of SLT and Audiology curricula and initiation 
of a new programme at the University of Fort Hare; 
initiated the accreditation of programme for Hearing Aid 
Acousticians and conducted evaluations for accreditation 
of higher education institutions.

THE BOARD-APPROVED ACCREDITED 

PROGRAMMES

Institution
Date of 
evaluation

Next 
evaluation

University of Witwa-
tersrand

2013 2018

Stellenbosch Univer-
sity

2013 2018

Sefako Makgatho 
Health Sciences Uni-
versity

2013 2018

University of Cape 
Town

2012 2017

University of Pretoria 
(Hearing Aid Acousti-
cian Programme)

June	2015	and	
November 

2015

University of 
KwaZulu-Natal

2011 2016

University Fort Hare University of Fort Hare should 
inform the Board when ready 
for implementation and submit 
annual report until they were 
accredited

The Board finalised its evaluation guidelines for the 
accreditation of education and training institutions 
offering speech language and hearing programmes, and 
provided training to potential evaluators on the evaluation 
guidelines. Concerns raised regarding evaluator reporting 
will be addressed by the Board, which will continue to 
engage with accredited institutions and monitor progress 
through annual reports submitted.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

Apart from ensuring that only appropriately qualified 
practitioners are registered within the respective 
professions, the Board also has ensured that the foreign 
qualified practitioners are registered in terms of the 
relevant legislation and the latest policies of both the 
Board and the National Department of Health. The Board 
has no new or amended registers for the period under 
review.  

Approval	of	the	Budget	for	2014-15	and	increase	for	2014
The Board operated within its budget, and approved 
the revised budget and increased the annual fees for 
registers under its ambit as follows: 

Abbrev Register 2014 2015

STA Speech Therapist and 
Audiologist

R1,215 R1,300

SSTA Supplementary Speech 
Therapist and Audiologist

R1,215 R1,300

AU Audiologist R1,215 R1,300

SAU Supplementary Audiologist R1,215 R1,300

GAK Hearing Aid Acoustician R1,215 R1,300

SGAK Supplementary Hearing 
Aid Acoustician

R1,215 R1,300

SGG Community Speech and 
Hearing Workers

R420  R450

SGK Speech and Hearing 
Correctionist

R420 R450

AM Audiometrician R420 R450

STB Speech Therapy Assistant R380 R406

ST Speech Therapist R1,215
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW
Adv. Tshepo Boikanyo
Chief Operations Officer

“The HPCSA subscribes to a governance 
system whereby ethics and integrity 
set the standards for compliance and 
constantly  reviews and adapts its 
structures and processes to facilitate 
ethical leadership and sustainability.”

SECTION 5: 
Corporate Overview



- 116 -

The HPCSA is committed to and abides by the principles of good 
governance. The HPCSA adheres to the statutory duties and 
responsibilities imposed by the Health Professions Act, Companies 
Act, and the Public Finance Management Act, whenever these are 
applicable. HPCSA is also guided on best practices by international 
developments as well as the King III reports on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa. 

The HPCSA subscribes to a governance system whereby ethics 
and integrity set the standards for compliance and constantly 
reviews and adapts its structures and processes to facilitate 
ethical leadership and sustainability. 

FINANCIALS

Despite the continued slowdown in the South African economy, 
we are pleased to report that there was a positive increase in 
Councils going concern. 

IT INFRASTRUCTURE

The Council experienced some challenges with the Entreprise 
Resource Systems (ERS), however in the year under review we 
have managed to improve performance and mitigated the risk 
of storage crash by procuring and installing a new backup device 
with	‘backup	to	disk’	capabilities.	This	added	efficiency	with	regard	
to data restore and recovery. HPCSA is now in a better position to 
extend its infrastructure to a disaster recovery site.

THE NEWLY ESTABLISHED INSPECTORATE OFFICE

	To	ensure	that	the	Council	continues	to	provide	an	effective	and	
efficient	service,	we	have	established	an	inspectorate	office	in	the	
year	2015.	The	aim	of	the	office	is	to	fill	the	gap	in	the	enforcement	
of compliance and have footprints in all major cities. Currently 
offices	 are	being	 established	 in	 four	Regional	 offices;	Gauteng,	
Western	Cape	(Cape	Town),	KwaZulu-Natal	(Durban).	

The	responsibilities	of	the	Inspectorate	office	are	the	following:
• To enforce compliance with the law, rules and sanctions 

imposed by the Professional Conduct Committees through 
conducting inspections on the premises of suspended and 
removed healthcare practitioners; 

•	 Collection	of	outstanding	fines;	and
• To attend to criminal matters pertaining to registered persons 

practising healthcare professions.

MANAGING RISK

To enhance internal control, the Administration conducts a risk 
analysis of the operations of Council in order to mitigate the 

risks which threaten our business. A business risk management 
plan was developed identifying the risks with full action plans to 
enhance control measures. The risks management plan is also 
linked to individual’s performance to ensure accountability for 
the success of the plan. In the year 2015/16, the Council will be 
appointing	a	Risk	Management	Officer	who	will	 be	 responsible	
for the establishment, development and implementation of the 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy framework. 

CLEAN AUDIT 

During the year, 2014/15, once again, Council received an 
unqualified	audit	(clean	audit).	

In what was the opinion of OMA Chartered Accountants 
Incorporated,	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	 Health	
Professions Council of South Africa for the year end 31 March 2015 
indicated	that	the	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	are	in	
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974.

We commend the hard work of the Council, its committees, 
executive	management,	the	finance	team	and	other	departments	
in ensuring that we have a clean audit which also addressed the 
following	issues	from	the	2013/14	financial	year:
• Trade receivables;
• Cash cleaning accounts; and
• Road Accident Fund.

The	overall	audit	findings	decreased	by	21%	and	we	have	also	
achieved	 a	 33%	 reduction	 on	 significant	 findings	 from	 the	
2013/14 audit. The implementation and progress of addressing 
all	audit	findings	are	managed	by	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	and	
Council on an ongoing basis. To date over 65% of the 2014/15 
audit	findings	have	been	addressed.	

It continues to be a priority of the Council to achieve another clean 
audit	for	the	2015/16	financial	year.

OFFICE SPACE PLANNING

In order to achieve high levels of performance, the Council 
continues	 to	 address	 the	 challenge	 of	 being	 under-resourced	
through	 increasing	 our	 staff	 complement;	 however,	 this	 also	
means we have to look at increasing the capacity of our business, 
primarily through the expansion of our existing facilities. We are 
currently exploring on this avenue of either extending the current 
infrastructure or relocating to accommodate the expansion of 
Council. In order to cater for this expansion, the building was 
revamped.
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During the year under review, the Health Professions Council of South Africa met 
four times.

In terms of Regulation 10 (1) (a) 2 of the Regulations relating to the establishment, 
objects, functions and powers of the Health Professions Council of South Africa, the 
Council may from time to time establish committees to assist in the execution of its 
responsibilities.

The	table	reflects	committees	utilised	by	the	Council.	During	the	year	under	review,	
a part from the members, the Registrar and Executive Management also attended 
the meetings of Council and its committees and participated actively.

Attendance by members at Council and Committee meetings were as follows:
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DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 4 1 4 4 4 3 1
President Prof M. S. Mokgokong 3 of 4 2 of 3
Vice President and Psychology Board Prof T. Sodi 3 of 4 3 of 3 1 of 2
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Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene Ms V. Amrit 3 of 4
Dietetics and Nutrition Prof E. Wentzel-Viljoen 3 of 4
Emergency Care Mr C. Vincent-Lambert 4 of 4
Emergency Care Mr A. L. Molotana 3 of 4
Emergency Care Mr R. Naidoo 3 of 4 2 of 3 3 of 4
Environmental Health 
Practitioners

Mr J. Chaka
4 of 4

Medical and Dental Professions 
Board

Prof U. M. E. Chikte
4 of 4 1 of 3 4 of 4

Medical and Dental Professions 
Board

Prof L. M. Moja
2 of 4 3 of 3 2 of 4

Medical Technology Ms R. Bridgemohan 1 of 4
Occupational Therapy, Medical 
Orthotics, Prosthetics and Arts 
Therapy

Prof T. A. Ramukumba
3 of 4

Optometry and Dispensing 
Opticians

Ms V. R. Moodley
4 of 4

Physiotherapy, Podiatry and 
Biokinetics

Prof N. P. Taukobong
4 of 4

Radiography and Clinical 
Technology

Ms R. M. Kekana
2 of 4

Speech, Language and Hearing 
Professions

Prof S. Singh
4 of 4 3 of 3

COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVES Ms M. M. Isaacs 2 of 4 3 of 4
Mr K. P. Legodu 4 of 4 4 of 4 2 of 2
Mr M. D. Mhlanga 4 of 4 2 of 2
Mr R. L. Mjethu 2 of 4
Mr M. V. Mkhombo 2 of 4
Rev G. Moerane 3 of 4
Ms T. S. Mtshali 4 of 4
Mr D. N. Serenyane 4 of 4 3 of 3 4 of 4
Ms L. M. *Dikweni 4 of 4

Higher Education South Africa Prof N. Gwele 4 of 4 2 of 2
Higher Education South Africa Prof K Mfenyana 3 of 4 3 of 3
Higher Education South Africa Prof G.	J. Van Zyl 3 of 4 1 of 4
Person from the South African 
Military Health Service

Vacant
Vacant

Person in the employment of the 
Department of Education

Dr. D. Parker
2 of 4

Person in the employment of the 
Department of Health 

Dr A.T. Lekalakala
3 of 4 3 of 3

Person Versed in Law Mr S. Ramasala 4 of 4 3 of 3 3 of 4
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During the year under review, the Health Professions Council of South Africa 
met four times.

In terms of Regulation 10 (1) (a) 2 of the Regulations relating to the 
establishment, objects, functions and powers of the Health Professions 
Council of South Africa, the Council may from time to time establish 
committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities.

The	table	reflects	committees	utilised	by	the	Council.	During	the	year	under	
review, a part from the members, the Registrar and Executive Management also 
attended the meetings of Council and its committees and participated actively.

Attendance by members at Council and Committee meetings were as 
follows:
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DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 5 5 3 4 3 2 3 5
President Prof M. S. M. Mokgokong
Vice President and Psychology Board Prof T. Sodi 5 of 5
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D
S

Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene Ms V. Amrit 1 of 3
Dietetics and Nutrition Prof E. Wentzel-Viljoen
Emergency Care Mr C.V. Lambert
Emergency Care Mr A. I. Molotana 2 of 4
Emergency Care Mr R. Naidoo
Environmental Health 
Practitioners

Mr J. Chaka
4 of 4

Medical and Dental Professions 
Board

Prof U. M. E. Chikte

Medical and Dental Professions 
Board

Prof L. M. Moja
4 of 5

Medical Technology Ms R. Bridgemohan 4 of 4
Occupational Therapy, Medical 
Orthotics, Prosthetics and Arts 
Therapy

Prof T. A. Ramukumba
5 of 5

Optometry and Dispensing 
Opticians

Ms V. R. Moodley
4 of 4 3 of 4

Physiotherapy, Podiatry and 
Biokinetics

Prof N. P. Taukobong
4 of 5

Radiography and Clinical 
Technology

Ms R. M. Kekana
2 of 3

Speech, Language and Hearing 
Professions

Prof S. Singh
3 of 3

COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVES Ms M. M. Isaacs 5 of 5 2 of 4
Mr K. P. Legodu 4 of 4
Mr M. D. Mhlanga
Mr R. L. Mjethu 1 of 3
Mr M. W. Mkhombo 4 of 5
Rev G. Moerane 2 of 3
Ms T. S. Mtshali 5 of 5
Mr D. N. Serenyane
Dr T. M. Sibeko

Higher Education South Africa Prof N. Gwele
Higher Education South Africa Prof K Mfenyana 2 of 4
Higher Education South Africa
Person from the South African 
Military Health Service

Vacant
Vacant

Person in the employment of the 
Department of Education

Dr. D. Parker
0 of 3

Person in the employment of the 
Department of Health 

Dr A.T. Lekalakala
2 of 5

Person Versed in Law Mr S. Ramasala 5 of 5 4 of 4
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In accordance with the relevant terms of reference, persons who are not members of Council 
have	been	co-opted	to	serve	on	the	Council	Committees.	

Attendance	of	the	co-opted	members	of	the	committees	was	as	follows:
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DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 4 3 5 2 3 4
Co-opted	to	Health	Committee Prof G Lindegger 5 of 5
Co-opted	to	Health	Committee Prof M Matoane 5 of 5
Co-opted	to	Health	Committee Prof S Rataemane 5 of 5
Co-opted	to	Health	Committee Prof D White 1 of 5
Co-opted	to	Human	Rights,	Ethics	and	Professional	
Practice Committee

Prof A Dhai
2 of 3

Co-opted	to	Human	Rights,	Ethics	and	Professional	
Practice Committee

Prof D McQuoid-Mason
1 of 3

External Member to Tender Committee Ms I. Nzotta 2 of 2
External Member to Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

Adv S. Gugwini-Peter
4 of 4

External Member to Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

Mr S. Ngwenya
3 of 4

External Member to Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (Chairperson)

Ms B. Shongwe
4 of 4

DHET Representtaive Ms E.L. Van Staden
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Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene Dr L Samuels 3 of 3
Emergency Care Mr M Botha 3 of 3
Environmental Health Practitioners Dr S Mukhola 1 of 3
Medical and Dental DR T Fish 2 of 3
Medical Technology Ms J Hind 3 of 3
Occupational Therapy, Medical Orthotics
/Prosthetics and Arts Therapy 

Prof L van Niekerk
1 of 3

Optometry and Optical Dispensing Ms P von Poser 3 of 3
Physiotherapy, Podiatry and Biokinetics  Dr E.C. Janse	Van	Vuuren 2 of 3
Psychology Prof G Pretorius 3 of 3
Radiography and Clinical Technology Mrs R Engelbrecht 3 of 3
Speech, Language and Hearing Dr E.C. De Koker 2 of 3
National Accreditors Forum Prof ME Parker 3 of 3
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

These	annual	financial	statements	were	prepared	by:	
Ms	M	de	Graaff

OMA Chartered Accountants Incorporated  
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)
Registered Auditors

These	annual	financial	statements	have	been	audited	in	
compliance with the applicable requirements of the Health 
Professions Act no 56 of 1974.

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Country of 
incorporation and 
domicile

South Africa

Nature of business and 
principal activities

Health Professions 
regulator

Council members Prof MS Mokgokong
Prof T Sodi
Mr LA Malotana
Dr	C	Vincent-Lambert	
Dr D Parker
Mr DN Serenyane
Prof	E	Wentzel-Viljoen
Rev G Moerane
Prof	GJ	van	Zyl	
Mr	J	Chaka
Mr KP Legodu
Mr S Ramasala
Mr MV Mkhombo 
Prof K Mfenyana
Ms VR Moodley 
Ms MM Isaacs
Prof N Gwele
Prof NP Taukobong 
Ms R Bridgemohan
Mr RL Mjethu 
Ms MR Kekana
Mr R Naidoo
Mr MD Mhlanga
Prof S Singh
Prof TA Ramukumba
Ms TS Mtshali
Prof UME Chikte
Dr LM Moja 
Ms L Dikweni
Ms V Amrit

Registered office 553 Madiba Street
Cnr Hamilton and Madiba 
Street Arcadia
0001

Postal address PO Box 205,
Pretoria 
0001

Bankers ABSA Bank Limited

Auditors OMA Chartered 
Accountants Incorporated 
Chartered Accountants 
(S.A.)
Registered Auditors

Secretary Ms Sadicka Taliep

Level of assurance These	annual	financial	
statements have been 
audited in compliance with 
the applicable requirements 
of the Health Professions 
Act no 56 of 1974.

Preparer The	annual	financial	
statements were internally 
compiled by: Ms M de 
Graaff

Issued 29 September 2015

GENERAL INFORMATION
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INDEX

The	 reports	 and	 statements	 set	 out	 below	 comprise	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements	 presented	 to	 the	Health	 Professions	
Council of South Africa:

Audit and Risk Committee Report 123

Councilors’ Responsibilities and Approval 126

Report of the Independent Auditor 127

Councilors’ Report 129

Statement of Financial Position 131

Statement of Comprehensive Income 132

Statement of Changes in Surplus 133

Statement of Cash Flows 134

Accounting Policies 135

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 140

The	following	supplementary	information	does	not	form	part	of	the	annual	financial	statements	and	is	unaudited:	
Detailed Income Statement 154

Published
29 September 2015
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

1. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The membership of the Audit and Risk committee of the Health Professions Council of South Africa comprise of the following 
independent	and	non-executive	members:

Name Office Designation

Ms B Shongwe Chairperson Independent

Mr D Serenyane Member Non-executive

Prof G van Zyl Member Non-executive

Dr LM Moja Member Non-executive

Adv	S	Gugwini-Peter Member Independent

Mr S Ngwenya Member Independent

The	committee	is	satisfied	that	the	members	thereof	have	the	required	knowledge	and	experience	as	set	out	in	principle	3.2	
paragraph 4.

The report of the Audit and Risk Committee is in terms of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974 as amended, section 13. 
The	Committee	has	 adopted	appropriate	 formal	 terms	of	 reference	which	have	been	 confirmed	by	Council	members,	 and	
has performed it’s responsibilities as set out in the terms of reference. In executing its duties during the reporting period, the 
Committee has done the following:

AUDIT

-	 	Monitored	the	effectiveness	of	the	scope,	plans,	budget,	coverage,	independence,	skills,	staffing,	overall	performance	and	
position of the internal audit and compliance functions within the organisation;

-	 Recommended	to	Council	the	appointment	of	the	internal	auditors;
-	 	Monitored	the	effectiveness	of	the	external	auditors	-	including	their	skills,	 independence,	audit	plan,	budget,	reporting,	

overall performance and approved external audit fees;
-	 Reviewed	audit	findings	and	management’s	action	plans;
-	 	Reviewed	whether	the	work	performed	by	internal	audit	and	by	external	audit	is	appropriate	and	ensured	that	no	significant	

gaps in audit assurance exist between internal and external audit;
-	 	Obtained	an	assessment	of	the	strengths	and	weaknesses	of	systems,	controls	and	other	factors	from	the	auditors	and	

management	which	might	be	relevant	to	the	accuracy	of	the	financial	statements;	and
-	 	Ensured	 that	 the	external	 auditors	 and	 internal	 auditors	had	direct	 access	 to	 either	 the	Audit	 and	Risk	Committee	or	

Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee.

FINANCIAL

-	 	Reviewed	 the	financial	 statements	and	 reporting	 for	proper	and	complete	disclosure	of	 timely,	 reliable	and	consistent	
information;

-	 	Evaluated	the	appropriateness,	adequacy	and	efficiency	of	the	accounting	policies	and	procedures,	compliance	with	overall	
accounting standards and any changes thereto;

-	 	Reviewed	the	annual	financial	statements	before	submission	to	Council	for	any	change	in	accounting	policies	and	practices,	
significant	 areas	 of	 judgement,	 significant	 audit	 adjustments,	 the	 internal	 control	 and	 going	 concern	 statements,	 the	

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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risk management report, the corporate governance report, compliance with accounting and disclosure standards, and 
compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements;

-	 	Reviewed	the	recommendations	of	the	external	auditor	and	those	of	any	regulatory	authority	for	significant	findings	and	
management’s proposed remedial actions;

-	 	Enquired	about	the	existence	and	substance	of	significant	accounting	accruals,	impairments	or	estimates	that	could	have	
a	material	impact	on	the	financial	statements;

-	 	Reviewed	 any	 pending	 litigation,	 contingencies,	 claims	 and	 assessments,	 and	 the	 presentation	 of	 such	matters	 in	 the	
financial	statements;

-	 	Considered	 qualitative	 judgements	 by	management	 on	 the	 acceptability	 and	 appropriateness	 of	 current	 or	 proposed	
accounting principles and disclosures; and

-	 	Obtained	an	analysis	from	management	and	the	auditors	of	significant	financial	reporting	issues	and	practices	in	a	timely	
manner.

GOVERNANCE

-	 Provided	a	channel	of	communication	between	Council	and	management	and	the	internal	and	external	auditors;	and
-	 	Received	regular	reporting	from	each	of	the	above	functions	and	monitored	that	issues	and	concerns	raised	were	resolved	

by management in a timely manner.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

The	Committee’s	assessment	is	that	the	overall	control	environment	of	Council	needs	improvements.	The	Committee	is	satisfied	
that	since	 the	previous	year	of	 reporting	significant	progress	has	been	made	 in	 improving	 the	 internal	control	environment	
to	 prevent,	 detect	 and	 report	 areas	 of	 non-compliance.	 Further	 significant	 reforms	 will	 be	 introduced	 during	 the	 financial	
year ending 31 March 2016 which includes stabilisation of the IT environment, closing of the accounting periods on time and 
performing	accounts	reconciliations,	alignment	of	financial	accounts	with	the	accrual	reporting	framework	and	timeous	payment	
of	suppliers.	Backlog	in	resolving	unapplied	cash	deposits	and	unidentified	cash	receipts	is	underway,	however,	amounts	are	
still	significantly	high.

Accordingly, the full disclosure requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974 as amended have been met during 
the	financial	year	under	review.	This	is	supported	by	the	findings	from	the	internal	auditors	as	well	as	the	external	auditors.	The	
effectiveness	of	the	aforementioned	measures	continues	to	be	in	a	constant	state	of	improvement.	The	Committee	has	resolved	
to ensure that the comprehensive implementation of and adherence to the internal control environment reforms be expedited.

The	Committee	is	satisified	that	the	annual	financial	statements	are	based	on	appropriate	accounting	policies,	and	supported	
by	reasonable	and	prudent	judgements	and	estimates.	The	Committee	evaluated	Council’s	annual	financial	statements	for	the	
year	ended	31	March	2015	and,	based	on	the	information	provided	therein,	believes	that	the	financial	statements	comply,	in	all	
material respects, with the relevant provisions of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974 and International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015



- 125 -

2. MEETINGS HELD BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee performs the duties laid upon it by King III, principle 3.5 by holding meetings with the key role players on a 
regular basis and by the unrestricted access granted to the external auditors.

The committee held 4 scheduled meetings during 2015:

Name Office
Meeting 1 
30/05/2014

Meeting 2 
18/09/2014 

Meeting 3 
13/11/2014 

Meeting 4 
10/03/2015 

Total 4 
of 4

Ms B Shongwe Chairperson P P P P 4 of 4

Adv	S	Gugwini-Peter Member P P P P 4 of 4

Mr S Ngwenya Member A/A P P P 3 of 4

Mr D Serenyane Member P P P P 4 of 4

Dr LM Moja Member P A/A A/A P 2 of 4

Prof G van Zyl Member A/A A/A A/A P 1 of 4

* A/A = Absent with apology
* P = Present
* A = Absent

3. DISCHARGE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	agrees	that	the	adoption	of	the	going-concern	premise	is	appropriate	in	preparing	the	annual	
financial	statements.	The	Committee	has	therefore	recommended	the	adoption	of	the	going	concern	premise.

The Committee in consultation with executive management, agreed to the terms of the internal and external audit engagements. 
The audit fee for the external audit has been considered and approved taking into consideration such factors as the timing of 
the audit, the extent of the work required and the scope.

4. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Following	the	review	of	the	annual	financial	statements	the	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	recommend	Council	approval	thereof.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee:

Ms B Shongwe
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee

Pretoria

29 September 2015
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SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015

COUNCILORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The Registrar is required in terms of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974 to maintain adequate accounting records and 
is	responsible	for	the	content	and	integrity	of	the	annual	financial	statements	and	related	financial	information	included	in	this	
report.	It	is	her	responsibility	to	ensure	that	the	annual	financial	statements	fairly	present	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	Council	as	
at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	and	the	results	of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	for	the	period	then	ended,	in	conformity	with	
International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 
annual	financial	statements.

The	annual	financial	statements	are	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	are	based	
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The	Registrar	acknowledges	 that	she	 is	ultimately	 responsible	 for	 the	system	of	 internal	financial	control	established	by	 the	
Council and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Registrar to meet these 
responsibilities,	 the	Council	sets	standards	 for	 internal	control	aimed	at	reducing	the	risk	of	error	or	 loss	 in	a	cost	effective	
manner.	The	standards	include	the	proper	delegation	of	responsibilities	within	a	clearly	defined	framework,	effective	accounting	
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the Council and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Council’s business is 
conducted in a manner that, in all reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Council 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Council. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the Council endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Registrar is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of internal 
control	provides	reasonable	assurance	that	the	financial	records	may	be	relied	on	for	the	preparation	of	the	annual	financial	
statements.	However,	any	system	of	internal	financial	control	can	provide	only	reasonable,	and	not	absolute,	assurance	against	
material misstatement or loss.

The	Registrar	has	reviewed	the	Council’s	cash	flow	forecast	for	the	year	to	31	March,	2016	and,	in	the	light	of	this	review	and	the	
current	financial	position,	she	is	satisfied	that	the	Council	has	or	has	access	to	adequate	resources	to	continue	in	operational	
existence for the foreseeable future.

The	annual	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	131	to	153	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis.

Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
HPCSA President
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SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF HEALTH PROFESSIONS COUNCIL 

OF SOUTH AFRICA

We	have	audited	 the	annual	financial	 statements	of	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa,	as	set	out	on	pages	131	 to	
153,	which	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	March,	2015,	and	the	statement	of	profit	or	 loss	and	other	
comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	surplus	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	the	notes,	
comprising	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.

COUNCILORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The	Councilors’s	are	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	annual	financial	statements	in	accordance	
with International Financial Reporting Standards and requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974, and for such 
internal	control	as	the	Councilors	determine	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	annual	financial	statements	that	are	free	
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	annual	financial	statements	based	on	our	audit.	We	conducted	our	audit	in	
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan	and	perform	the	audit	 to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	whether	the	annual	financial	statements	are	 free	 from	material	
misstatement.

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	annual	financial	
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement	of	the	annual	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	
considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	company`s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	annual	financial	statements	in	
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the	effectiveness	of	the	company`s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the	annual	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.
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SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015

OPINION

In	our	opinion,	the	annual	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of	Health	Professions	
Council	of	South	Africa	as	at	31	March,	2015,	and	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED

As	part	of	our	audit	of	the	annual	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	March,	2015,	we	have	read	the	Councilors’	Report	
for	the	purpose	of	identifying	whether	there	are	material	inconsistencies	between	that	report	and	the	audited	annual	financial	
statements.	The	reports	are	the	responsibility	of	the	preparers.	Based	on	reading	these	reports	we	have	not	identified	material	
inconsistencies	between	these	and	the	audited	annual	financial	statements.	However,	we	have	not	audited	the	reports	and	
accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

OMA Chartered Accountants Incorporated Partner’s name
Per: Osman Moosa CA (S.A)
Pretoria
Registered Auditors

29 September 2015
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COUNCILORS’ REPORT

The	Council	Members	have	pleasure	in	submitting	their	report	on	the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	Health	Professions	
Council of South Africa for the year ended 31 March 2015.

1. MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

The	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa	is	a	non	profit-making	statutory	body	governed	by	the	Health	Professions	Act	no	
56 of 1974. The objectives of the Council (as contained in the Act) may be summarised as follows:

(a) To promote the health of the population;
(b) Determine standards of professional education and training; and
(c) Set and maintain excellent standards of ethical and professional practice.

The	operating	results	and	state	of	affairs	of	the	Council	are	fully	set	out	in	the	attached	annual	financial	statements.	There	have	
been no material changes to the nature of the Council’s business from the prior year.

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	the	
requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974. The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to 
the prior year.

3. COUNCIL MEMBERS

The	Council	Members	in	office	at	the	date	of	this	report	are	as	follows:

Council members Office Designation Changes
Prof MS Mokgokong President Non-executive

Prof T Sodi Vice President Non-executive

Mr LA Malotana Non-executive

Dr	C	Vincent-Lambert,	Dr	D	Parker Non-executive

Mr	DN	Serenyane,	Prof	E	Wentzel-	Viljoen Non-executive

Rev	G	Moerane,Prof	GJ	van	Zyl Non-executive

Mr	J	Chaka,	Mr	KP	Legodu Non-executive

Mr S Ramasala, Mr MV Mkhombo Non-executive

Prof K Mfenyana, Ms VR Moodley Non-executive

Ms MM Isaacs, Mr MD Mhlanga Non-executive

Prof N Gwele, Prof NP Taukobong Non-executive

Ms R Bridgemohan, Mr RL Mjethu Non-executive

Ms MR Kekana,Mr R Naidoo Non-executive

Prof S Singh, Ms V Amrit Non-executive

Prof TA Ramukumba, Ms TS Mtshali Non-executive

Prof UME Chikte, Dr LM Moja Non-executive

Ms L Dikweni Non-executive Appointed 14 May, 2014

Dr AT Lekalakala Non-executive Resigned	1	June,	2015
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4. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Council Members are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this 
report.

5. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

OMA	Chartered	Accountants	Incorporated	continued	in	office	as	auditors	for	the	Council	for	2015.

6. SECRETARY

The company secretary is Ms Sadicka Taliep.

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015



- 131 -

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 Restated 2014

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 14,332,228 12,715,307

Intangible assets 4 2,297,316 1

Other	financial	assets 5 1,257,525 923,287

17,887,069 13,638,595

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 6 10,889,213 12,122,868

Cash and cash equivalents 7 350,855,337 339,949,524

361,744,550 352,072,392

Total Assets 379,631,619 365,710,987

Surplus and Liabilities

Surplus
Reserves 1,014,659 680,421

Retained surplus 168,991,131 163,451,046

170,005,790 164,131,467

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 11,904,932 15,712,426

Income received in advance 8 175,303,716 157,760,705

Provisions 9 22,417,181 28,106,389

209,625,829 201,579,520

Total Surplus and Liabilities 379,631,619 365,710,987
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 Restated 2014

Revenue 11 175,724,260 171,727,260

Other income 11,975,668 5,383,833

Operating expenses (200,642,916) (176,580,588)

Operating surplus / (deficit) 12 (12,942,988) 530,505

Investment revenue 13 18,483,073 14,877,361

Surplus for the year 5,540,085 15,407,866

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale	financial	assets	adjustments 334,238 166,237

Other comprehensive income for the year 17 334,238 166,237

Total comprehensive surplus for the year 5,874,323 15,574,103
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SURPLUS

Figures in Rand

Fair value 
adjustment 

assets- 
available-for- 
sale reserve

Retained 
surplus Total surplus

Opening balance as previously reported 
Adjustments

514,184 175,674,002 176,188,186

Prior	period	error	-	Current	year - (26,453,334) (26,453,334)

Prior	period	error	-	Previous	year - (1,177,488) (1,177,488)

Balance at 1 April, 2013 as restated 514,184 148,043,180 148,557,364

Surplus for the year - 15,407,866 15,407,866

Other comprehensive income 166,237 - 166,237

Total comprehensive surplus for the year as restated 166,237 15,407,866 15,574,103

Balance at 1 April, 2014 as restated 680,421 163,451,046 164,131,467

Surplus for the year - 5,540,085 5,540,085

Other comprehensive income 334,238 - 334,238

Total comprehensive surplus for the year 334,238 5,540,085 5,874,323

Balance at 31 March, 2015 1,014,659 168,991,131 170,005,790

Note(s) 17 21
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 Restated 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 206,483,618 180,401,828

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (210,777,589) (164,508,429)

Cash generated from (used in) operations 18 (4,293,971) 15,893,399

Interest income 18,457,543 14,849,875

Dividends received 25,531 27,486

Net cash from operating activities 14,189,103 30,770,760

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3,283,291) (1,082,229)

Total cash movement for the year 10,905,812 29,688,531

Cash at the beginning of the year 339,949,524 310,260,992

Total cash at end of the year 7 350,855,336 339,949,523
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

The	 annual	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974. The annual 
financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 on	 the	 historical	
cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies 
set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period unless otherwise stated.

1.1  Significant judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty

In	 preparing	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements,	 management	
is	 required	 to	make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions	 that	 affect	
the	amounts	represented	in	the	annual	financial	statements	
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates.	Actual	results	in	the	future	could	differ	from	these	
estimates	 which	 may	 be	 material	 to	 the	 annual	 financial	
statements.

Trade receivables, Held to maturity investments and 
Loans and receivables

The Council assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity 
investments and loans and receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether 
an	impairment	 loss	should	be	recorded	in	profit	or	 loss,	the	
Council makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash	flows	from	a	financial	asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Council follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine 
when	 an	 available-for-sale	 financial	 asset	 is	 impaired.	 This	
determination	 requires	 significant	 judgment.	 In	 making	 this	
judgment, the Council evaluates, among other factors, the 
duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is	less	than	its	cost;	and	the	financial	health	of	and	near-term	
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as 
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational	and	financing	cash	flow.

Fair value estimation

The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	traded	in	active	markets	
(such	 as	 trading	 and	 available-for-sale	 securities)	 is	 based	
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. 
The	quoted	market	price	used	for	financial	assets	held	by	the	
council is the current bid price.

Impairment testing

The	 recoverable	 amounts	 of	 cash-generating	 units	 and	
individual assets have been determined based on the 
higher	of	value-	 in-use	calculations	and	fair	values	less	costs	
to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions.

The Council reviews and tests the carrying value of assets 
when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped 
at	the	lowest	level	for	which	identifiable	cash	flows	are	largely	
independent	 of	 cash	 flows	 of	 other	 assets	 and	 liabilities.	 If	
there are indications that impairment may have occurred, 
estimates	are	prepared	of	expected	future	cash	flows	for	each	
group	of	assets.	Expected	future	cash	flows	used	to	determine	
the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and 
could materially change over time.

Provisions

Management determined an estimate of provisions for 
disciplinary matters, MDB reserves, accrued leave, bonus 
savings and employee labour cases based on the information 
available. Additional disclosures of these estimates of 
provisions	are	included	in	note	9	-	Provisions.

Property, plant and equipment

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If 
the	expectations	differ	from	previous	estimates,	the	change	is	
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the 
company holds for its own use or for rental to others and 
which are expected to be used for more than one year.

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015



- 136 -

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
	•	 	it	 is	probable	 that	 future	economic	benefits	associated	

with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	Council,	and
 • the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost 
except for the Presidential Badge which is recorded at value. 
Assets acquired at a cost less than R1,000 are expensed 
during the year of purchase.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an 
item of property, plant and equipment. When parts of an item 
of	property,	plant	and	equipment	have	different	useful	 lives,	
they are accounted for as separate components of property, 
plant and equipment and depreciated accordingly.

Item
Depreciation 

method
Average useful 

life

Land Indefinite

Buildings Straight line 50 years

Furniture and 
fixtures

Straight line 10 years

Office	equipment	
and lifts

Straight line 5 years

IT equipment Straight line 3 years

Works of art Straight line 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If 
the	expectations	differ	from	previous	estimates,	the	change	is	
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The	depreciation	charge	for	each	period	is	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	 included	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is	 determined	 as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 net	 disposal	
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
only	 when	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 future	 economic	 benefits	
associated	 with	 items	 will	 flow	 to	 the	 Council	 and	 the	 cost	
of the item can be reliably measured. All other repairs and 
maintenance	cost	are	recognised	in	profit	and	loss	as	incurred.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•	 it	is	probable	that	the	expected	future	economic	benefits	

that	are	attributable	to	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	entity;	and
•  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible	assets	are	reviewed	every	period-end.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, 
on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item    Useful life
Computer software 12 years

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Classification

The	 Council	 classifies	 financial	 assets	 and	 financial	 liabilities	
into the following categories:
•	 Held-to-maturity	investment;
• Loans and receivables; and
•	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets.
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Classification	depends	on	the	purpose	for	which	the	financial	
instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial 
recognition.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except 
for surplus investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which	are	measured	at	cost	and	are	classified	as	available-for-
sale	financial	assets.

For	financial	instruments	which	are	not	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement 
of the instrument.
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Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised	 cost,	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 method,	 less	
accumulated impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity	 investments	 are	 subsequently	 measured	
at	 amortised	 cost,	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 method,	 less	
accumulated impairment losses.

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	subsequently	measured	
at fair value. This excludes surplus investments for which a fair 
value is not determinable, which are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in surplus until the asset is disposed of or determined to 
be	 impaired.	 Interest	 on	 available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	
calculated	using	the	effective	interest	method	is	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss	as	part	of	other	income.	Dividends	received	on	
available-for-sale	equity	 instruments	are	recognised	 in	profit	
or loss as part of other income when the Council’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured	 at	 amortised	 cost,	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	
method.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash	flows	from	the	 investments	have	expired	or	have	been	
transferred and the Council has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership.

The	 Council	 derecognises	 financial	 liabilities	 when,	 the	
Council’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
The	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable 
is	recognised	in	profit	and	loss.

Fair value determination

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current 
bid prices.

Impairment of financial assets

At	 each	 reporting	 date	 the	 Council	 assesses	 all	 financial	
assets,	other	than	those	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	to	
determine	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	
asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	has	been	impaired.

For	amounts	due	to	the	Council,	significant	financial	difficulties	
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

In	the	case	of	surplus	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale,	
a	significant	or	prolonged	decline	in	the	fair	value	of	the	security	
below its cost is considered an indicator of impairment. If any 
such	evidence	exists	for	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	the	
cumulative	 loss	 -	 measured	 as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	
acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment 
loss	on	that	financial	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss	-	is	removed	from	surplus	as	a	reclassification	adjustment	
to	other	 comprehensive	 income	and	 recognised	 in	profit	or	
loss.

Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the 
financial	asset’s	recoverable	amount	can	be	related	objectively	
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised.  
This is subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of 
the	financial	asset	at	the	date	that	the	impairment	is	reversed	
shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals	of	impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	
except	for	surplus	investments	classified	as	available-for-sale.

Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for 
available-for-sale	surplus	 investments	which	are	held	at	cost	
because fair value was not determinable.

Where	 financial	 assets	 are	 impaired	 through	 use	 of	 an	
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
profit	or	loss	within	operating	expenses.	When	such	assets	are	
written	off,	the	write	off	is	made	against	the	relevant	allowance	
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off	are	credited	against	operating	expenses.
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Financial instruments designated 
as available-for-sale

The Council follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine 
when	 an	 available-for-sale	 financial	 asset	 is	 impaired.	 This	
determination	requires	significant	 judgement.	 In	making	this	
judgement, the Council evaluates, among other factors, the 
duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is	less	than	its	costs;	and	the	financial	health	of	and	near-term	
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as 
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational	and	financing	cash	flow.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the	 effective	 interest	 rate	 method.	 Appropriate	 allowances	
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in 
profit	or	loss	when	there	is	objective	evidence	that	the	asset	
is	 impaired.	 Significant	 financial	 difficulties	 of	 the	 debtor,	
probability	 that	 the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more 
than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured 
as	the	difference	between	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	and	the	
present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	within	operating	expenses.	When	
a	 trade	 receivable	 is	 uncollectable,	 it	 is	 written	 off	 against	
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries	of	amounts	previously	written	off	are	recognised	in	
the	profit	and	loss.

Trade	 and	 other	 receivables	 are	 classified	 as	 loans	 and	
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are 
subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost,	using	the	effective	
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits,	and	other	short-term	highly	liquid	investments	that	
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 

subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value.	These	are	
initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.5 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

The Council assesses at each end of the reporting period 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the Council estimates the 
recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, 
the Council also:
	•	 	tests	 intangible	 assets	 with	 an	 indefinite	 useful	 life	 or	

intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment 
annually by comparing its carrying amount with its 
recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed 
during the annual period and at the same time every 
period.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
the	 individual	 asset,	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The	recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	or	a	cash-generating	unit	
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately	in	profit	or	loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill 
attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.
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A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill 
is	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss.	Any	reversal	of	an	
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

1.6 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:
 •  the Council has a present obligation as a result of a past 

event;
	•	 	it	 is	 probable	 that	 an	 outflow	 of	 resources	 embodying	

economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation;	and
 • a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it 
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation 
under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a 
provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.7 REVENUE

Revenue from membership fees, registration fees, 
examinations fees and penalties are recognised when all the 
following	conditions	have	been	satisfied:
 • the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
	•	 	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	

the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	Council;	and
 •  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 

transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of 
business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and 
value added tax.

Interest	 is	 recognised,	 in	 profit	 or	 loss,	 using	 the	 effective	
interest rate method.

Dividends	are	recognised,	in	profit	or	loss,	when	the	Council’s	
right to receive payment has been established.

Unidentified	credit	balances	which	are	older	than	one	year	and	
cannot be traced to the individual members are recognised as 
revenue.
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2.   NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1  STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April, 2015 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation:
Effective date: 

Years beginning on 
or after

Expected impact:

Amendments	to	IAS16	and	IAS	38	-	Acceptable	methods	and	depreciation 1	January,	2016 No impact

Amendments	 to	 IFRS	 11	 -	 Accounting	 for	 acquisitions	 of	 interest	 in	 joint	
ventures

1	January,	2016 No impact

IFRS	14	-	Regulatory	deferral	account 1	January,	2016 No material impact

IFRS	7	-	Financial	instruments:	Disclosure 1	January,	2016 No material impact

IAS	16	-	Property,	plant	and	equipment 1	January,	2016 No material impact

IFRS	15	-	Revenue	from	contracts	with	customers 1	January,	2017 No material impact

IFRS	9	-	Financial	instruments 1	January,	2018 No material impact
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3.   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2015 2014

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Land 3,545,008 - 3,545,008 3,545,008 - 3,545,008

Buildings 7,767,091 (1,912,815) 5,854,276 7,767,091 (1,757,474) 6,009,617

Furniture	and	fixtures 4,137,385 (2,993,623) 1,143,762 3,713,973 (2,766,133) 947,840

Office	equipment 7,531,436 (4,604,652) 2,926,784 5,204,885 (3,953,053) 1,251,832

IT equipment 10,597,902 (9,739,223) 858,679 10,092,153 (9,135,322) 956,831

Works of art 104,482 (100,764) 3,718 104,482 (100,304) 4,178

Presidential badge 1 - 1 1 - 1

Total 33,683,305 (19,351,077) 14,332,228 30,427,593 (17,712,286) 12,715,307

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2015

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 3,545,008 - - - 3,545,008

Buildings 6,009,617 - - (155,342) 5,854,275

Furniture	and	fixtures 947,840 423,413 - (227,491) 1,143,762

Office	equipment 1,251,832 2,327,720 (111) (652,655) 2,926,786

IT equipment 956,831 532,158 (6,917) (623,394) 858,678

Works of art 4,178 - - (460) 3,718

Presidential badge 1 - - - 1

12,715,307 3,283,291 (7,028) (1,659,342) 14,332,228

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 3,545,008 - - - 3,545,008

Buildings 6,164,959 - - (155,342) 6,009,617

Furniture	and	fixtures 1,025,756 139,996 - (217,912) 947,840

Office	equipment 1,304,277 382,193 - (434,638) 1,251,832

IT equipment 1,215,194 555,440 (6,751) (807,052) 956,831

Works of Art 592 4,600 - (1,014) 4,178

Presidential badge 1 - - - 1

13,255,787 1,082,229 (6,751) (1,615,958) 12,715,307

Compensation	received	for	losses	on	property,	plant	and	equipment	-	included	in	operating	profit.
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4.   INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2015 2014

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer 
software	-	Oracle 7,657,718 (5,360,402) 2,297,316 7,657,718 (7,657,717) 1

 

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015

Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment 
reversal Total

Computer	software	-	Oracle 1 (459,463) 2,756,778 2,297,316

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Opening 
balance Total

Computer	software	-	Oracle 1 1

The	HPCSA	made	a	decision	in	the	beginning	of	the	financial	year	2014-15	to	stabilise	and	to	continue	using	the	Oracle	system.	
Based on this decision HPCSA decided to partially reverse the 2013 impairment.

5.   OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated
Available-for-sale
Listed	Shares	-	15018	Sanlam	Shares

Free shares allocated to Council during Sanlam’s demutualisation process 1,257,525 923,287

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale 1,257,525 923,287
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

6.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 4,254,585 5,992,800

Advances to Council members, managers and employees 45,612 73,282

Prepayments 1,047,991 337,600

Deposits 75,180 75,180

VAT 5,465,845 5,611,199

African Medical Council of Association (AMCOA) - 32,807

10,889,213 12,122,868

7.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 2,500 2,500

Bank balances 112,921,783 40,733,359

Short-term	deposits 237,931,054 299,213,665

350,855,337 339,949,524

Cash and cash equivalents pledged as collateral
Guarantee	to	SA	Post	Office	Limited
No expiry date and no special conditions apply

1,000,000 1,000,000

Limited	Cession	of	ABSA	Bank	Ltd	fixed	deposit	for	R500,000	(2064961351)	
Limited	Cession	of	ABSA	Bank	Ltd	fixed	deposit	for	R1,500,000	(2064951992)

8.   INCOME RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Unapplied receipts 172,080,009 153,803,482

Unidentified	receipts 3,223,707 3,957,225

175,303,716 157,760,707
 

Unapplied receipts 

Represents receipts in advance from members for their next years membership fees. These receipts are allocated when bulk 
billing	is	done	in	the	next	financial	year.

Unidentified receipts

Represents	receipts	from	members	who	cannot	be	identified	at	this	stage.	These	members	normally	claim	these	receipts	when	
their fees remain unpaid and they receive reminders.

Included in this amount is also practitioners who paid, but are not yet registered. Receipts can only be applied once registration 
is complete.
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9.   PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2015

Opening
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total
Provision for employees labour cases 740,208 714,806 (740,208) 714,806

ERP license fees 8,122,602 - (8,122,602) -

Disciplinary	matters	-	Professional	boards 12,975,000 16,485,000 (12,975,000) 16,485,000

MDB reserves 655,000 305,000 (655,000) 305,000

Provisions for accrued leave 5,372,168 4,302,973 (5,108,070) 4,567,071

Provision for bonus savings 241,410 345,304 (241,410) 345,304

28,106,388 22,153,083 (27,842,290) 22,417,181

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Opening
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total
Provision for employees labour cases - 740,208 - 740,208

ERP license fees 7,000,000 1,122,602 - 8,122,602

Disciplinary	matters	-	Professional	boards 8,396,500 12,975,000 (8,396,500) 12,975,000

MDB reserves 1,730,000 655,000 (1,730,000) 655,000

Provisions for implementation of salary benchmarking 3,602,279 - (3,602,279) -

Provisions for accrued leave 4,345,499 5,372,168 (4,345,499) 5,372,168

Provisions for bonus savings 282,454 241,410 (282,454) 241,410

25,356,732 21,106,388 (18,356,732) 28,106,388

Provision for employee labour cases

Provision for employee labour cases relate to the dismissal cases which were taken to CCMA by former employees.

ERP License fees

A compliance audit was done by the software service provider, and the service provider indicated that Council does not comply 
with its licensing requirements. Management is disputing the audit methodology and amount of the license fees due.

Disciplinary matters - Professional boards

Provision for professional conduct expenses for legal cases that have commenced during the current year and which will be 
concluded in future years. Legal cases include preliminary and High Court cases.

MDB reserves

Provision for perverse incentive investigations and inspections for cases that have commenced during the current year and 
which will be concluded in future years.
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Provision for implementation of salary benchmarking

In terms of HR policies, salary benchmarking should be done every three years. The benchmarking results was due for 
implementation	on	1	April	 2012	and	was	 implemented	during	 the	financial	 year	2013/2014.	Benchmarking	was	paid	 as	 an	
allowance	and	provided	for	as	such	in	the	budget	-	implemented	as	part	of	salary	in	2015.

Provision for accrued leave

This provision represents the liability for the total amount of leave days due to permanent employee.

Provision for bonus savings

Provision	for	Bonus	Savings	payment	represents	the	amount	due	to	the	employees	who	elected	this	benefit	of	bonus	savings.	
The payment date of this bonus savings is 1 December 2015.

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

10.   TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 7,681,549 5,281,947

Other payables 519,422 516,365

Accruals and other payables 3,696,579 9,914,114

African Medical Council of Association (AMCOA) 7,382 -

11,904,932 15,712,426

11.   REVENUE

Annual	fees	-	Current	year 152,039,420 147,887,972

Unidentified	receipts	recognised 1,335,013 1,636,659

Registration fees 16,897,385 16,709,191

Annual	fees	-	Prior	year 2,847,092 3,436,930

Fees from penalties imposed 2,605,350 2,056,508

175,724,260 171,727,260

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015



- 146 -

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

12.   OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

Operating	surplus	/	(deficit)	for	the	year	is	stated	after	accounting	for	the	following:

Operating lease charges
Equipment
• Rental Machines 850,998 862,390

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 7,027 6,751

Amortisation on intangible assets 459,463 -

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1,659,342 1,615,958

Strategic projects 2,521,835 1,356,272

IT expenses 2,806,759 4,384,441

Postage 3,079,689 2,301,016

Public relations and promotions 3,132,262 3,752,072

Printing and stationery 3,191,525 4,005,055

Road Accident Fund expenses 3,868,381 1,746,733

Legal expenses 20,127,360 19,366,566

Council, professional board and committee meetings 41,874,610 34,166,188

Employee costs 104,509,982 91,465,473

13.   INVESTMENT REVENUE

Dividend revenue
Listed	financial	assets	-	Local 25,531 27,486

Interest revenue
Short term deposits 18,457,542 14,849,875

18,483,073 14,877,361

14.   TAXATION

No provision has been made for tax as the Council is exempt from normal tax.

15.   AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Fees 377,697 333,516
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

16.   OPERATING LEASE

Copier equipment - Contractual amounts
Year 1 - 780,081

Fixed	term	lease	agreements	for	36	months	with	the	option	to	extend	for	an	indefinite	period,	subject	to	the	right	of	either	party	
to terminate the agreement upon not less than 30 days written notice. The contract expired on the 28th February 2015 and it 
was	renewed	on	a	month-to-month	basis.

17.   OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Components of other comprehensive income - 2015

Gross Tax Net
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Available-for-sale	financial	assets	adjustments

Gains and losses arising during the year on Sanlam shares 334,238 - 334,238

Components of other comprehensive income - 2014

Gross Tax Net
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets adjustments
Gains and losses arising during the year on Sanlam shares 166,237 - 166,237

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

18.   CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated
Surplus for the year 5,540,085 15,407,866

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 2,118,805 1,615,958

Net	profit	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 7,027 6,751

Dividends received (25,531) (27,486)

Interest	received	-	investment (18,457,543) (14,849,875)

Movements in provisions (5,689,207) 2,749,657

Reversal of impairment (2,756,778) -

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables 1,233,654 (7,096,869)

Trade and other payables (3,807,494) 7,706,544

Income received in advance 17,543,011 10,380,853

(4,293,971) 15,893,399
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19.   RELATED PARTIES

RELATIONSHIPS

Registrar	and	CEO	-	Dr	B	Mjamba-Matshoba (Refer to note 20)
President	of	Council	-	Prof	MS	Mokgokong	 (Refer to note 20)
Council	members	-	30	council	members	 (Refer to Councilor’s report)
Association	of	Medical	Councils	of	Africa	(AMCOA)	-	HPCSA	is	a	member	of	AMCOA	and	manages	the	day-to-day	financial	affairs	
of AMCOA   (Refer to note 6 and 10)
Minister of Health and Department of Health  (Refer to Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974)

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Council/Professional Board member fees

Member fees 12,399,492 10,068,594

Preparation fees 2,454,822 2,151,699

Subsistence expenses 3,505,377 2,939,649

Other related party accounts receivable / (payable)

Amcoa loan account (7,382) 32,807

20.   COUNCILORS’ EMOLUMENTS

No	emoluments	were	paid	to	the	directors	or	any	individuals	holding	a	prescribed	office	during	the	year.

REGISTRAR 2015

Salaries

Pension 
fund and 

contribution
Medical aid 

contribution Total
Dr	B	Mjamba-Matshoba 2,250,773 115,698 31,848 2,398,319

Included in the salary for 2015 of the Registrar is the amounts of R 314, 754 for backpay and R 210, 655 for performance 
bonus.

REGISTRAR 2014

Salaries

Pension 
fund and 

contribution
Medical aid 

contribution Total
Dr	B	Mjamba-Matshoba 1,403,920 85,890 29,057 1,518,867
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PRESIDENT 2015

President’s 
allowance Total

Prof MS Mokgokong 77,032 77,032

PRESIDENT 2014

President’s 
allowance Total

Prof MS Mokgokong 75,129 75,129

21.   PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS

21.1 ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING: DUPLICATE REVENUE AND VAT PAID

In	the	financial	year	ending	31	March	2013,	journals	were	posted	to	recognise	revenue	for	previous	financial	years	on	the	accrual	
basis in line with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards. These journals were posted in the general 
ledger	 and	not	 through	 the	 accounts	 receivable	 sub-ledger,	 resulting	 in	 the	 general	 ledger	not	 reconciling	 to	 the	 accounts	
receivable	sub-ledger	for	the	financial	year	ending	31	March	2013.

Due to the way in which the system is setup, the transactions were automatically posted to revenue and VAT accounts in the 
subsequent	financial	years	resulting	in	a	duplication	of	revenue	and	VAT	paid.

The correction of the error(s) results in increases / (decreases) as follows:

Statement of Financial Position
Decrease in VAT output (3,815,558)

Decrease in unapplied receipts 30,268,892

Increase in retained earnings (26,453,334)

21.2 RECLASSIFICATION OF SUSPENSIONS

Suspensions	previously	disclosed	as	expenses	have	been	reclassified	to	revenue.	As	the	Council	cannot	institute	legal	action	
against	a	member	for	the	non-payment	of	the	annual	fees,	deducting	the	amount	of	the	annual	fee	for	members	who	have	been	
suspended	during	the	year	from	the	annual	fee	amount	received	will	be	a	more	accurate	reflection	of	the	annual	fees	for	the	
year.	The	effect	of	the	reclassification	is	as	follows:

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Decrease in annual fees (5,105,132) (6,845,579)

Decrease in expenses (5,105,132) (6,845,579)
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 22.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa’s	financial	instruments	consist	mainly	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	trade	and	
other receivables and trade and other payables. The investments and bank balances, receivables and payables approximate 
their fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments.

The fair values together with the carrying amounts have been determined by using available market information and are 
presented in the Statement of Financial Position as detailed below.

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated

Financial assets - at carrying value
Cash and cash equivalents 350,855,337 339,949,524

Trade and other receivables 10,889,213 12,122,868

Total 361,744,550 352,072,392

Financial liabilities - at carrying value
Trade and other payables 11,904,932 15,712,426

Income received in advance 175,303,716 157,760,705

Total 187,208,648 173,473,131

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial assets at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 350,855,337 339,949,524

Trade and other receivables 10,889,213 12,122,868

Total 361,744,550 352,072,392

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 11,904,932 15,712,426

Income received in advance 175,303,716 157,760,705

Total 187,208,648 173,473,131

The revenue and expenses that are included in the Statement of Financial 
Performance	are	detailed	below	per	category	of	financial	instrument:

Income from cash and cash equivalents
Investment income 18,457,542 14,849,875

Dividend received 25,531 27,486

Total 18,483,073 14,877,361
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23.   RISK MANAGEMENT

 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	following	financial	instruments,	approximate	their	fair	value	due	to	the	fact	that	these	instruments	
are:
 •  Cash and cash equivalent include bank balances and investments with commercial interest rates.
	•	 	Short	trade	and	other	receivables	-	due	to	the	short	term	nature	of	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa’s	receivables,	

amortised cost approximates its fair value.
	•	 	Trade	and	other	payables	-	are	subject	to	normal	trade	credit	terms	and	short	payment	cycles.	The	cost	of	other	payables	

approximates its fair value.

No	financial	instrument	is	carried	at	an	amount	in	excess	of	its	fair	value.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The	Health	Professions	Council	 of	 South	Africa	manages	 liquidity	 risk	 through	 the	 compilation	and	monitoring	of	 cash	flow	
forecasts as well as ensuring that there are adequate banking facilities.

The	maturity	profiles	of	the	financial	instruments	are	summarised	as	follows:

MATURITY PERIOD

2015
Financial Assets 0-12 Months 1-5 Years > 5 Years
Cash and cash equivalents 350,855,337 - -

Trade and other receivables 175,303,716 - -

526,159,053 - -

2015
Financial Liabilities 0-12 Months 1-5 Years > 5 Years
Trade and other payables 11,904,932 - -

Income received in advance 175,303,716 - -

187,208,648 - -
 

INTEREST RATE RISK 

The	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa	does	have	investments	which	is	interest-bearing	assets.	The	Council	is	however	
funded	through	different	income	streams	received	from	members.	Interest	rate	fluctuations	will	therefore	not	have	a	material	
impact	on	income	and	operating	cash	flows.

CREDIT RISK

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables.

At	31	March	2015,	the	Health	Professions	Council	of	South	Africa	did	not	consider	there	to	be	any	significant	concentration	of	
credit risk which had not been insured or adequately provided for.
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24.   UNAUTHORISED, IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Figures in Rand 2015 2014 restated
Irregular expenditure
Opening Balance 1,097,925 1,086,429

Meeting recordings - 11,496

Penalties and interest 3,547 -

Condonement - -

1,101,472 1,097,925

Supplier of Goods and Services

The supplier of meeting recordings and transcriptions was not on database of preferred suppliers.

Penalties and Interests

The penalties and interest incurred during the year under review was as a result of incorrect completion of a cheque drawn for 
SARS	to	pay	employees	“pay	as	you	earn”.	There	was	a	difference	between	the	amounts	in	words	and	in	numbers	on	the	cheque.

25.   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Matter regarding acting Chief Executive Officer (Mrs O’Reilly)

The	acting	Chief	Executive	Officer	was	suspended	with	effect	from	7	October	2011.

The	matter	went	to	the	CCMA	and	the	Council	was	ordered	to	reinstate	the	acting	Chief	Executive	Officer	in	the	position	of	Chief	
Operations	officer.

The CCMA Award was reviewed and set aside by the Labour Court. The Labour Court referred the matter back to the CCMA to 
be heard anew. HPCSA have received a notice that matter is set down for 18 September 2015 at the CCMA.

In the event that CCMA rules in the employee’s favour, a maximum award of 12 months compensation may be made, which will 
be equal to R1,505,212.

The	HPCSA	has	not	made	any	provisions	in	this	financial	year	and	will	continue	to	review	this	decision	on	an	on-going	basis.

Matter regarding Legal Advisor (Mr. Mosiane)

A former employee lodged complaint against Council with CCMA for unfair dismissal and he won the matter at CCMA.

The CCMA Award was reviewed and set aside by the Labour Court. The Labour Court referred the matter back to the CCMA to 
be heard anew.

The former employee has resuscitated the matter by following the Labour court ruling to remit matter back to CCMA.

In the event that CCMA rules in the employee’s favour, a maximum award of 12 months compensation may be made, which will 
be equal to R520,581.

The	HPCSA	has	not	made	any	provisions	in	this	financial	year	and	will	continue	to	review	this	decision	on	an	on-going	basis.
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Matter regarding GM: Professional Boards (Dr Mbhele)

The	employee	has	referred	matter	to	CCMA	following	an	unsuccessful	appeal	to	MANCO.	The	first	hearing	was	on	21	August	
2015	and	Commissioner	agreed	to	postpone	matter	for	re-	enrolment	after	30	September	2015.

In the event that CCMA rules in employee’s favour, a maximum award of 12 months compensation may be made, which will be 
equal to R1,381,812.

The	HPCSA	has	not	made	any	provisions	in	this	financial	year	and	will	continue	to	review	this	decision	on	an	on-going	basis.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Mr RP McMahon

Mr	McMahon	has	 instituted	an	action	against	Council	 in	the	KwaZulu-Natal	High	Court,	Pietermaritzburg,	 in	which	he	claims	
payment of the sum of R11 million plus interest and costs.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Ms CJ Grobler

The practitioner experienced slow reaction of the Council to complaints against Dr Gordon. She is claiming damages estimated 
R768,000.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Dr JF Scholtz

A claim has been lodged against the Council of the HPCSA due to incorrect registration status provided on behalf of a registered 
practitioner resulting in the loss of employment opportunity of the registered practitioner. The practitioner is claiming payment 
of the sum of R 50 million.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014 Restated

Revenue
Annual	fees	-	Before	suspensions 157,144,552 154,733,548

Less suspension of membership (5,105,132) (6,845,576)

Annual	fees	-	Current	year 152,039,420 147,887,972

Annual	fees	-	Prior	year 2,847,092 3,436,930

Fees from penalties imposed 2,605,350 2,056,508

Registration fees 16,897,385 16,709,191

Unidentified	receipts	recognised 1,335,013 1,636,659

11 175,724,260 171,727,260
Other income
RAF management fees 22 2,060,747 1,944,101

Profit	on	sale	of	assets - 758

Rental income 22 157,361 38,650

RAF recovery 22 6,468,354 3,157,365

Sundry income 383,142 77,821

Advertisement income - 28,547

Register sales 115,492 123,821

Tender fees 15,229 12,770

Insurance compensation 18,564 -

Impairment	reversal	-	Intangible	assets 4 2,756,779 -

Dividends received 13 25,531 27,486

Interest received 13 18,457,542 14,849,875

30,458,741 20,261,194

Expenses (Refer to page 155) (200,642,916) (176,580,588)
Surplus for the year 5,540,085 15,407,866

* The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014 Restated
Operating expenses
Air conditioning expenses 168,035 172,703

Auditors remuneration 15 377,697 333,516

Increase/(decrease) in provision for bad debts 407,490 43,648

Bank charges 1,723,230 2,732,277

Cash shortages - 500

Cleaning 590,596 513,747

Consulting and professional fees 915,022 672,985

Council, professional board and committee meetings 41,874,610 34,166,188

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 2,118,805 1,615,958

Employee costs 104,509,982 91,465,473

Equipment and furniture less than R1000 20,256 36,720

IT expenses 2,806,759 4,384,441

Insurance 402,358 510,399

Internal audit fees 913,461 558,287

International conference 1,680,851 1,261,060

Lease rentals on operating lease 850,998 862,390

Legal expenses 20,127,360 19,366,566

Library costs - 46,496

Loss on sale of assets 7,027 6,751

Municipal expenses 1,819,714 1,629,860

Postage 3,079,689 2,301,016

Printing and stationery 3,191,525 4,005,055

Public relations and promotions 3,132,262 3,752,072

RAF expenses 22 3,868,381 1,746,733

Repairs and maintenance 1,139,968 1,111,454

Security 780,989 742,220

Settlement	labour	cases	-	Employees 494,776 -

Strategic projects 2,521,835 1,356,272

Subscriptions 163,612 187,610

Telephone and fax 883,735 940,486

Tender administrative costs 71,893 57,705

200,642,916 176,580,588

* The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited
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ROAD ACCIDENT FUND

The surplus recovered from our agreement with the Road Accident Fund can be reconciled as follows:

Cost incurred by the Health Professions Council of South Africa 6,335,564 3,561,192
Employee costs 2,271,593 1,606,699

Road Accident Fund legal, tribunal expenditure and disbursements 3,877,984 1,746,733

Health Professions Council of South Africa overheads 185,987 207,760

Amounts received from Road Accident Fund 8,686,462 5,140,116
Amounts invoiced to Road Accident Fund in respect of costs incurred 6,468,354 3,157,365

Management accounts 2,060,747 1,944,101

Rental income 157,361 38,650

Surplus 2,350,898 1,578,924

* The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited

SECTION 6: ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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